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Plaintiffs, by their undersigned attorneys, on behalf of themselves and the class they seek to 

represent, for their Third Class Action Complaint for Violations of the Federal Securities Laws (the 

“Complaint”), allege the following upon knowledge as to their own acts and upon the investigation 

of counsel, which investigation included the examination and analysis of information obtained from 

public and proprietary sources – including, inter alia, United States Securities and Exchange 

Commission (“SEC”) filings, the sworn allegations in Lisa Pavelka McAlister v. American Realty 

Capital Properties, Inc., et al., Index No. 162499/2014 (Sup. Ct. N.Y. Cnty.), other court filings 

related to American Realty Capital Properties, Inc. (“ARCP” or the “Company”), public reports, 

releases, investor presentations, published interviews, news articles and other media reports, 

interviews with former employees of the Company and reports of securities analysts and investor 

advisory services.  Plaintiffs believe that substantial additional evidentiary support will exist for the 

allegations set forth herein after a reasonable opportunity for discovery.  Pursuant to the Court’s 

September 8, 2016 Order (Dkt. No. 299), defendants’ previously-filed Answers to the Second 

Amended Complaint shall be considered applicable to the Third Amended Complaint, without need 

for additional filings. 

SUMMARY OF CLAIMS 

1. This securities class action is brought on behalf of those who purchased or otherwise 

acquired ARCP securities, including ARCP common stock, preferred stock and debt securities, as 

well as those who traded in option contracts on ARCP stock between September 7, 2011 and 

October 29, 2014 (the “Class” and the “Class Period”), seeking to pursue remedies under §§11 and 

15 of the Securities Act of 1933 (“1933 Act” or “Securities Act”), and §§10(b) and 20(a) of the 

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“1934 Act” or “Exchange Act”) and Rule 10b-5 promulgated 

thereunder (17 C.F.R. §240.10b-5). 
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. The claims asserted herein arise under and pursuant to §§11 and 15 of the Securities 

Act [15 U.S.C. §§77k and 77o], and §§10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§78j(b) and 

78t(a)], and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder [17 C.F.R. §240.10b-5]. 

3. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to §22 of the Securities Act [15 

U.S.C. §77v], §27 of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §78aa] and 28 U.S.C. §1331. 

4. Venue is properly laid in this District pursuant to §22 of the Securities Act, §27 of the 

Exchange Act, and 28 U.S.C. §1391(b) and (c).  The acts and conduct complained of herein occurred 

in substantial part in this District. 

5. In connection with the acts and conduct alleged in this Complaint, defendants, 

directly or indirectly, used the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce, including the 

mails and telephonic communications and the facilities of the NASDAQ stock market (the 

“NASDAQ”). 

PARTIES 

Plaintiffs 

6. Lead Plaintiff is Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association of America (“TIAA”), 

College Retirement Equities Fund (“CREF”), TIAA-CREF Equity Index Fund, TIAA-CREF Real 

Estate Securities Fund, TIAA-CREF Large Cap Value Index Fund, TIAA-CREF Small Cap Blend 

Index Fund, TIAA-CREF Life Real Estate Securities Fund, TIAA-CREF Life Equity Index Fund 

and TIAA-CREF Bond Index Fund (collectively, “TIAA-CREF”).  TIAA was founded in 1918 and 

is a joint stock life insurance company incorporated in New York with its principal place of business 

in New York.  TIAA offers traditional annuities, as well as variable annuities that invest, among 

other things, in real estate and in mutual funds that invest in equities and fixed income investments.  
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CREF, a companion organization to TIAA, is a not-for-profit membership corporation incorporated 

in New York with its principal place of business in New York.  Together, TIAA and CREF 

constitute a Fortune 100 financial services organization that forms the principal retirement system 

for the nation’s education and research communities and one of the largest retirement systems in the 

world based on assets under management.  As of October 31, 2014, TIAA-CREF served over five 

million individuals overall (with more than 3.7 million clients in institutional retirement plans) and 

managed in excess of $500 billion in assets.  As set forth in TIAA-CREF’s certification attached 

hereto and incorporated herein, TIAA-CREF purchased and/or acquired ARCP securities during the 

Class Period, including ARCP common stock and debt securities, and was damaged thereby. 

7. Plaintiff Sheet Metal Workers’ National Pension Fund (“National Pension Fund”), 

with assets of nearly $4 billion, is a defined benefit pension fund organized to provide retirement 

benefits to sheet metal workers and their families.  As set forth in National Pension Fund’s 

certification attached hereto and incorporated herein, National Pension Fund purchased and/or 

acquired ARCP securities during the Class Period, including ARCP debt securities and ARCP 

common stock issued in the May 21, 2014 offering and via exchange in the Cole Merger (defined 

below in ¶232), and was damaged thereby. 

8. Plaintiff Union Asset Management Holding AG (“Union”) is an investment company 

based in Germany that manages assets of approximately $279 billion.  As set forth in Union’s 

certification attached hereto and incorporated herein, Union’s funds purchased and/or acquired 

ARCP debt securities during the Class Period and were damaged thereby. 

9. Plaintiff KBC Asset Management NV (“KBC”) is an investment company based in 

Belgium that manages assets of approximately $212 billion.  As set forth in KBC’s certification 

attached hereto and incorporated herein, KBC’s funds purchased and/or acquired ARCP securities, 

Case 1:15-mc-00040-AKH   Document 312   Filed 09/30/16   Page 6 of 240



 

- 4 - 
1186483_1 

including ARCP common stock issued via exchange in the Cole Merger, during the Class Period and 

were damaged thereby. 

10. Plaintiffs Corsair Select 100 L.P., Corsair Select Master Fund, Ltd., Corsair Capital 

Partners L.P., Corsair Select L.P., Corsair Capital Partners 100 L.P., and Corsair Capital Investors, 

Ltd. (collectively “Corsair”) are private investment funds that operate under the common 

management of Corsair Capital Management, L.P., which makes decisions for the Corsair funds.  As 

set forth in its certification attached hereto and incorporated herein, Corsair purchased and/or 

acquired ARCP securities during the Class Period, including ARCP common stock issued via 

exchange in the Cole Merger and in the May 21, 2014 offering, and was damaged thereby. 

11. Plaintiffs the New York City Employees’ Retirement System, the New York City 

Police Pension Fund, the New York City Police Officers’ Variable Supplements Fund, the Board of 

Education Retirement System of the City of New York, the Teachers’ Retirement System of the City 

of New York and the Teachers’ Retirement System of the City of New York Variable A, the New 

York City Fire Department Pension Fund, the New York City Fire Officers’ Variable Supplements 

Fund and the New York City Fire Fighters’ Variable Supplements Fund (collectively, the “NYC 

Funds”) are defined benefit pension funds organized to provide retirement benefits to New York 

City employees and their spouses.  As set forth in the certification attached hereto and incorporated 

herein, the NYC Funds purchased and/or acquired ARCP securities, including ARCP common stock 

and ARCP debt securities, and were damaged thereby. 

12. Plaintiff the City of Tampa General Employees Retirement Fund (“Tampa”) is a 

defined benefit pension fund organized to provide retirement benefits to City of Tampa employees 

and their spouses.  As set forth in its certification attached hereto and incorporated herein, Tampa 
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purchased and/or acquired ARCP securities during the Class Period, including ARCP common stock 

issued in the May 21, 2014 offering, and was damaged thereby. 

13. Plaintiff Paul Matten (“Matten”) purchased and/or acquired ARCP securities during 

the Class Period, including ARCP Series F Preferred stock issued in the ARCT IV Merger 

(described in ¶238) and option contracts on ARCP stock as set forth in his certification attached 

hereto and incorporated herein, and was damaged thereby. 

14. Plaintiff Simon Abadi (“Abadi”) purchased and/or acquired ARCP securities, 

including ARCP common stock issued in the Cole Merger and in the May 21, 2014 offering, during 

the Class Period, as set forth in his certification attached hereto and incorporated herein, and was 

damaged thereby. 

15. Plaintiffs Mitchell Ellis and Bonnie Ellis (collectively “Ellis”) purchased and/or 

acquired ARCP securities, including ARCP Series F Preferred stock issued in the ARCT IV Merger, 

during the Class Period, as set forth in their certifications attached hereto and incorporated herein, 

and were damaged thereby. 

16. Plaintiff Noah Bender (“Bender”) made transactions in ARCP securities and ARCP 

option contracts during the Class Period, as set forth in his certification attached hereto and 

incorporated herein, and was damaged thereby. 

17. Plaintiff IRA FBO John Esposito (“Esposito”) purchased ARCP common stock and 

acquired ARCP common stock and Series F Preferred stock via exchange of ARCT IV shares in the 

ARCT IV Merger, as set forth in its certification attached hereto and incorporated herein, and was 

damaged thereby. 
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Defendants 

Entity Defendants 
 

18. ARCP is a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Maryland, 

headquartered during the Class Period at 405 Park Avenue, 15th Floor, New York, New York 10022, 

and qualifies as a REIT for federal income tax purposes.  On July 28, 2015, ARCP changed its name 

to VEREIT, Inc.  ARCP’s common stock began trading on NASDAQ under the symbol “ARCP” on 

September 7, 2011.  On February 28, 2013, ARCP common stock was transferred to The NASDAQ 

Global Select Market, or the NASDAQ.  ARCP owns freestanding commercial real estate leased on 

a medium-term basis pursuant to what are colloquially referred to as “Triple Net Leases,” primarily 

to investment credit rated and other creditworthy tenants.  As of December 31, 2014, ARCP owned 

more than 4,100 commercial properties representing more than 108 million square feet.  

Substantially all of ARCP’s business is conducted through its operating partnership, ARC Properties 

Operating Partnership L.P., of which ARCP is the sole general partner. 

19. ARC Properties Operating Partnership L.P. (“ARC Properties”) is a subsidiary and 

the operating partnership of ARCP.  ARCP is ARC Properties’ sole general partner, an entity formed 

on January 13, 2011 to conduct the primary business of acquiring, owning and operating single-

tenant, freestanding commercial real estate properties.  ARC Properties is the entity through which 

substantially all of ARCP’s operations are conducted.  As of June 30, 2014, ARCP owned 97.3% of 

the common equity interest in ARC Properties, and several persons affiliated with ARCP as of 

June 30, 2014 were limited partners who owned an additional 1.7%.  According to ARCP’s financial 

statements, ARCP together with ARC Properties is known as the Company, rendering ARCP and 

ARC Properties indistinguishable.  ARC Properties is organized under the laws of the state of 
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Delaware and listed its address during the Class Period as 405 Park Avenue, 15th Floor, New York, 

New York 10022. 

20. AR Capital LLC (“AR Capital”) is a Delaware limited liability company that 

provided management and advisory services to ARCP and its affiliates.  AR Capital was directly or 

indirectly owned and/or controlled by Nicholas S. Schorsch, William M. Kahane, Peter M. Budko, 

Brian Block and Edward M. Weil during the Class Period.  AR Capital also owns ARC Properties 

Advisors LLC, which served as ARCP’s external manager during the Class Period.  AR Capital is 

located at 405 Park Avenue, 12th Floor, New York, New York 10022.  During the Class Period, 

Schorsch, Weil, Block and Budko held executive officer positions at AR Capital. 

21. ARC Properties Advisors LLC (“ARC Advisors”) is a Delaware limited liability 

company and was ARCP’s external manager during the Class Period until at least January 8, 2014 

and continued to provide the same services and control ARCP for no less than 60 days thereafter, 

with an option to extend that control for an even longer period.  ARC Advisors is directly or 

indirectly owned and/or controlled by Schorsch, Kahane, Budko, Block, and Weil.  ARC Advisors 

was a wholly-owned subsidiary of RCS Capital from the beginning of the Class Period until 

December 27, 2012.  Thereafter, ARC Advisors was a wholly-owned subsidiary of AR Capital.  

ARC Advisors had its principal office at 405 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10022.  During the Class 

Period, ARC Advisors and “its affiliates” received payments in excess of $900 million from ARCP, 

ARCT III and ARCT IV. 

22. Paragraph removed to conform to the Court’s September 8, 2016 Order (Dkt. 

No. 299). 

23. Paragraph removed to conform to the Court’s September 8, 2016 Order (Dkt. 

No. 299). 
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ARCP Management Defendants 

24. Nicholas S. Schorsch (“Schorsch”) founded ARCP in 2010, and served as its CEO 

and Chairman of its Board of Directors during the Class Period.  Effective October 1, 2014, 

Schorsch ceased serving as ARCP’s CEO, but remained Chairman until December 15, 2014, when 

he was forced to “step[] down” from ARCP’s Board of Directors.  During the Class Period, Schorsch 

also served as an officer and/or director at more than 40 ARCP-related entities.  Schorsch was the 

Chairman/CEO of ARC Advisors during the Class Period; the CEO/Chairman and a beneficial 

owner of RCS Capital (aka RCAP Holdings, Inc.); the CEO/Chairman and a beneficial owner of AR 

Capital; and the Chairman and a beneficial owner of RCAP from its formation in February 2013 

until the end of the Class Period.  Throughout the Class Period, Schorsch acted and/or made the 

statements detailed herein in his capacity as an officer, member, beneficial owner or director of 

ARCP, AR Capital, RCAP, RCS Capital, ARC Properties, ARC Advisors, ARCT III and ARCT IV, 

as well as the other entities in which he held ownership, executive and/or director positions.  

Schorsch signed every 10-K, 10-Q and offering document ARCP filed with the SEC during the Class 

Period. 

25. David S. Kay (“Kay”) served as ARCP’s President from December 2013 until 

October 1, 2014, when he replaced Schorsch as the Company’s CEO and also joined the Company’s 

Board of Directors.  On December 15, 2014, ARCP announced that Kay had “stepped down” as the 

Company’s CEO, as well as from its Board of Directors.  Kay signed ARCP’s 2013 Form 10-K and 

the Cole Merger Registration Statement.  Between December 2013 and the end of the Class Period, 

Kay acted and/or made the statements detailed herein in his capacity as an officer and director of 

ARCP. 
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26. Brian S. Block (“Block”) served as ARCP’s CFO and Executive Vice President from 

its formation in December 2010 and was appointed as its Treasurer and Secretary effective 

December 2013.  On October 28, 2014, Block abruptly “resigned” from the Company after being 

asked to do so.  Block was AR Capital’s Executive Vice President and CFO during the Class Period, 

positions he held as well with a number of publicly registered, non-traded direct investments 

sponsored by AR Capital and/or controlled by Schorsch.  Block also served as the CFO and 

Executive Vice President of ARC Advisors from November 2010 until at least January 2014.  Block 

was the CFO and Executive Vice President and a beneficial owner of RCS Capital (aka RCAP 

Holdings, Inc.) during the Class Period.  Block was also a director of RCAP from February 2013 

until July 2014.  Throughout the Class Period, Block acted and/or made the statements detailed 

herein in his capacity as an officer, member or director of each of ARCP, ARC Advisors, ARCT III, 

ARCT IV, AR Capital and RCAP.  Block signed every 10-K, 10-Q, and offering document ARCP 

filed with the SEC during the Class Period.  Block is a licensed Certified Public Accountant 

(“CPA”). 

27. Edward M. Weil (“Weil”) served as ARCP’s President, Treasurer and Secretary from 

its formation until January 2014.  Weil was a member of ARCP’s Board of Directors from March 

2012 through June 2014, when he “resigned” from the Board in an effort to “enhance corporate 

governance.”  Weil also served as President, COO, Treasurer, Secretary and Director of ARCT III 

and ARCT IV from their formation until their mergers with ARCP.  Weil is currently President, 

COO and a beneficial owner of AR Capital.  Weil was the Executive Vice President of ARC 

Advisors from November 2010 until at least January 2014.  He previously served as CEO of RCAP 

from its formation until November 2015, and currently remains a director of RCAP.  Prior to being 

appointed CEO of RCAP, Weil was RCAP’s President, Treasurer, Secretary and a Director.  Weil 
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was the Executive Vice President of RCS Capital (aka RCAP Holdings, Inc.) from its formation 

until February 2012 and was a beneficial owner of RCS Capital throughout the Class Period.  During 

the Class Period, Weil served and/or continues to serve as an officer and/or director at more than a 

dozen ARCP-related entities, including Business Development Corporation of America (Executive 

Vice President and Secretary).  Weil signed ARCP’s 2011 and 2012 Form 10-K; ARCP’s 2012 and 

2013 Shelf Registration Statements used for the July 2013 Offering, the December 2013 Offerings 

and the May 2014 Offering; the ARCT IV and the Cole Merger Registration Statements; and 

permitted the use of his name to solicit proxies for the ARCT III, ARCT IV and Cole Mergers.  

Throughout the Class Period, Weil took the actions and/or made the statements detailed herein in his 

capacity as an officer, member and director of ARCP, AR Capital, ARC Advisors, RCAP, ARCT III 

and ARCT IV. 

28. Peter M. Budko (“Budko”) was ARCP’s Executive Vice President and Chief 

Investment Officer from December 2010 until January 8, 2014.  During the Class Period, Budko 

served and/or continues to serve as an officer and/or director at numerous ARCP-related entities, 

including: AR Capital (CIO and Executive Vice President from December 2012 until the end of the 

Class Period and a beneficial owner of that entity); RCAP (Director from February 2013 until 

December 2014 and CIO/Executive Vice President from February 2013 until August 2015); ARC 

Advisors (CIO and Executive Vice President from November 2010 until at least January 2014); RCS 

Capital, aka RCAP Holdings (CIO/Executive Vice President from its formation; Budko is also a 

beneficial owner of that entity); and Business Development Corporation of America (President and 

CEO).  Budko signed the Registration Statements, which incorporated the false financial statements, 

for the ARCT IV and Cole Mergers and permitted ARCP to use his name to solicit proxies for those 

mergers.  Throughout the Class Period, Budko acted and/or made the statements detailed herein in 
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his capacity as an officer, member and/or director of ARCP, AR Capital, RCAP, ARC Advisors, 

ARCT III and ARCT IV, as well as the other ARCP-related entities in which he held ownership, 

executive and/or director positions.   

29. Brian D. Jones (“Jones”) was ARCP’s COO from February 2013 until November 

2013.  Since December 2013, Jones has been the CFO, Assistant Secretary and Manager of RCAP.  

Jones also has served as head of the investment banking division of Realty Capital Securities since 

February 2013.  Jones was a Senior Vice President, Managing Director and Head of Investment 

Banking at Realty Capital Securities from December 2010 until February 2012.  Jones then moved to 

ARCT in March 2012 as CFO and Treasurer until February 2013.  Jones signed ARCP’s 2013 Shelf 

Registration Statement used for the July 2013, December 2013 and May 2014 Offerings, as well as 

the registration statements for the ARCT IV and Cole Mergers.  Throughout the Class Period, Jones 

acted and/or made the statements detailed herein in his capacity as an officer, member and/or 

director of ARCP and RCAP, as well as the other ARCP-related entities listed above in which he 

held ownership, executive and/or director positions.  Jones is a licensed CPA. 

30. Lisa P. McAlister (“McAlister”) served as ARCP’s Senior Vice President and CAO 

from November 2013 through October 28, 2014, when she was fired.  McAlister signed ARCP’s 

2013 Form 10-K, Form 10-Q for the second quarter of 2014 and the registration statement for the 

September 2014 Senior Notes.  During the Class Period, McAlister acted and/or made the statements 

detailed herein in her capacity as an officer of ARCP.  McAlister is a licensed CPA. 

31. Lisa E. Beeson (“Beeson”) began serving as ARCP’s COO on November 4, 2013, 

and became President on October 1, 2014.  On December 15, 2014, Beeson “stepped down” as 

President and COO.  Beeson signed ARCP’s Form 10-K for 2013, as well as the registration 
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statements for the ARCT IV and Cole Mergers.  During the Class Period, Beeson acted and/or made 

the statements detailed herein in her capacity as an officer ARCP. 

ARCP Director Defendants 

32. William M. Kahane (“Kahane”) was a member of ARCP’s Board of Directors from 

ARCP’s formation until March 2012, and then again from February 2013 until June 24, 2014, when 

he resigned from the Board.  Between November 2010 and March 2012,  Kahane was the President, 

COO and a beneficial owner of ARC Advisors.  Kahane was also the co-founder of AR Capital.  

Kahane was a beneficial owner of, and served as the President and COO, of RCS Capital (aka RCAP 

Holdings).  From February 2013 until September 2014, Kahane served as the CEO of RCAP and 

served as a Director from its formation until December 2014.  During the Class Period, Kahane also 

served and/or continues to serve as an officer and/or director at more than a dozen ARCP-related 

entities.  Kahane signed the 2013 Shelf Registration Statement used for the July 2013 Offering, the 

December 2013 Offerings and the May 2014 Offering; the registration statements for the January 

2014 ARCT IV Merger and the February 2014 Cole Merger; and permitted use of his name to solicit 

proxies for the ARCT IV and Cole Mergers.  Throughout the Class Period, Kahane acted and/or 

made the statements detailed herein in his capacity as an officer, member and/or director of ARCP, 

RCAP, AR Capital and ARC Advisors, as well as the other ARCP-related entities in which he held 

ownership, executive and/or director positions. 

33. Leslie D. Michelson (“Michelson”) served as a member of ARCP’s Board of 

Directors, and sat on its Audit Committee, during the Class Period from October 2012 until April 1, 

2015.  During the Class Period, Michelson also served as a Director at American Realty Capital 

Healthcare Trust, Inc. and Business Development Corporation of America.  Michelson signed the 

2012 and 2013 Forms 10-K; ARCP’s 2013 Shelf Registration Statement used for the July 2013, 
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December 2013 and May 2014 Offerings; the registration statements for the ARCT IV and Cole 

Mergers; the registration statement for the September 2014 Senior Notes; and permitted the use of 

his name to solicit proxies for the ARCT III, ARCT IV and Cole Mergers.  Throughout the Class 

Period, Michelson acted and/or made the statements detailed herein in his capacity as an officer, 

member and/or director of ARCP, American Realty Capital Healthcare Trust, Inc. and Business 

Development Corporation of America. 

34. William G. Stanley (“Stanley”) was appointed as an ARCP Director in connection 

with the Company’s acquisition of ARCT IV in January 2014, and remained a Director, and member 

of the Audit committee, through the end of the Class Period.  Stanley served as the interim Chairman 

and CEO at ARCP between December 2014 and April 1, 2015, assuming those roles when 

Schorsch’s and Kay’s employment at ARCP was terminated.  Formerly, Stanley served as a Director 

of two REITs sponsored by AR Capital, as a Director of a non-traded business development 

company sponsored by AR Capital, and as a director of ARCT IV (appointed in January 2013).  

When Stanley became ARCP’s Chairman and CEO in December 2014, the Company announced that 

he had resigned, or was in the process of resigning, his positions with all entities related to Schorsch 

other than ARCP.  Stanley signed ARCP’s 2013 Form 10-K and the registration statement for the 

September 2014 Senior Notes.  Throughout the Class Period, Stanley acted and/or made the 

statements detailed herein in his capacity as an officer, member and/or director of ARCP and ARCT 

IV, as well as the other ARCP-related entities in which he held ownership, executive and/or director 

positions. 

35. Edward G. Rendell (“Rendell”) served as an ARCP Board member, and member of 

its Audit Committee, between July 2011 and October 2012 and again between February 2013 and 

the end of the Class Period.  During the Class Period, Rendell also served and/or continues to serve 
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as an officer and/or director at numerous related entities, including: ARCT III (Director); American 

Realty Capital Trust (Director); and American Realty Capital – Retail Centers of America, Inc. 

(Director).  Rendell signed ARCP’s 2011 and 2013 Form 10-K; ARCP’s 2013 Shelf Registration 

Statement used for the July 2013 Offering, the December 2013 Offerings and the May 2014 

Offering; registration statement for the September 2014 Senior Notes; and permitted the use of his 

name to solicit proxies for the ARCT III, ARCT IV and Cole Mergers.  During the Class Period, 

Rendell acted and/or made the statements detailed herein in his capacity as an officer, member 

and/or director of ARCP and ARCT III, as well as the other ARCP-related entities listed above at 

which he held ownership, executive and/or director positions. 

36. Scott J. Bowman (“Bowman”) served as an ARCP Board member, and sat on its 

Audit Committee, during the Class Period from February 2013 until September 9, 2014.  During the 

Class Period, Bowman served and/or continues to serve as an officer and/or director at numerous 

ARCP-related entities, including: ARCT III (Director), American Realty Capital Global Trust, Inc. 

(Director and CEO), and American Realty Capital Daily Net Asset Value Trust, Inc. (Director).  

Bowman signed ARCP’s 2013 Form 10-K; 2013 Shelf Registration Statement used for the July 2013 

Offering, the December 2013 Offerings and the May 2014 Offering; registration statements for the 

ARCT IV and Cole Mergers; registration statement for the September 2014 Senior Notes; and 

permitted the use of his name to solicit proxies for the ARCT III, ARCT IV, and Cole Merger.  

Throughout the Class Period, Bowman acted and/or made the statements detailed herein in his 

capacity as an officer, member and/or director of ARCP and ARCT III, as well as the other ARCP-

related entities in which he held ownership, executive and/or director positions. 

37. Thomas A. Andruskevich (“Andruskevich”) served as an ARCP Board member from 

the Company’s acquisition of Cole Inc. in February 2014 through the end of the Class Period.  
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Andruskevich previously served as a Director of Cole Inc. from October 2008 until Cole Inc.’s 

merger with ARCP in February 2014.  Andruskevich signed ARCP’s 2013 Form 10-K and the 

September 2014 Senior Notes.  During the Class Period, Andruskevich acted and/or made the 

statements detailed herein in his capacity as an officer, member and/or director of ARCP. 

38. Scott P. Sealy, Sr. (“Sealy”) was appointed as an ARCP Board member as a result of 

the Company’s acquisition of Cole Inc. in February 2014.  Sealy previously had served as a director 

of Cole Inc.  Sealy resigned from ARCP’s Board effective June 10, 2014.  Sealy signed ARCP’s 

2013 Form 10-K.  During the Class Period, Sealy acted and/or made the statements detailed herein in 

his capacity as an officer, member and/or director of ARCP. 

39. Bruce D. Frank (“Frank”) served as an ARCP Board member from July 8, 2014 

through the end of the Class Period, and served on the Board’s Audit Committee.  At the time that 

Frank joined the Board of Directors, ARCP announced that he was an “audit committee financial 

expert.”  Frank signed the registration statement for the September 2014 Senior Notes. 

Grant Thornton 

40. Grant Thornton (“GT”) is the U.S. member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd, 

an international firm that provides independent audit, tax and advisory services.  GT served as 

ARCP’s outside auditor throughout the Class Period until it was terminated by ARCP in June 2015.  

While serving as ARCP’s auditor, GT received millions of dollars in payments from ARCP and 

other Schorsch-related entities.  GT certified ARCP’s FY12 and FY13 financial statements, which 

were restated on March 2, 2015 due to material misstatements in ARCP’s financial statements filed 

with the SEC.  GT also consented to including its 2012 and/or 2013 clean, unqualified Audit Reports 

in the Registration Statements filed with the SEC in connection with the July 2013, December 2013, 
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and September 2014 debt registration; the May 2014 equity offering; and the Cole and ARCT IV 

mergers in January and February 2014, respectively. 

Underwriter Defendants 

July 2013 Offering 

41. J.P. Morgan Securities LLC (“JP Morgan”), Citigroup Global Markets Inc. 

(“Citigroup”), Barclays Capital Inc. (“Barclays”),  BMO Capital Markets Corp. (“BMO Capital”), 

and KeyBanc Capital Markets Inc. (“KeyBanc”) acted as Joint Book Running Managers, and JMP 

Securities LLC (“JMP Securities”), Ladenburg Thalmann & Co. Inc. (“Ladenburg”), and Realty 

Capital Securities, LLC (“RCS Securities”) acted as Co-Managers, of the July 24, 2013 underwriting 

of $300 million Senior Notes. 

42. The underwriter defendants listed above in ¶41 collectively acted as the underwriting 

syndicate and participated in the drafting and/or dissemination of the registration statement, as well 

as in the sale of those Senior Notes to plaintiffs and the Class, in connection with the July 2013 

offering.  The underwriter defendants listed above in ¶41 served as the underwriters of the July 2013 

offering and were responsible for ensuring the completeness and accuracy of the statements 

contained in, or incorporated by reference into, the registration statement used in connection with the 

July 2013 offering. The underwriter defendants listed above collectively received more than $8 

million in connection therewith. 

December 2013 Offerings 

43. Barclays, Citigroup, Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC (“Credit Suisse”),  Morgan 

Stanley & Co. LLC (“Morgan Stanley”), and Wells Fargo Securities, LLC (“Wells Fargo”) acted as 

Joint Book Running Managers, and Capital One Securities, Inc. (“Capital One”) and JMP Securities 

acted as Co-Managers, of the December 2013 offerings of $690 million of Convertible Senior Notes, 

Case 1:15-mc-00040-AKH   Document 312   Filed 09/30/16   Page 19 of 240



 

- 17 - 
1186483_1 

and participated in the drafting and/or dissemination of the registration statements, as well as the sale 

of those Senior Notes to plaintiffs and the Class. 

44. The underwriter defendants listed above in ¶43 served as the underwriters of the 

December 2013 offering and were responsible for ensuring the completeness and accuracy of the 

various statements contained in, or incorporated by reference into, the registration statements used in 

connection with the December 2013 offering, as they collectively acted as the underwriting 

syndicate that drafted and disseminated the offering documents in connection with the December 

2013 offering.  The Underwriter Defendants listed above were paid nearly $22 million in connection 

with the December 2013 offering. 

May 2014 Offering 

45. Merrill, Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc. (“Merrill Lynch”), Citigroup, Barclays, 

J.P. Morgan, Capital One, Credit Suisse, Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. (“Deutsche Bank”), Wells 

Fargo, Robert W. Baird & Co. (“Baird”), Ladenburg, BMO Capital, JMP Securities, Janney 

Montgomery Scott, LLC (“Janney”), Mizuho Securities USA Inc. (“Mizuho”), PNC Capital Markets 

LLC (“PNC Capital”), Piper Jaffray & Co. (“Piper Jaffray”), and RBS Securities Inc. (“RBS 

Securities”) acted as underwriters of the May 21, 2014 offering of 138 million shares of ARCP 

common stock, and participated in the drafting and/or dissemination of the registration statement, as 

well as in the sale of the common stock offered to plaintiffs and the Class. 

46. The underwriter defendants listed above in ¶45 served as the underwriters of the 

May 21, 2014 offering and were responsible for ensuring the completeness and accuracy of the 

various statements contained in, or incorporated by reference into, the registration statement used in 

connection with the May 2014 offering, as they collectively acted as the underwriting syndicate that 

drafted and disseminated the offering documents in connection with the May 2014 Offering.  The 
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Underwriter Defendants listed above were paid nearly $57 million in connection with the May 21, 

2014 offering.  The underwriters of this offering exercised the greenshoe over-allotment option, 

bringing the total number of shares sold in the May 21, 2014 offering to 138 million shares, and total 

gross proceeds to $1.656 billion. 
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1933 ACT CLAIMS 

47. During the Class Period, ARCP completed seven offerings of debt and equity 

securities.  In the offering materials for each of these offerings, ARCP incorporated by reference, 

inter alia: (i) certain GAAP financial statements previously filed with the SEC, including financial 

statements receiving unqualified Audit Reports from ARCP’s auditor, GT; and (ii) ARCP’s adjusted 

funds from operations, or “AFFO.” 

48. AFFO is a measure of operating performance that is critical to analysts and investors 

in valuing a REIT.  As the Company stated in its 2013 Amended Form 10-K, ARCP’s “[s]enior 

management considered AFFO to be an important metric used by analysts and investors in 

evaluating the Company’s performance.”  (All emphasis in quotations is added unless otherwise 

noted.)  AFFO is generally equal to a REIT’s funds from operations (“FFO”) with adjustments made 

for recurring capital expenditures used to maintain the quality of the REIT’s underlying assets.  

Thus, AFFO provides useful information for investors and analysts to assess the quality and 

sustainability of a REIT’s operating performance.   

49. The SEC filings in question also represented that ARCP’s internal controls were 

effective, and that any material changes to ARCP’s internal controls over financial reporting were 

disclosed. 

50. As alleged herein, the financial information incorporated by reference into the 

relevant offering materials, including the internal control-related representations and unqualified 

Audit Reports, contained untrue statements of material fact, or omitted to state material facts 

required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading. 
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ARCP’s Materially False and Misleading SEC Filings Were Incorporated 
by Reference into the Offering Materials 

51. At issue in this case are the Company’s financial statements for the years ended 

December 31, 2012 and 2013; the quarters ended March 31, 2013, June 30, 2013, and September 30, 

2013; and the quarters ended March 31, 2014 and June 30, 2014, as well as certain ARCP pro-forma 

financial statements and key financial measures (e.g., AFFO) issued by the Company during the 

Class Period, and defendants’ statements related thereto. 

52. ARCP violated GAAP standards and SEC rules because, as ARCP has admitted, the 

financial information contained in ARCP’s financial statements was not prepared in conformity with 

applicable GAAP and SEC requirements, nor was the financial information a fair presentation of the 

Company’s operations.  ARCP understated its operating expenses, as well as its operating and net 

losses, and misclassified expenses in order to give the false impression to investors that those 

expenses were non-recurring. 

2012 Form 10-K 

53. On February 28, 2013, ARCP filed with the SEC its Form 10-K for the period ended 

December 31, 2012 (the “2012 Form 10-K”).  The 2012 Form 10-K was prepared, reviewed and 

signed by Schorsch, Block, Weil and Michelson.  The 2012 Form 10-K set forth ARCP’s financial 

results, including AFFO, and stated that the financial statements were accurate and presented in 

accordance with GAAP.  The 2012 Form 10-K also represented that the Company’s internal controls 

were effective, and that any material changes to the Company’s internal controls over financial 

reporting were disclosed. 

54. The 2012 Form 10-K also included Schorsch’s and Block’s certifications pursuant to 

the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 (“SOX”), attesting that the financial information contained in the 
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filing was true, that the 2012 Form 10-K did not omit material facts and that the Company’s internal 

and disclosure controls were effective.  The certification stated: 

I, [Schorsch and Block], certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this . . . Report . . . of [ARCP]; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of 
a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the 
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements 
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial 
information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as 
of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing 
and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange 
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial 
reporting (as defined in Exchange Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the 
registrant and have: 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such 
disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the 
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to 
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in 
which this report is being prepared; 

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused 
such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles; 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and 
procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end 
of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control 
over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most 
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case 
of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably 
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likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over 
financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our 
most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the 
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of 
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or 
operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, 
process, summarize and report financial information; and 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or 
other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting. 

55. Likewise, the 2012 Form 10-K represented that: 

In accordance with Rules 13a-15(b) and 15d-15(b) of the Securities Exchange Act, as 
amended (the “Exchange Act”), we, under the supervision and with the participation 
of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, carried out an evaluation 
of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by 
this . . . [report] and determined that the disclosure controls and procedures are 
effective . . . . 

The 1Q, 2Q and 3Q Forms 10-Q for 2013 

56. ARCP filed with the SEC its Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2013 (the 

“1Q13 Form 10-Q”) on May 6, 2013; its Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2013 (the “2Q13 

Form 10-Q”) on August 6, 2013; and its Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2013 (the 

“3Q13 Form 10-Q”) on November 7, 2013.  The 2013 Forms 10-Q set forth ARCP’s financial 

results, including AFFO, and represented that the financial statements were accurate and presented in 

accordance with GAAP.  The 2013 Forms 10-Q also represented that the Company’s internal 

controls were effective and that any material changes to the Company’s internal controls that 

occurred during the financial reporting were disclosed therein.  The 2013 Forms 10-Q also included 
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Schorsch’s and Block’s certifications pursuant to SOX, identical in all material respects to the 

certification quoted in ¶¶54-55. 

2013 Form 10-K 

57. On February 27, 2014, ARCP filed with the SEC its Form 10-K for the period ended 

December 31, 2013 (the “2013 Form 10-K”).  The 2013 Form 10-K set forth ARCP’s financial 

results, including AFFO, and represented that the financial statements were accurate and presented in 

accordance with GAAP.  The 2013 Form 10-K also represented that the Company’s internal controls 

were effective and that any material changes to the Company’s internal controls over financial 

reporting were disclosed.  It also included Schorsch’s and Block’s certifications pursuant to SOX, 

identical in all material respects to the certification quoted in ¶¶54-55. 

The 1Q14 and 2Q14 Forms 10-Q 

58. ARCP filed with the SEC its Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2014 (the 

“1Q14 Form 10-Q”) on May 8, 2014 and its Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2014 (the 

“2Q14 Form 10-Q”) on July 29, 2014.  The 2014 Forms 10-Q set forth ARCP’s financial results, 

including AFFO, and represented that the financial statements were accurate and presented in 

accordance with GAAP.  The 2014 Forms 10-Q also represented that the Company’s internal 

controls were effective and that any material changes to the Company’s internal controls over 

financial reporting were disclosed.  The 1Q14 and 2Q14 Forms 10-Q included Schorsch’s and 

Block’s certifications pursuant to SOX, identical in all material respects to the certification quoted in 

¶¶54-55. 

Reasons Why the Financial and Internal Control-Related Information 
Incorporated into ARCP’s Offering Materials Were Materially False and Misleading 

59. On March 2, 2015, ARCP filed its restated financial results for FY 2012, FY 2013, 

1Q14 and 2Q14 (“Restatement”), admitting that the financial results reported in ARCP’s 2012, 2013 

Case 1:15-mc-00040-AKH   Document 312   Filed 09/30/16   Page 27 of 240



 

- 24 - 
1186483_1 

and interim 2014 SEC filings were false and misleading when issued because the financial 

information contained therein did not fairly or accurately portray ARCP’s financial performance 

during the relevant periods, in that ARCP omitted and/or misstated material facts.  The true facts 

were that: 

 ARCP regularly and improperly classified ordinary business expenses as “merger-
related,” which, in turn, inflated AFFO and gave investors the false impression that 
such expenses were not recurring in nature.  As restated, the expenses were 
reclassified as general and administrative expenses. 

 Numerous expenses were recorded in the incorrect accounting period.  This delayed 
expense recognition and understated reported expenses and net losses.  As restated, 
the expenses were recorded in the periods in which they were actually incurred. 

 On multiple occasions, ARCP improperly classified management fees paid to ARCP-
related entities as being merger and other non-routine transaction-related. This 
masked related-party transactions, inflated AFFO, and gave investors the false 
impression that such expenses were not recurring in nature.  As restated, the 
expenses were reclassified as management fees to affiliates. 

 On multiple occasions, ARCP recorded payments made to Schorsch-controlled 
entities as being for the purchase of furniture and equipment, when in fact there was 
“no evidence of the receipt” to substantiate the existence of any such furniture or 
equipment.  This overstated assets and understated expenses and net losses.  ARCP 
restated the payments by writing off the amounts. 

 On multiple occasions, ARCP failed to record expenses for stock awards granted to 
directors.  This understated expenses and net losses.  As restated, these expenses 
were recognized and recorded. 

 ARCP failed to record expenses to recognize impairment of its properties.  This 
understated expenses and losses and inflated AFFO.  As restated, these expenses 
were recognized and recorded. 

60. ARCP’s misstatements during the Class Period caused operating loss to be 

understated by as much as 15%, and net loss attributable to stockholders to be understated by as 

much as 26%.  Additionally, ARCP’s cash flow was understated by 27.2% and 13.6% in 1Q13 and 

1Q14, respectively. 
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61. These material misstatements, along with other accounting manipulations, also caused 

the Company’s AFFO to be materially overstated throughout the Class Period, as depicted in the 

chart below: 

 
 

62. The SEC filings listed in ¶¶53-58, above, were also false and misleading in that the 

internal control-related information set forth therein, including the SOX certifications signed by 

Schorsch and Block, omitted and/or misstated material facts.  The true facts were that ARCP had 

inadequate and deficient internal controls that permitted the misstatement of ARCP’s financial 

results and reported AFFO.  Among these deficiencies were (i) a lack of controls that would have 

prevented senior management from changing ARCP’s financial statements without a proper basis, 

review and approval; and (ii) a lack of control over AFFO formulation and the evaluation of ARCP’s 

ability to meet AFFO guidance. 

GT’s False and Misleading Statements 

GT’S Certification of ARCP’s False and Misleading Financial Statements 

63. Section 11 of the 1933 Act explicitly extends liability to auditors, like GT, who 

certified ARCP’s false and misleading statements contained in the Registration Statements.  GT, 

ARCP’s auditors throughout the Class Period, certified ARCP’s financial statements for the years 

ended December 31, 2012 and 2013.1  ARCP admitted that its financial statements were materially 

false: ARCP restated both its FY 2012 and FY 2013 financial statements on March 2, 2015 because 

                                                 
1 GT issued its 2012 Audit Report on February 28, 2013, issued its 2013 Audit Report on February 
27, 2014, and reissued and recertified its 2013 Audit Report on May 20, 2014. 

FY11 FY12 1Q13 2Q13 3Q13 4Q13 FY13 1Q14 2Q14

AFFO per share - Reported 0.60$  0.47$  0.20$  0.19$  0.30$  0.38$  1.07$  0.26$  0.24$  

AFFO per share - Restated 0.56$  0.46$  0.10$  0.18$  0.28$  0.29$  0.87$  0.19$  0.21$  

% Overstated 7.1% 2.2% 100.0% 5.6% 7.1% 31.0% 23.0% 36.8% 14.3%

American Realty Capital Properties, Inc.

AFFO Per Share

Misstatements
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those financial statements did not present fairly, in all material respects, ARCP’s financial position.  

The financial statements were materially false and misleading due to dozens of material GAAP 

violations. 

64. The false and misleading FY 2012 financial statements that GT certified were 

included, or incorporated by reference, in all seven Registration Statements at issue in this case: the 

debt offerings in July 2013, December 2013 and September 2014; the May 2014 equity offering; the 

February 2014 Cole Merger; and the January 2014 ARCT IV Merger, as described in ¶¶75-111.  The 

false and misleading FY13 financial statements certified by GT were included, or incorporated by 

reference, in the Registration Statements issued in connection with the May 2014 equity offering and 

the September 2014 debt registration. 

GT’s False and Misleading Audit Reports 

65. GT’s Audit Reports for 2012 and 2013 were identical in all material respects and 

contained the following misleading statements: 

 In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above 
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of American 
Realty Capital Properties, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013 and 
2012, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the 
three years in the period ended December 31, 2013 in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  
Also in our opinion, the related financial statement schedules, when 
considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as 
a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth 
therein. 

 We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public 
Company Accounting Oversight Board. 

 We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of American 
Realty Capital Properties, Inc. (a Maryland corporation) and subsidiaries. 

 In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective 
internal control over financial reporting. . . , based on criteria established in 
Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by COSO. 
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66. The statements in GT’s Audit Reports (listed in ¶65) were false and omitted the 

following material facts, which rendered them misleading to an ordinary investor: 

(a) ARCP’s financial statements did not “present[] fairly, in all material respects, 

the information set forth therein” because ARCP’s assets, earnings and cash flow were materially 

misstated; 

(b) GT did not conduct its 2012 and 2013 audits “in accordance with the 

standards of the PCAOB” because: 

 GT did not place emphasis on testing, or apply heightened skepticism to, 
transactions ARCP engaged in with other Schorsch-related entities (which 
GT also audited), as PCAOB standards require.  This enabled ARCP to 
misclassify and understate expenses related to those related-party 
transactions, in violation of GAAP.  GT not only audited and reviewed 
ARCP’s financial statements, but it also audited and reviewed the majority of 
ARCP’s affiliates.2  Many of ARCP’s accounting misstatements involved 
transactions with those affiliates.  Thus, as auditor to both ARCP and its 
affiliates, GT was uniquely positioned to see both sides of ARCP’s 
transactions with its affiliates.  This unique knowledge created various 
obligations under the auditing standards that required GT to emphasize audit 
testing with known related parties;3 

 ARCP violated some of the most basic and fundamental GAAP requirements 
when it misstated its financials, which GT would have detected had it 
performed its audits in compliance with PCAOB standards; and 

                                                 
2 Other Schorsch-related entities that GT audited include: American Energy Capital Partners, LP; 
American Realty Capital – Retail Centers of America, Inc.; American Realty Capital – Retail 
Centers of America II, Inc.; American Realty Capital Daily Net Asset Value Trust, Inc.; American 
Realty Capital Global Trust, Inc.; American Realty Capital Global Trust II, Inc.; American Realty 
Capital Healthcare Trust, Inc.; American Realty Capital Healthcare Trust II, Inc.; American Realty 
Capital Healthcare Trust III, Inc.; American Realty Capital New York City REIT, Inc.; American 
Realty Capital New York Recovery REIT, Inc. (now New York REIT); American Realty Capital 
Trust, Inc.; American Realty Capital Trust III, Inc.; American Realty Capital Trust IV, Inc.; 
American Realty Capital Trust V, Inc.; ARC Properties Operating Partnership L.P.; ARC Realty 
Finance Trust Inc. (now Realty Finance Trust, Inc.); and Business Development Corporation of 
America. 

3 GT resigned or, in some cases, was dismissed as the auditor on the ARCP-affiliate engagements 
in January 2015.  GT was dismissed as ARCP’s auditor on June 1, 2015. 
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 GT did not identify or address any “misstatements of fact” or 
“inconsistencies” in ARCP’s AFFO. 

(c) ARCP did not “maintain in material respects, effective control over financial 

reporting.”  For example, ARCP lacked effective controls: 

 To ensure that the information contained in ARCP’s periodic reports and 
other SEC filings correctly reflected the information contained in ARCP’s 
accounting records and other supporting information or that AFFO per share 
was correctly calculated; 

 To ensure that its SEC filings were reviewed on a timely basis by senior 
management or that significant changes to amounts or other disclosures 
contained in a document that had previously been reviewed and approved by 
the Audit Committee were brought to the attention of the Audit Committee or 
its Chair for review and approval before the documents were filed with the 
SEC; 

 Concerning the formulation of AFFO per share guidance or the periodic re-
assessment of ARCP’s ability to meet its guidance; 

 Concerning related-party transactions and conflicts of interest; 

 Concerning grants of equity-based compensation; 

 Concerning the aggregation of significant deficiencies within business 
process-level control activities and financial reporting controls; 

 Concerning ARCP’s accounting close process; 

 Concerning critical accounting estimates and non-routine transactions; 

 Concerning cash reconciliations and monitoring; and 

 Concerning information technology controls. 

(d) In July 2014, ARCP’s Chief Accounting Officer, McAlister, explicitly 

described to GT how ARCP was engaging in accounting improprieties.  This information was 

conveyed to GT prior to GT consenting to the inclusion of its clean, unqualified 2012 and 2013 

Audit Reports into the September 2014 Registration Statement. 
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(e) On September 7, 2014, several days before ARCP filed its September 2014 

Registration Statement, a different ARCP employee (not McAlister) reported accounting 

improprieties to ARCP’s Audit Committee – further corroborating the previous accounting 

improprieties reported by McAlister. 

67. None of the above material facts were included in GT’s 2012 and 2013 Audit 

Reports, thereby rendering them misleading to an ordinary investor. 

68. GT’s false and misleading 2012 Audit Report was included, or incorporated by 

reference, into the Registration Statements utilized in connection with the debt offerings in July 2013 

and December 2013; the May 2014 equity offering; the January 2014 ARCT IV Merger; the 

February 2014 Cole Merger; and the September 2014 debt registration.  GT’s false and misleading 

2013 Audit Report was included, or incorporated by reference, into the Registration Statements for 

the May 2014 equity offering and the September 2014 debt registration. 

GT’s False and Misleading Auditor Consents 

69. The auditor consents that GT issued throughout the Class Period were also 

misleading.  GT’s consents gave contemporaneous assurance to investors that ARCP’s financial 

information included in the Registration Statements was accurate, and there were no omissions that 

would make the statements in the Registration Statements misleading.  As part of issuing its 

consents, GT was required, under the 1933 Act and auditing standards, to extend its procedures with 

respect to subsequent events from the date of its Audit Reports up to the effective date of the 

Registration Statements, or as close thereto as is reasonable and practicable under the circumstances.  

Procedures that GT should have undertaken prior to issuing its consents included: 

 reading the entire prospectus and other pertinent portions of the Registration 
Statement; 
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 inquiring of and obtaining written representations from officers and other executives 
responsible for financial and accounting matters about whether any events occurred, 
other than those reflected in the Registration Statement, that in their opinion had a 
material effect on the audited financial statements included therein or that should be 
disclosed in order to keep those statements from being misleading; 

 reading the latest available interim financial statements to make any appropriate 
comparisons and inquiring as to whether interim statements were prepared on the 
same basis as that used for the statements under audit; 

 inquiring whether there had been any changes in the Company’s related parties or 
any significant new related-party transactions; and 

 making such additional inquiries or performing such procedures as considered 
necessary and appropriate to dispose of questions that arise in carrying out the 
foregoing procedures, inquiries and discussions. 

70. For the same reasons set forth above (¶66), GT’s consents omitted material facts, 

making them misleading to an ordinary investor. 

71. GT consented to the inclusion of its unqualified reports on ARCP’s false financial 

statements for 2012 in the Registration Statements and Prospectuses in connection with the debt 

offerings in July 2013 and December 2013, the May 2014 equity offering, the January 2014 ARCT 

IV Merger, the February 2014 Cole Merger and the September 2014 debt registration.  GT also 

consented to the inclusion of its unqualified report on ARCP’s false financial statements for 2013 in 

the Registration Statements and Prospectuses in connection with the May 2014 equity offering and 

the September 2014 debt registration.  GT also consented to be referred to in the Registration 

Statements as “experts in accounting and auditing,” whose Audit Reports were being relied upon.  

GT further reviewed ARCP’s financial results included in its 1Q14 and 2Q14 Forms 10-Q, which 

were incorporated into the Prospectuses for the May 2014 (1Q14) equity and September 2014 (1Q14 

and 2Q14) debt offerings. 
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Defendants’ Failure to Exercise Due Diligence 

72. Each of the defendants against whom a §11 claim is asserted herein were obligated by 

law to make a reasonable and diligent investigation of the statements contained in the applicable 

offering materials, including financial statements and statements regarding AFFO and ARCP’s 

internal controls.  They failed to do so.  Had defendants exercised reasonable care, they would have 

known of the material misstatements and omissions alleged herein. 

COUNTS 

73. In each of the seven offerings alleged in Counts I to VII below, plaintiffs and 

members of the Class acquired securities traceable to the 2013 Shelf Registration Statement, the 

December 3, 2013 Registration Statement or the December 23, 2013 Registration Statement.  As a 

direct and proximate result of misrepresentations and/or omissions therein, plaintiffs and Class 

members suffered substantial damage in connection with their acquisition of the securities described 

herein.  As a result of the conduct herein alleged, each defendant named in Counts I to VII violated 

§11 of the 1933 Act. 

74. At the time of their acquisition of the securities issued in each of the offerings set 

forth below, plaintiffs and the other Class members were not aware of the untrue or misleading 

nature of the statements and/or the omissions alleged herein and could not have reasonably 

discovered such untruths or omissions before October 29, 2014.  Less than one year elapsed from the 

time that plaintiffs discovered or reasonably could have discovered the facts upon which this 

Complaint is based until the time that plaintiffs filed their Complaint.  Less than three years elapsed 

between the time that the securities upon which this Count is brought were offered to the public and 

the date the action commenced. 
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COUNT I - Violation of §11 of the 1933 Act in Connection with the July 2013 Offering of 
3% Senior Notes 

75. Plaintiffs incorporate ¶¶1-5, 8, 11, 18-19, 24, 26-27, 29, 32-33, 35-36, 40-42, 47-56, 

59-74, 302-307 as though fully set forth herein.  With respect to this Count, plaintiffs also exclude 

allegations that could be construed as alleging fraud or intentional misconduct, as this Count is based 

solely on claims of strict liability and/or negligence. 

76. On July 23, 2013, ARCP announced a $300 million offering of 3.0% Convertible 

Senior Notes due August 1, 2018 (the “2018 Notes”) (the “July 2013 Offering”).  The July 2013 

Offering was conducted pursuant to Form S-3ASR which ARCP filed with the SEC on March 14, 

2013 (the “2013 Shelf Registration Statement”), Prospectus Supplements dated July 23 and 25, 2013 

that “form a part of” the 2013 Shelf Registration Statement, and a Free Writing Prospectus for the 

July 2013 Offering containing a Pricing Term Sheet dated July 23, 2013, filed on July 24, 2013 

(collectively, the “July 2013 Offering Materials”). 

77. The July 2013 Offering Materials specifically incorporated by reference the 2012 

Form 10-K and the 1Q13 Form 10-Q, both of which included GAAP and other financial information 

(including statements regarding AFFO) and representations concerning ARCP’s internal controls. 

78. For all the reasons set forth in ¶¶59-62, 66-67, 70 above, the July 2013 Offering 

Materials were false and misleading in that they contained untrue statements of material fact and/or 

omitted to state material facts required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements made 

therein not false or misleading. 

79. As set forth in their respective certifications, Union’s funds  and the NYC Funds each 

acquired 2018 Notes in the July 2013 Offering traceable to the 2013 Shelf Registration Statement, 

and bring this claim on behalf of members of the Class pursuant to §11 of the 1933 Act, 15 U.S.C. 

§77k, against: 
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DEFENDANT SECTION 11 LIABILITY 

Registrant ARCP As registrant, strictly liable for 
misstatements and omissions in the July 
2013 Offering Materials and statements 
incorporated therein. 

Individual 
Defendants 

Schorsch, Weil, Block, Jones 
Kahane, Michelson, Rendell 

and Bowman 

Each signed and/or authorized the signing 
of the 2013 Shelf Registration Statement, 
which includes the information 
incorporated therein by reference, as 
alleged in ¶76, above. 

Auditor 
Defendant 

Grant Thornton As accounting experts, certified ARCP’s 
false and misleading FY 2012 financial 
statements contained in the July 2013 
Offering Materials; consented to the 
inclusion of its false FY 2012 Audit Report 
in the July 2013 Offering Materials. 

Underwriter 
Defendants 

JP Morgan, Citigroup, 
Barclays, BMO Capital, 

KeyBanc, JMP Securities, 
Ladenburg and RCS 

Securities 

As underwriters, liable for misstatements 
and omissions in July 2013 Offering 
Materials. 

 
COUNT II - Violation of §11 of the 1933 Act in Connection with the December 2013 

Offering of 3% Senior Notes 

80. Plaintiffs incorporate ¶¶1-5, 8, 18-19, 24, 26-27, 29, 32-33, 35-36, 40, 43-44, 47-56, 

59-74, 302-305 as though fully set forth herein.  With respect to this Count, plaintiffs also exclude 

allegations that could be construed as alleging fraud or intentional misconduct, as this Count is based 

solely on claims of strict liability and/or negligence. 

81. On December 4, 2013, ARCP announced a reopening of the 2018 Notes, which were 

ultimately priced at $287.5 million (the “December 2013 Reopening”).  The December 2013 

Reopening was conducted pursuant to the 2013 Shelf Registration Statement, Prospectus 

Supplements dated December 5, 6, and 9, 2013 that “form a part of” the 2013 Shelf Registration 

Statement, and a Free Writing Prospectus for the December 2013 Reopening containing a Pricing 

Term Sheet dated December 5, 2013 (collectively, the “December 2013 Reopening Materials”). 
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82. The December 2013 Reopening Materials specifically incorporated by reference the 

2012 Form 10-K, the 1Q13 Form 10-Q, the 2Q13 Form 10-Q, and the 3Q13 Form 10-Q, all of which 

included GAAP and other financial information (including statements regarding AFFO) and 

representations concerning ARCP’s internal controls. 

83. For all the reasons set forth in ¶¶59-62, 66-67, 70 above, the December 2013 

Reopening Materials were false and misleading in that they contained untrue statements of material 

fact and/or omitted to state material facts required to be stated therein or necessary to make the 

statements made therein not false or misleading. 

84. As set forth in Union’s certification, Union’s funds acquired the 2018 Notes in the 

December 2013 Reopening traceable to the 2013 Shelf Registration Statement, and brings this claim 

on behalf of members of the Class pursuant to §11 of the 1933 Act, 15 U.S.C. §77k, against: 

DEFENDANT SECTION 11 LIABILITY 

Registrant ARCP As registrant, strictly liable for misstatements 
and omissions in the December 2013 
Reopening Materials and statements 
incorporated therein. 

Individual 
Defendants 

Schorsch, Weil, Block, 
Jones, Kahane, 

Michelson, Rendell and 
Bowman 

Each signed and/or authorized the signing of 
the 2013 Shelf Registration Statement, which 
includes the information incorporated therein 
by reference, as alleged in ¶81, above. 

Auditor 
Defendant 

Grant Thornton As accounting experts, certified ARCP’s false 
and misleading FY 2012 financial statements 
contained in the December 2013 Reopening 
Materials; consented to the inclusion of its 
false FY 2012 Audit Report into the December 
2013 Reopening Materials. 

Underwriter 
Defendants 

Citigroup, Barclays, 
Credit Suisse, Morgan 
Stanley, Wells Fargo, 
Capital One and JMP 

Securities 

As underwriters, liable for misstatements and 
omissions in December 2013 Reopening 
Materials. 
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COUNT III - Violation of §11 of the 1933 Act in Connection with the December 2013 
Offering of 3.75% Senior Notes 

85. Plaintiffs incorporate ¶¶1-5, 8, 18-19, 24, 26-27, 29, 32-33, 35-36, 40, 43-44, 47-56, 

59-74, 302-307 as though fully set forth herein.  With respect to this Count, plaintiffs also exclude 

allegations that could be construed as alleging fraud or intentional misconduct, as this Count is based 

solely on claims of strict liability and/or negligence. 

86. On December 4, 2013, ARCP announced an offering of 3.75% Convertible Senior 

Notes due December 15, 2020, which were ultimately priced at $402.5 million (the “2020 Notes”) 

(the “December 2013 Offering”).  The December 2013 Offering was conducted pursuant to the 2013 

Shelf Registration Statement, Prospectus Supplements dated December 5, 6, and 9, 2013 that “form 

a part of” the 2013 Shelf Registration Statement, and a Free Writing Prospectus for the December 

2013 Offering containing a Pricing Term Sheet dated December 5, 2013 (collectively, the 

“December 2013 Offering Materials”). 

87. The December 2013 Offering specifically incorporated by reference the 2012 Form 

10-K, the 1Q13 Form 10-Q, the 2Q13 Form 10-Q and the 3Q13 Form 10-Q, all of which included 

GAAP and other financial information (including statements regarding AFFO) and representations 

concerning ARCP’s internal controls. 

88. For all the reasons set forth in ¶¶59-62, 66-67, 70 above, the December 2013 Offering 

Materials were false and misleading in that they contained untrue statements of material facts and/or 

omitted to state material facts required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements made 

therein not false or misleading. 

89. As set forth in Union’s certification, Union’s funds acquired the 2020 Notes in the 

December 2013 Offering traceable to the 2013 Shelf Registration Statement, and brings this claim on 

behalf of members of the Class pursuant to §11 of the 1933 Act, 15 U.S.C. §77k, against: 
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DEFENDANT SECTION 11 LIABILITY 

Registrant ARCP As registrant, strictly liable for misstatements 
and omissions in December 2013 Offering 
Materials and statements incorporated therein. 

Individual 
Defendants 

Schorsch, Weil, Block, 
Jones, Kahane, 

Michelson, Rendell and 
Bowman 

Each signed and/or authorized the signing of the 
2013 Shelf Registration Statement, which 
includes the information incorporated therein by 
reference, as alleged in ¶86, above. 

Auditor 
Defendant 

Grant Thornton As accounting experts, certified ARCP’s false 
and misleading FY 2012 financial statements 
contained in the December 2013 Offering 
Materials; consented to the inclusion of its false 
FY 2012 Audit Report into the December 2013 
Offering Materials. 

Underwriter 
Defendants 

Citigroup, Barclays, 
Credit Suisse, Morgan 
Stanley, Wells Fargo, 
Capital One and JMP 

Securities 

As underwriters, liable for misstatements and 
omissions in December 2013 Offering 
Materials. 

 
COUNT IV - Violation of §11 of the 1933 Act in Connection with the ARCT IV Merger 

90. Plaintiffs incorporate ¶¶1-5, 13, 15, 17-19, 24, 26-28, 31-33, 35-36, 40, 47-56, 59-74, 

302-307 as though fully set forth herein.  With respect to this Count, plaintiffs also exclude 

allegations that could be construed as alleging fraud or intentional misconduct, as this Count is based 

solely on claims of strict liability and/or negligence. 

91. On July 2, 2013, ARCP announced that it had entered into a definitive merger 

agreement to acquire the outstanding shares of American Realty Capital Trust, IV, Inc. (“ARCT 

IV”).  Under the terms of the merger agreement (the “ARCT IV Merger”), ARCT IV shareholders 

would, contingent upon a shareholder vote, receive 0.519 of a share of ARCP common stock, 0.5937 

of a share of Series F Preferred Stock, and $9 in cash for each share of ARCT IV they owned. 

92. The ARCT IV Merger was conducted pursuant to a Registration Statement on Form 

S-4 filed with the SEC on December 3, 2013 (the “December 3, 2013 Registration Statement”), and 

a Proxy Statement/Prospectus dated December 4, 2013 that “forms a part” of the registration 
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statement (collectively, the “ARCT IV Merger Materials”).  79.1 million shares of ARCP common 

stock were issued in the ARCT IV Merger. 

93. The ARCT IV Merger Materials specifically incorporated by reference the 2012 Form 

10-K, the 1Q13 Form 10-Q, the 2Q13 Form 10-Q and the 3Q13 Form 10-Q, all of which included 

GAAP and other financial information (including statements regarding AFFO) and representations 

concerning ARCP’s internal controls. 

94. For all the reasons set forth in ¶¶59-62, 66-67, 70 above, the ARCT IV Merger 

Materials were false and misleading in that they contained untrue statements of material fact and/or 

omitted to state material facts required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements made 

therein not false or misleading. 

95. Plaintiffs Matten, Ellis and Esposito acquired ARCP stock common and/or Series F 

Preferred Shares in the ARCT IV Merger or traceable thereto, and thereby acquired those shares 

traceable to the December 3, 2013 Registration Statement.  Matten, Ellis and Esposito bring this 

claim on behalf of members of the Class pursuant to §11 of the 1933 Act, 15 U.S.C. §77k, against: 

DEFENDANT SECTION 11 LIABILITY 

Registrant ARCP As registrant, strictly liable for misstatements 
and omissions in ARCT IV Merger Materials 
and statements incorporated therein. 

Individual 
Defendants 

Schorsch, Weil, Kahane, 
Michelson, Rendell, 

Bowman, Budko, Block 
and Beeson 

Each signed and/or authorized the signing of 
the December 3, 2013 Registration Statement, 
which includes the information incorporated 
therein by reference, as alleged in ¶92, above.

Auditor 
Defendant 

Grant Thornton As accounting experts, certified ARCP’s false 
and misleading FY 2012 financial statements 
contained in the ARCT IV Merger Materials; 
consented to the inclusion of its false FY 2012 
Audit Report into the ARCT IV Merger 
Materials. 
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COUNT V - Violation of §11 of the 1933 Act in Connection with the Cole Merger 

96. Plaintiffs incorporate ¶¶1-7, 9-11, 14, 18-19, 24, 26-28, 31-33, 35-36, 40, 47-56, 59-

74, 302-307 as though fully set forth herein.  With respect to this Count, plaintiffs also exclude 

allegations that could be construed as alleging fraud or intentional misconduct, as this Count is based 

solely on claims of strict liability and/or negligence. 

97. On or about October 22, 2013, ARCP and Cole Inc. entered into an Agreement and 

Plan of Merger (the “Cole Merger Agreement”).  Under the terms of the merger agreement (the 

“Cole Merger”), Cole Inc. shareholders were to receive, at their election, 1.0929 shares of ARCP 

common stock or cash per Cole Inc. share, with the cash consideration limited to no more than 20% 

of Cole Inc.’s shares. 

98. The Cole Merger was conducted pursuant to a Registration Statement on Form S-4 

filed with the SEC on December 23, 2013 (the “December 23, 2013 Registration Statement”), and a 

Joint Proxy Statement/Prospectus dated December 23, 2013 that “forms a part” of the registration 

statement (collectively, the “Cole Merger Materials”).  520.8 million shares of ARCP common stock 

were issued in the Cole Merger. 

99. The Cole Merger Materials specifically incorporated by reference the 2012 Form 10-

K, the 1Q13 Form 10-Q, the 2Q13 Form 10-Q and the 3Q13 Form 10-Q, all of which included 

GAAP and other financial information (including statements regarding AFFO) and representations 

concerning ARCP’s internal controls. 

100. For all the reasons set forth in ¶¶59-62, 66-67, 70 above, the Cole Merger Materials 

were false and misleading in that they contained untrue statements of material facts and/or omitted to 

state material facts required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements made therein not 

false or misleading. 
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101. TIAA-CREF, National Pension Fund, Corsair, the NYC Funds, KBC’s funds and 

Abadi acquired ARCP common stock in the Cole Merger traceable to the December 23, 2013 

Registration Statement, and bring this claim on behalf of members of the Class pursuant to §11 of 

the 1933 Act, 15 U.S.C. §77k, against: 

DEFENDANT SECTION 11 LIABILITY 

Registrant ARCP As registrant, strictly liable for misstatements 
and omissions in Cole Merger Materials and 
statements incorporated therein. 

Individual 
Defendants 

Schorsch, Weil, Kahane, 
Michelson, Rendell, 

Bowman, Budko, Block 
and Beeson 

Each signed and/or authorized the signing of 
the December 23, 2013 Registration 
Statement, which includes the information 
incorporated therein by reference, as alleged 
in ¶98, above. 

Auditor 
Defendant 

Grant Thornton As accounting experts, certified ARCP’s false 
and misleading FY 2012 financial statements 
incorporated in the Cole Merger Materials; 
and consented to the inclusion of its false FY 
2012 Audit Report into the Cole Merger 
Materials. 

 
COUNT VI - Violation of §11 of the 1933 Act in Connection with the May 2014 Offering 

ARCP Stock 

102. Plaintiffs incorporate ¶¶1-5, 7, 10-12, 14, 18-19, 24, 26-27, 29, 32-38, 40, 45-74, 302-

307 as though fully set forth herein.  With respect to this Count, plaintiffs also exclude allegations 

that could be construed as alleging fraud or intentional misconduct, as this Count is based solely on 

claims of strict liability and/or negligence. 

103. On May 21, 2014, ARCP entered into an agreement related to the sale of 138 million 

newly issued shares of ARCP common stock at $12.00 per share (the “May 21 Equity Offering”), 

raising $1.65 billion from investors.  The May 21 Equity Offering was conducted pursuant to the 

2013 Shelf Registration Statement, along with a preliminary Prospectus Supplement filed May 21, 
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2014 and a Prospectus Supplement filed May 23, 2014, both of which “form a part” of the 2013 

Shelf Registration Statement (collectively, the “May 21 Equity Offering Materials”).4 

104. The May 21 Equity Offering Materials specifically incorporated by reference the 

2012 Form 10-K, the 2013 Form 10-K and the 1Q14 Form 10-Q, all of which included GAAP and 

other financial information (including statements regarding AFFO) and representations concerning 

ARCP’s internal controls. 

105. For all the reasons set forth in ¶¶59-62, 66-67, 70 above, the May 21 Equity Offering 

Materials were false and misleading in that they contained untrue statements of material fact and/or 

omitted to state material facts required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements made 

therein not false or misleading. 

106. Plaintiffs National Pension Fund, Tampa, Corsair, the NYC Funds and Abadi 

acquired ARCP common stock in the May 21 Equity Offering traceable to the 2013 Shelf 

Registration Statement, and bring this claim on behalf of members of the Class pursuant to §11 of 

the 1933 Act, 15 U.S.C. §77k, against: 

DEFENDANT SECTION 11 LIABILITY 

Registrant ARCP As registrant, strictly liable for 
misstatements and omissions in May 21 
Equity Offering Materials and statements 
incorporated therein. 

                                                 
4 The underwriters also exercised the “green shoe,” selling an additional 18 million newly issued 
shares beyond the first 120 million shares, for a total of 138 million shares in connection with the 
May 21 Equity Offering. 
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DEFENDANT SECTION 11 LIABILITY 

Individual 
Defendants 

Schorsch, Weil, Block, Jones, 
Kahane, Michelson, Rendell, 

Bowman, Stanley, 
Andruskevich and Sealy 

Each signed and/or authorized the signing 
of the 2013 Shelf Registration Statement, 
which includes the information 
incorporated therein by reference, as 
alleged in ¶103, above, or was a director 
of ARCP at the time of the filing of the 
part of the Registration Statement with 
respect to which his or her liability is 
asserted. 

Auditor 
Defendant 

Grant Thornton As accounting experts, certified ARCP’s 
false and misleading FY 2012 and 2013 
financial statements contained in the May 
21 Equity Offering Materials; consented 
to the inclusion of its false FY 2013 Audit 
Reports into the May 21 Equity Offering 
Materials. 

Underwriter 
Defendants 

Merrill Lynch, Citigroup, 
Barclays, J.P. Morgan, Capital 
One, Credit Suisse, Deutsche 

Bank, Wells Fargo, Baird, 
Ladenburg, BMO Capital, 
JMP Securities, Janney, 

Mizuho, PNC Capital, Piper 
Jaffray and RBS 

As underwriters, liable for misstatements 
and omissions in May 21 Equity Offering 
Materials. 
 

 
COUNT VII - Violation of §11 of the 1933 Act in Connection with the September 2014 

Registration of $2.55 Billion of Senior Notes 

107. Plaintiffs incorporate ¶¶1-5, 7, 11, 18-19, 24, 26, 29, 30, 33-37, 39-40, 47-74, 302-

307 as though fully set forth herein.  With respect to this Count, plaintiffs also exclude allegations 

that could be construed as alleging fraud or intentional misconduct, as this Count is based solely on 

claims of strict liability and/or negligence. 

108. On September 12, 2014, ARCP and ARC Properties registered the $2.55 billion 

worth of Senior Notes previously issued in the February 2014 Notes Offering (the “Exchange 

Offer”).  The Exchange Offer was conducted pursuant to the 2013 Shelf Registration Statement and 

a Prospectus incorporated therein dated September 12, 2014 (the “Exchange Offer Materials”). 
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109. The Exchange Offer Materials specifically incorporated by reference the 2012 Form 

10-K, the 2013 Form 10-K, the 1Q14 Form 10-Q and the 2Q14 Form 10-Q, all of which included 

GAAP and other financial information (including statements regarding AFFO) and representations 

concerning ARCP’s internal controls. 

110. For all the reasons set forth in ¶¶59-62, 66-67, 70 above, the Exchange Offer 

Materials were false and misleading in that they contained untrue statements of material fact and/or 

omitted to state material facts required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements made 

therein not false or misleading. 

111. Plaintiffs National Pension Fund and the NYC Funds acquired Senior Notes in the 

Exchange Offer traceable to the 2013 Shelf Registration Statement, and bring this claim on behalf of 

members of the Class pursuant to §11 of the 1933 Act, 15 U.S.C. §77k, against: 

DEFENDANT SECTION 11 LIABILITY 

Registrant ARCP and ARC Properties 
Operating Partnership L.P. 

As registrants, strictly liable for 
misstatements and omissions in Exchange 
Offer Materials and statements incorporated 
therein. 

Individual 
Defendants 

Schorsch, Stanley, Frank, 
Andruskevich, Michelson, 
Rendell, Bowman, Block 

and McAlister 

Each signed and/or authorized signing of 
Exchange Offer Materials and participated in 
their preparation and dissemination. 

Auditor 
Defendant 

Grant Thornton As accounting experts, certified ARCP’s 
false and misleading FY 2012 and 2013 
financial statements contained in the 
Exchange Offer Materials; consented to the 
inclusion of its false FY 2013 Audit Reports 
into the Exchange Offer Materials. 

112. Paragraph removed to conform to the Court’s September 8, 2016 Order (Dkt. 

No. 299). 

113. Paragraph removed to conform to the Court’s September 8, 2016 Order (Dkt. 

No. 299). 
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114. Paragraph removed to conform to the Court’s September 8, 2016 Order (Dkt. 

No. 299). 

115. Paragraph removed to conform to the Court’s September 8, 2016 Order (Dkt. 

No. 299). 

116. Paragraph removed to conform to the Court’s September 8, 2016 Order (Dkt. 

No. 299). 

117. Paragraph removed to conform to the Court’s September 8, 2016 Order (Dkt. 

No. 299). 

118. Paragraph removed to conform to the Court’s September 8, 2016 Order (Dkt. 

No. 299). 

119. Paragraph removed to conform to the Court’s September 8, 2016 Order (Dkt. 

No. 299). 

120. Paragraph removed to conform to the Court’s September 8, 2016 Order (Dkt. 

No. 299). 

COUNT VIII - Violation of §15 of the 1933 Act 

121. This claim is brought against defendants ARC Advisors and AR Capital for their 

control of defendant ARCP in connection with ARCP’s violation of §11 of the 1933 Act relating to: 

Registration Statement Date 

$300 million 3% Convertible Senior Notes due 2018  7/2013 

$287.5 million 3% Convertible Senior Notes due 2018 12/2013 

$402.5 million 3.75% Convertible Senior Notes due 2020 12/2013 

79.1 million shares of ARCP stock issued in ARCT IV Merger 1/3/2014 

520.8 million shares of ARCP stock issued in Cole Merger 2/2014 

138 million shares of ARCP stock issued in May 2014 Offering 5/2014 

$2.55 billion of Senior Notes  9/2014 
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122. Paragraph removed to conform to the Court’s September 8, 2016 Order (Dkt. 

No. 299). 

Control of ARCP 

123. Schorsch, Kahane, Weil, Budko and Block operated numerous interrelated companies 

out of their offices at 405 Park Avenue in New York.  ARCP, ARC Advisors and AR Capital all 

shared that address.  ARCP paid more than $900 million to ARC Advisors and these other entities in 

a series of related-party transactions, including millions of dollars transferred without any supporting 

documentation. 

124. Paragraph removed to conform to the Court’s September 8, 2016 Order (Dkt. 

No. 299). 

125. Schorsch, Kahane, Weil, Budko and Block held executive and director positions 

and/or were beneficial owners at both of these companies and at ARCP, as detailed below: 

 ARCP ARC Advisors AR Capital 

Schorsch CEO: 
Dec. 2010 – Oct. 1, 2014 
Chairman: 
Dec. 2010 – Dec. 15, 2014 
Beneficial owner 

Chairman/CEO: 
Nov. 2010 – at least Jan. 2014 

CEO/Chairman: 
Dec. 2012 – Present 
Beneficial owner 

Kahane Director: 
Dec. 2010 – Mar. 2012; 
Feb. 2013 – June 24, 2014 
Beneficial owner 

President/COO: 
Nov. 2010 – Mar. 2012 

Beneficial owner  

Weil President/Treasurer/Secretary: 
Dec. 2010 – Jan. 2014  
Director:  
Mar. 2012 – June 2014 

EVP: 
Nov. 2010 – at least Jan. 2014 

President/COO: 
Dec. 2012 – Present 
Beneficial owner 

Block CFO/EVP:  
Dec. 2010 – Oct. 28, 2014 
Beneficial owner 

CFO/EVP: 
Nov. 2010 – at least Jan. 2014 

CFO/EVP: 
Dec. 2012 – Nov. 2013  
Beneficial owner 

Budko CIO/EVP:  
Dec. 2010 – 2014 
Beneficial owner 

CIO/EVP: 
Nov. 2010 – at least Jan. 2014 

CIO/EVP: 
Dec. 2012 – Present 
Beneficial owner 

 
126. ARC Advisors and AR Capital possessed the power to control, and did control, 

directly and/or indirectly, the actions of ARCP during the Class Period.  ARCP had zero employees 
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at the time of its IPO in September 2011 and continued to have no employees until sometime in 

2014.  Instead, the Company was externally managed by ARC Advisors.  ARC Advisors managed 

ARCP’s activities on a day-to-day basis, provided ARCP with its management team and support 

personnel and employed ARCP’s CEO, President, CIO and other executive officers.  ARC Advisors 

also supplied the compensation for ARCP’s executive officers.  ARCP consistently stated in SEC 

filings that it was “completely reliant” on ARC Advisors and its parent companies (RCS Capital, 

LLC until December 27, 2012 and AR Capital, LLC thereafter), which had “the power to direct the 

activities of [ARCP] through advisory/management agreements.”  ARC Advisors, through this 

management relationship, controlled the actions of ARCP, thereby reaping, together with its 

“affiliates,” over $900 million in fees during the Class Period – fees that ARCP has now 

acknowledged included transactions that were not documented or that otherwise warranted scrutiny. 

127. AR Capital is wholly owned by Schorsch, Kahane, Weil, Budko and Block.  From 

December 27, 2012 until the end of the Class Period, AR Capital owned and possessed the power to 

control, and did control, directly and/or indirectly, the actions of ARC Advisors, which was the 

external manager of ARCP and exerted day-to-day control over ARCP’s affairs.  According to 

ARCP, ARC Advisors and its parent companies (including AR Capital, LLC) have “the power to 

direct the activities of [ARCP] through advisory/management agreements.”  The resources of ARC 

Advisors’ parent companies were vital to the implementation and execution of ARCP’s business and 

growth strategies, including the acquisition of ARCP’s numerous properties. 

128. Paragraph removed to conform to the Court’s September 8, 2016 Order (Dkt. 

No. 299). 

129. Paragraph removed to conform to the Court’s September 8, 2016 Order (Dkt. 

No. 299). 
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130. Defendants ARC Advisors and AR Capital exercised control directly and indirectly 

over the actions of ARCP in connection with its violations of §11 of the 1933 Act as described in 

¶¶75-111.  By reason of such conduct, these defendants are liable pursuant to §15 of the 1933 Act. 

131. Paragraph removed to conform to the Court’s September 8, 2016 Order (Dkt. 

No. 299). 
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1934 ACT CLAIMS 

132. ARCP is a REIT, focused on single-tenant freestanding commercial properties subject 

to medium-term leases with high credit-quality tenants.  Between its IPO and 2014, ARCP grew into 

one of the largest REITs in the United States.  By 2014, ARCP owned more than 4,400 properties 

spanning almost 100 million square feet.5 

133. When ARCP went public on September 7, 2011, it sold just over 5.5 million shares of 

ARCP common stock at $12.50 per share.  As of December 31, 2011, the Company reported total 

assets of $132 million.  By December 31, 2012, ARCP’s assets had almost doubled (to $256 

million), as ARCP embarked on one of the most aggressive merger-and-acquisition campaigns ever 

undertaken in the real estate industry.  The table below shows ARCP’s rapid-fire pattern of 

acquisitions: 

Acquisition Close Date Transaction Value 

ARCT III 02/28/13 $2.2 billion 

GE Capital Properties 06/27/13 $774 million 

CapLease, Inc. 11/03/13 $2.2 billion 

ARCT IV 01/03/14 $3 billion, including 79.1 million ARCP shares 

Fortress Group Properties 01/08/14 $601 million 

Cole Inc. 02/07/14 $11.2 billion, including 520 million ARCP shares 

Red Lobster Properties 07/28/14 $1.5 billion 

 
134. Describing itself publicly as an “acquisition machine,” ARCP became the largest 

REIT of its kind in the United States.  It grew by acquiring hundreds of millions of dollars of real 

                                                 
5 REITs own – and typically operate – income-producing real estate or real estate-related assets.  
REITs provide investors with the ability to receive a share of the income produced through real 
estate ownership, without owning the underlying real estate.  To qualify as a REIT, a company must, 
inter alia, have the bulk of its assets and income connected to real estate investment and must 
distribute at least 90% of its taxable income to shareholders annually in the form of dividends. 
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estate assets at a time (and in some cases billions of dollars), increasing its total assets more than 

16,036% in two and a half years, as the following chart demonstrates: 

 
135. ARCP is one of an array of companies owned and/or controlled by Schorsch, which 

were used to effectuate the scheme and wrongful course of conduct alleged in this cause of action.  

Schorsch, Kahane, Weil, Budko and Block used ARCP to acquire other REITs and, in the process, 

ARCP paid commissions, fees and other expenses to RCAP, RCS Capital, Realty Capital Securities, 

AR Capital and ARC Advisors – all entities owned or controlled by these same individual 

defendants.  Forbes.com described the Schorsch empire as “[a] fully integrated operation [that] not 

only manufactured nontraded, high-yielding REITs, it also provided research and advisory services 

to them, and controlled the second-largest independent financial advisory operation in the nation 

(and 9,200 brokers) who peddled them.”  In fact, in Schorsch’s resignation agreement with ARCP 

entered into on December 12, 2014, he agreed to resign from no fewer than 47 other related entities. 
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ARCP’s Growth During the Class Period Was Fueled by Its False Financial Statements 

136. ARCP’s rapid-fire acquisition strategy was predicated upon a massive accounting 

scheme.  Arguably the single most critical metric relied upon by analysts and investors in valuing 

ARCP was a measure of operating performance called AFFO.  AFFO is based on another commonly 

accepted measure of operating performance for REITs called Funds from Operations, or FFO.  

ARCP defines FFO as “net income or loss computed in accordance with GAAP, excluding gains or 

losses from sales of property but including asset impairment write-downs, plus depreciation and 

amortization, after adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures.”  AFFO, in turn, 

equals FFO adjusted to exclude (in the case of ARCP) acquisition-related fees and expenses, 

amortization of above-marketplace assets and liabilities, amortization of deferred financing costs, 

straight-line rent, non-cash mark-to-market adjustments, amortization of restricted stock, non-cash 

compensation and gains and losses.  As ARCP has acknowledged, AFFO: 

[P]rovides information consistent with management’s analysis of the operating 
performance of the properties.  By providing AFFO, ARCP believes it is presenting 
useful information that assists investors and analysts to better assess the 
sustainability of our operating performance.  Further, ARCP believes AFFO is 
useful in comparing the sustainability of our operating performance with the 
sustainability of the operating performance of other real estate companies, 
including exchange-traded and non-traded REITs. 

137. By early 2012, however, ARCP’s senior insiders realized that their existing practice 

of artificially inflating ARCP’s AFFO by failing to adjust for non-controlling interests was not going 

to adequately boost ARCP’s share price performance, which, in turn, was impeding ARCP’s ability 

to raise meaningful amounts of capital.  ARCP’s senior insiders recognized that the only way to 

generate the substantial fees, commissions and compensation payments they sought would be to 

supercharge ARCP’s reported AFFO growth. 
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138. Beginning in late 2012, ARCP’s Chairman and CEO (Schorsch) and its CFO (Block) 

assured ARCP investors and potential merger partners that ARCP’s performance was “exceed[ing] 

our financial projections across the board.”  In February 2013, ARCP reported strong 2012 AFFO of 

$10.5 million, and declared that it was “positioned for dynamic growth.”  By late 2013, ARCP’s 

senior insiders were emphasizing to the market that ARCP would report for 2014 “a growth rate of 

about 30% over 2013 AFFO per share.” 

139. Defendants’ scheme reached its apex in the second quarter of 2014 (“2Q14”), when 

ARCP reported quarterly AFFO of $205.3 million, a 429% increase over 2Q13.  By that time, 

ARCP’s senior insiders had caused ARCP to issue and/or sell $3.5 billion of ARCP debt securities 

and well over 800 million shares of ARCP stock at artificially inflated levels.  They had also used 

the billions of dollars ARCP had raised, together with artificially inflated shares of ARCP stock, to 

consummate no fewer than five multi-billion dollar acquisitions of other REITs and real estate 

portfolios. 

140. The external manager responsible for ARCP’s “affairs on a day-to-day basis” was 

ARC Properties Advisors, LLC (defined above as ARC Advisors) (whose CEO was also Schorsch), 

which was controlled by Schorsch, Block, Budko, Weil and Kahane, initially through RCS Capital 

and later through AR Capital.  ARC Advisors is a separate legal entity that ARCP does not own and 

whose revenues and profits do not benefit ARCP’s shareholders. 

141. The ARCP “acquisition machine” was designed to and did effectively transfer 

hundreds of millions of dollars from ARCP to entities owned and/or controlled by Schorsch, Weil, 

Kahane, Block and Budko.  In just three years, ARCP paid ARC Advisors “and its affiliates” over 

$900 million – most of which was purportedly for offering/acquisition-related “commissions,” 

“fees,” “services” and “acquisition related expenses,” including: 
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 $15.4 million paid for “post-transaction support services,” including $10 million paid 
to a Schorsch-controlled entity to provide, among other things, “public relations 
support” and “services relating to office supplies”; 

 $17.7 million for so-called “financing coordination fees”; 

 $21.6 million for the purported sale to ARCP of “furniture, fixtures, and equipment,” 
for which “no evidence” could be found with respect to at least a third of such 
furniture, fixtures or equipment were received; 

 $31.6 million for “management fees”;  

 $63.4 million for “strategic advisory services”; 

 $67.9 million in “acquisition related expenses”; 

 $120.1 million in “general and administrative expenses”; 

 $176.6 million in payments denominated as “subordinated distribution fees,” which 
were triggered solely by ARCP’s purchase of American Realty Capital Trust, III, Inc. 
(“ARCT III”) and ARCT IV; and 

 $333 million in “commissions and fees.” 

142. ARCP also paid $7.66 million to RCS Securities for “financial advisory and strategic 

services to ARCP prior to the consummation of the ARCT IV Merger,” with ARCT IV paying 

another $7.66 million to RCS Securities for the “[p]rovision of financial advisory and strategic 

services to ARCT IV prior to the consummation of the ARCT IV Merger.”  Put another way, one 

Schorsch-controlled entity (RCS Securities) advised both sides of the ARCT IV Merger (the 

Company and ARCT IV) – both of which were also Schorsch-controlled entities – and received 

$7.66 million from each of them. 

143. The various ways defendants diverted money from ARCP was so complex and 

opaque that a months-long Audit Committee investigation resulted in no more than vague findings of 

“certain payments” to Schorsch-related entities “that were not sufficiently documented or [that] 

otherwise warrant scrutiny,” and a lingering question as to “whether [ARCP] has a right to seek 

recovery for any other such payments and, if so, its alternatives for recovery.” 
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ARCP’s Acquisition Spree Was Designed to and Did Boost Executive Incentive Payments 

144. The “acquisition machine” was also a fundamental part of defendants’ efforts to 

expand ARCP’s asset base, thereby increasing the basis for incentive compensation under ARCP’s 

executive compensation plan, the Multi-Year Outperformance Plan (the “OPP”).  The OPP has two 

components, one “absolute” and one “relative,” both measured over a three-year period in terms of 

total return to stockholders, including both share price appreciation and common stock distributions.  

First, if ARCP achieved a total return to stockholders of more than 7% a year, the plan paid out 4% 

of the dollar amount exceeding that benchmark.  Second, if ARCP’s annual performance exceeded 

the median total return of a group of peer companies by six percentage points or more, then the OPP 

paid out an additional 4% of that excess total return.6 

145. The Compensation Committee of ARCP’s Board of Directors approved the adoption 

of the OPP in October 2013, and allocated the bulk of its $120 million executive-incentive 

compensation pool – 42.5% – to Schorsch alone (over a five-year period). 

146. Despite the OPP’s obvious extravagance, Schorsch and Block by fiat increased the 

OPP by $100 million simply by altering the plan and the ARCP Board then disseminated a Proxy 

stating that the “maximum award value” of the Plan was $222.1 million.  ARCP’s shareholders 

rejected the OPP in a non-binding vote at the Company’s annual meeting on May 29, 2014, with 

only 32.4% of the shares represented voting in favor of the package.  Nonetheless, the Company 

apparently ignored the shareholder vote and all indications are that the plan, with the 

                                                 
6 With respect to this second component, however, the recipients were to receive 50% of their 
incentive compensation even if ARCP posted a cumulative total return of zero percent.  That is, even 
with no total return to shareholders whatsoever, the OPP entitled certain defendants, including 
Schorsch and Block, to half of this component of their incentive compensation. 
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Schorsch/Block-decreed $100 million OPP pool increase, was later adopted by the ARCP 

defendants, notwithstanding its repudiation by shareholders. 

147. Schorsch’s compensation from the OPP was in addition to: (i) his guaranteed base 

salary for 2014 of $1.1 million; (ii) an estimated $8.8 million of nonguaranteed cash bonus and 

equity awards; and (iii) a “retention grant” worth $24.9 million, paid out over nine annual 

installments of $2.8 million.  Schorsch’s total awarded compensation for 2014 – and for ARCP alone 

– was estimated at $28.4 million, assuming he achieved only the midrange of the OPP plan, or 

almost 26 times his guaranteed salary of $1.1 million. 

ARCP Acknowledged that It Falsified Its Financial Statements and AFFO 

148. Before the market opened on October 29, 2014, ARCP issued a release and filed a 

Form 8-K with the SEC revealing that ARCP’s previously reported FY13 financial results (which 

incorporated the Company’s 2012 and 2011 financial results), as well as its financial results for 

1Q14 and 2Q14, “should no longer be relied upon,” and that ARCP intended to restate its financial 

results for those periods.  ARCP further admitted that: 

(1) the Company’s AFFO was overstated during the first quarter of 2014 by an 
estimated $17,638,000 on a net basis (or $11,974,000 on a gross basis), and was 
overstated during the second quarter of 2014 by an estimated $10,869,000 on a gross 
basis; and 

(2) the Company’s net loss attributable to common stockholders was understated 
during the second quarter of 2014 by an estimated $9,242,000. 

In addition, ARCP’s Audit Committee had concluded that the first-quarter error “was identified but 

intentionally not corrected,” and the second-quarter errors were “intentionally made.”  As a result, 

ARCP was “reevaluating its internal control over financial reporting and its disclosure controls and 

procedures.” 

149. The Form 8-K stated, in pertinent part: 
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Item 4.02 Non-Reliance on Previously Issued Financial Statements or a Related 
Audit Report or Completed Interim Review. 

. . . On October 24, 2014, the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors (the “Audit 
Committee”) of [ARCP] . . . concluded that the previously issued audited 
consolidated financial statements and other financial information contained in the 
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 
2013, the previously issued unaudited financial statements and other financial 
information contained in the Company’s Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the 
fiscal periods ended March 31, 2014 and June 30, 2014, and the Company’s 
earnings releases and other financial communications for these periods 
(collectively, the “Prior Financial Information”) should no longer be relied upon. 

The Audit Committee based its conclusion on the preliminary findings of its 
investigation into concerns regarding accounting practices and other matters that 
first were reported to the Audit Committee on September 7, 2014. The Audit 
Committee promptly initiated an investigation, which is being conducted with the 
assistance of independent counsel and forensic experts. 

The investigation conducted to date has not uncovered any errors in the consolidated 
financial statements (prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP) for the three months 
ended March 31, 2014.  However, based on the preliminary findings of the 
investigation, the Audit Committee believes that the Company incorrectly included 
certain amounts related to its non-controlling interests in the calculation of 
adjusted funds from operations (“AFFO”), a non-U.S. GAAP financial measure, 
for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and, as a result, overstated AFFO for 
this period.  The Audit Committee believes that [1] this error was identified but 
intentionally not corrected, and [2] other AFFO and financial statement errors 
were intentionally made, resulting in an overstatement of AFFO and an 
understatement of the Company’s net loss for the three and six months ended 
June 30, 2014. 

* * * 

Based on the preliminary findings of the investigation, the Company has identified 

the potential adjustments set forth in Exhibit 99.1 to this Report [1] to the 
Company’s reported net loss in accordance with U.S. GAAP for the three and six 
months ended June 30, 2014 and [2] to reported AFFO . . . for the three months 
ended March 31, 2014 and the three and six months ended June 30, 2014.  Note 
that, in calculating AFFO for the first quarter of 2014, the Company presented 
activity from non-controlling interests on a net basis, while in the second quarter of 
2014, as permitted, the Company presented its activity from non-controlling interests 
on a gross basis (which it will continue to do in calculating AFFO in future periods).  
The weighted average number of shares used in calculating AFFO differs depending 
on whether the net or gross method is used (but does not change for purposes of 
calculating net loss per share in accordance with U.S. GAAP).  The investigation is 
ongoing and there can be no assurance that the potential adjustments set forth in 
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the table below will not change based upon the final results of the investigation, 
and any such change could be material. 

The Company will work with the Audit Committee and the Audit Committee’s 
independent advisors to determine the adjustments required to be made to the Prior 
Financial Information as expeditiously as possible.  Upon the completion of this 
process, which could identify further adjustments in addition to those discussed 
above, the Company will restate the Prior Financial Information and amend its 
prior periodic filings to the extent required [and update its earnings guidance at 
that time].7  The Company will file its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the 
quarter ended September 30, 2014 after the amended filings have been made. 

In light of the preliminary findings of the Audit Committee’s investigation, the 
Company is reevaluating its internal control over financial reporting and its 
disclosure controls and procedures.  The Company intends to make the necessary 
changes to its control environment to remediate all control deficiencies that are 
identified as a result of the ongoing investigation and the restatement process. 

150. The Form 8-K also announced the abrupt resignations of ARCP’s CFO, defendant 

Block, as well as defendant McAlister, the Company’s CAO. 

151. The release and Form 8-K contained identical tables setting forth “Potential 

Adjustments” to the Company’s: (1) previously reported AFFO for the first and second quarters of 

2014; and (2) previously reported net loss attributable to common stockholders (a GAAP measure) 

for the 2Q14.  According to those tables, AFFO was overstated during 1Q14 by an estimated 

$11,974,000 on a gross basis, and during 2Q14 by an estimated $10,869,000 on a gross basis.8  In 

addition, ARCP’s 2Q14 AFFO overstatement included an understatement of its net loss attributable 

to common stockholders of an estimated $9,242,000. 

152. Later that day, defendants held a conference call with analysts and investors, during 

which Kay admitted that ARCP had inappropriately accounted for various accruals and expenses, 

which affected, among other things, ARCP’s reported GAAP earnings per share (“EPS”).  Kay 

                                                 
7 Bracketed language is contained in the Company’s October 29, 2014 release. 

8 These estimates were low.  The amended SEC filings revealed that on a gross basis, 1Q14 AFFO 
was overstated by $33,008,000, and 2Q14 AFFO was overstated by $19,344,000. 
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explained that “various accruals and expenses . . . should[] [have] been accrued in the second quarter 

that ended up resulting in an accrual in the third quarter instead. . . .  That does impact our GAAP 

statements.  Accruals are an expense item.  They affect both AFFO as well as EPS.” 

153. In response to these announcements, ARCP common stock traded as low as $7.85 per 

share on October 29, 2014, a decline of more than 36% from the prior day’s closing price of $12.38 

per share, before closing at $10 per share, a decline of more than 19%, on 231 million shares traded, 

or more than 50 times the average daily trading volume during the Class Period. 

154. ARCP’s common stock price continued to decline as the market absorbed the import 

of ARCP’s October 29, 2014 announcements and analysts issued reports downgrading and lowering 

their estimates for the Company, closing at $9.42 per share on October 30, 2014, and ultimately 

tumbling to a closing price of $7.85 per share on November 3, 2014. 

155. On October 29, 2014, The Wall Street Journal reported that the SEC “intends to 

launch an inquiry into the accounting irregularities” at ARCP.  According to the October 29, 2014 

Wall Street Journal article: 

The incident might make it harder for [ARCP], which manages nearly $30 billion in 
real estate, . . . to raise capital for purchasing properties, analysts said. 

* * * 

Others said the errors could directly undermine [ARCP’s] growth strategy, which has 
relied on tapping the debt and equity markets for capital to pay for acquisitions. 

The company’s “credibility is likely impugned for some period of time,” wrote J.P. 
Morgan analyst Anthony Paolone, adding that “capital costs will be higher in the 
near term . . . thus making growth more difficult.” 

Investors also are worried the timing of the accounting revelations could imperil a 
deal that [ARCP] announced earlier this month, according to a person familiar with 
the matter. 

On Oct. 1, the company said that it would sell its private capital-management 
business, Cole Capital, which raises money for nontraded REITs, for $700 million to 
RCS Capital Corp., another company chaired by Mr. Schorsch. 
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156. On October 31, 2014, Reuters reported that the FBI and the United States Attorney’s 

Office for the Southern District of New York had “opened a criminal probe of [ARCP] . . . in the 

wake of the . . . accounting errors.” 

157. On November 3, 2014, Wells Fargo suspended equity research coverage on ARCP, 

citing news reports “that the FBI and the U.S. attorneys’ office have both opened a criminal probe 

into ARCP.”  Ladenburg also suspended coverage. 

158. On December 15, 2014, ARCP filed a Form 8-K with the SEC announcing that 

Schorsch had “resigned as Executive Chairman and a director of [ARCP]” and had “also resigned 

from all other employment and board positions that he held at the Company and its subsidiaries and 

certain Company-related entities.”  According to a release issued that day, ARCP was “unwinding 

all of its relationships with entities in which Mr. Schorsch maintains an executive or director-level 

role or is a significant stockholder.”  The December 15, 2015 Form 8-K also announced the 

resignations of Kay, ARCP’s CEO and a member of the Board of Directors, and Beeson, ARCP’s 

President and COO.  According to a J.P. Morgan research report dated December 18, 2014, “[w]e 

were surprised (and so was the market) by the resignation of David Kay (former CEO) this week 

since, up until recently Mr. Kay stated that he was there for the long haul.” 

159. On December 18, 2014, the reason for Schorsch, Kay and Beeson’s December 15, 

2014 dramatic departures became clear.  Former CAO McAlister filed a Verified Complaint in the 

Supreme Court of the State of New York, County of New York, asserting claims of defamation per 

se against ARCP, Schorsch and Kay.  In an action captioned Lisa Pavelka McAlister v. American 

Realty Capital Properties, Inc., et al., Index No. 162499/2014 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. N.Y. Cnty.), McAlister 

disputed ARCP’s and Kay’s account of events on October 29, 2014, including their representation 

that she had “resigned.” 
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160. McAlister had been one of the first executives to be hired from outside Schorsch’s 

inner circle.  Specifically, McAlister alleged that, beginning in or about February 2014, she 

“repeatedly informed Mr. Schorsch, Mr. Kay and senior management [that] she had discovered 

that the Company had, in the fourth quarter of 2013 (‘2013 Q4’), and possibly in earlier quarters, 

suddenly and without any apparent justification or basis, changed the method by which it had 

historically reported its adjusted funds from operations (‘AFFO’) relative to previous financial 

quarters.”  Verified Complaint, ¶1. 

161. In an explanation facially similar to the one given by Kay during the October 29, 

2014 investor and analyst call, McAlister – who described AFFO as “arguably the single most 

critical metric” for publicly traded REITs (id., ¶33) – alleged: 

 Specifically, the Company ceased pro-rating the added-back-to-AFFO non-
recurring transaction and deferred financing costs on its 10K and 10Q reports, opting 
instead to add to and increase the Company’s AFFO by the entirety of the added-
back costs, including the portion thereof that should have been attributed to non-
controlling interests in the operating partnership, ARC Properties Operating 
Partnership LP, instead of adding to AFFO only the Company’s pro rata share of the 
added-back costs. 

Id., ¶31. 

162. According to McAlister’s verified petition, she made senior management, which she 

defined to include Schorsch, Kay and Beeson, aware of the problem in or about the previous 

February. 

163. Moreover, McAlister alleged that, upon apprising Kay of the problem she had 

identified, he directed her and Block “not to change or correct the fraudulent reports, in an apparent 

effort to avoid public disclosure of the Company’s faltering financial performance.”  Id., ¶37.  Not 

long after receiving and following Kay’s instruction, McAlister was rewarded with a bonus, raise 

and promotion. 
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164. She also alleged that, during a conference call with her and Block on or around 

July 28, 2014: 

Mr. Schorsch directed Mr. Block to reallocate the funds used to calculate the AFFO 
and shift the numbers in the 2014 Q2 report in an effort to conceal the previous 
improper reporting, by having Mr. Block prepare a schedule changing the add-back 
amortization and write off of deferred financing costs. 

Id., ¶39. 

165. In addition, she alleged that Schorsch and Kay directed the Company to “change[] the 

beginning point for its AFFO calculation from ‘net loss attributable to stockholders (in accordance 

with U.S. GAAP)’ to ‘net loss (in accordance with U.S. GAAP).’”  Id., ¶40.  While this change was 

not improper in and of itself, she alleged, “it made it more difficult for stockholders to see the 

fraudulent change in the add-backs of non-recurring transaction and deferred financing costs.”  Id. 

166. Although McAlister “repeatedly expressed her concerns regarding Mr. Schorsch’s 

instruction to shift and reallocate the funds in the 2014 Q2 report, . . . her objections went ignored.”  

Id., ¶42.  Therefore, after she was appointed to be the “‘principal accountant’ on the 2014 Q2 report” 

(id., ¶43), she “emailed Jessica Estrada, a Manager at GT, the Company’s auditors, and called 

attention to the manipulative accounting practice reflected in the Q2 report.”  Id., ¶44.  In response to 

her email, according to McAlister: “Ms. Estrada and Richard LeFleur, a Partner at GT, told 

Ms. McAlister that she could sign and file the 2014 Q2 report ‘as is.’”  Id., ¶45.  On GT’s 

instruction, McAlister filed the 2014 Q2 report.  Id., ¶46. 

167. Finally, McAlister alleged that the issues she had raised concerning ARCP’s 

accounting resulted in the Audit Committee’s internal investigation (id., ¶48), that she was later 

“terminated” on or about October 28, 2014 (id., ¶51), in “retaliation for her blowing the whistle on 

ARCP’s unlawful accounting and financial reporting practices,” and to make McAlister the 

scapegoat for defendants’ fraudulent conduct (id., ¶52).  After learning about McAlister’s complaint, 
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which “suggest[ed] a more broad knowledge of the intentional misstatement,” J.P. Morgan surmised 

that the resignations could be because the lawsuit could “impugn Mr. Kay’s credibility,” and signify 

that the Audit Committee’s “investigation . . . [had] uncovered evidence that Mr. Kay knew more 

than previously thought.” 

168. On September 7, 2014, an “unidentified person,” not McAlister, made a report to the 

Audit Committee, spurring the internal investigation that resulted in the October 29, 2014 

announcement. 

169. On March 2, 2015, ARCP admitted that it had falsified its reported operating 

performance and/or financial statements for each and every reporting period since it went public in 

2011.  ARCP and its accountants, GT, have now confirmed that the falsification of ARCP’s financial 

performance was achieved via no fewer than three dozen different artifices, many of which were 

designed to inflate ARCP’s AFFO and/or line its senior insiders’ pocketbooks. 

ARCP’s Financial Reporting During the Class Period Was Materially False and 
Misleading 

170. On March 2, 2015, ARCP restated the financial statements it had reported to investors 

and filed with the SEC during the Class Period  because they were not prepared in accordance with 

GAAP and did not accurately reflect ARCP’s operational performance.  In fact, the Restatement 

showed that ARCP’s Class Period consolidated financial statements (i.e., balance sheets, statements 

of operations, statements of comprehensive loss, statements of changes in equity and statements of 

cash flows) contained numerous material accounting errors and misstatements achieved via no fewer 

than three dozen different artifices.  For example, the Restatement showed that ARCP understated 

net losses attributable to stockholders by as much as 26%, and understated operating losses by as 

much as 15%. 
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171. The Restatement was required to correct myriad GAAP violations and financial 

reporting improprieties, including: 

 ARCP regularly and improperly classified ordinary business expenses as “merger-
related,” which, in turn, inflated AFFO and gave investors the false impression that 
such expenses were not recurring in nature.  As restated, the expenses were 
reclassified as general and administrative expenses. 

 Numerous expenses were recorded in the incorrect accounting period.  This practice 
delayed expense recognition and understated reported expenses and net losses.  As 
restated, the expenses were recorded in the periods in which they were actually 
incurred. 

 On multiple occasions, ARCP improperly classified management fees paid to ARCP-
related entities as being merger and other non-routine transaction-related. This 
practice masked related-party transactions, inflated AFFO, and gave investors the 
false impression that such expenses were not recurring in nature.  As restated, the 
expenses were reclassified as management fees to affiliates. 

 On multiple occasions, ARCP recorded payments made to Schorsch-controlled 
entities as a purchase of furniture and equipment, when in fact, there was “no 
evidence of the receipt” to substantiate the existence of any such furniture or 
equipment.  This practice overstated assets and understated expenses and net losses.  
ARCP restated the payments by writing off the amounts. 

 On multiple occasions, ARCP failed to record expenses for stock awards granted to 
directors.  This practice understated expenses and net losses.  As restated, these 
expenses were recognized and recorded. 

 ARCP failed to record expenses to recognize impairment of its properties.  This 
practice understated expenses and losses and inflated AFFO.  When restated, these 
expenses were recognized and recorded. 

172. Importantly, ARCP’s GAAP violations were inextricably tied to the overstatement of 

FFO and AFFO.  In other words, because ARCP’s GAAP amounts were incorrect, the Company’s 

FFO and AFFO, which were calculated using those GAAP amounts, were incorrect as well.  For 

example, the starting point for calculating FFO and AFFO was ARCP’s GAAP net loss/net income.  

Thus, when ARCP understated its net loss or overstated its net income, this necessarily inflated 

ARCP’s FFO and AFFO.  Similarly, the expense adjustments, which were also used to calculate 
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AFFO, were GAAP-based expenses as well.  Again, since those GAAP-based adjustments were 

incorrect, AFFO was also misstated. 

ARCP’s Financial Statements Did Not Comply with GAAP 

173. ARCP’s Restatement confirmed that defendants committed numerous and varied 

GAAP violations and financial reporting improprieties.9 

174. The Restatement was due to the material misstatement of, among other things, 

ARCP’s: (i) operating loss; (ii) loss from continuing operations; (iii) net loss; and (iv) net loss per 

share, as detailed in ARCP’s Amended 2013 Form 10-K, Amended 1Q14 Form 10-Q and Amended 

2Q14 Form 10-Q.  For example, reported net loss was understated in FY13 and in three of the six 

restated quarters. 

175. Defendants perpetrated these improprieties through a host of accounting schemes and 

manipulations, the majority of which can be generally classified as one of the following: (i) 

misclassification of expenses (described at ¶176); (ii) understatement of expenses (described at 

¶¶177-183); (iii) equity awards for defendants contained provisions more favorable than had been 

authorized (described at ¶184); and (iv) improperly accounting for losses on disposal and goodwill 

(described at ¶¶185-188).  Defendants also exploited ARCP’s deficient controls, which facilitated 

the accounting manipulations (described at ¶¶196-202). 

ARCP Misclassified Expenses 

176. ARCP misled investors and violated GAAP by misclassifying ordinary business 

expenses (i.e., recurring operating expenses) as merger and other non-routine transaction-related 

                                                 
9 The filings amended due to falsity include ARCP’s amended Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2013 (the “2013 Amended Form 10-K”) and its amended Forms 10-Q for the quarter 
ended March 31, 2014 (the “1Q14 Amended Form 10-Q”) and the quarter ended June 30, 2014 (the 
“2Q14 Amended Form 10-Q”).  The 2013 Amended Form 10-K, 1Q14 Amended Form 10-Q and 
2Q14 Amended Form 10-Q are collectively referred to herein as the “amended SEC filings.” 
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expenses.  These GAAP violations had the effect of inflating AFFO and giving investors the false 

impression that such expenses were not routine in nature and thus would not be recurring in future 

accounting periods.  Investors would not have considered merger-related expenses as normal costs 

the Company incurs as a result of performing its normal business operations, but rather as one-time 

expenses that were related to the particular merger(s) entered into during that period.  Such 

acquisition-related expenses are excluded in the calculation of AFFO.  Thus, ARCP’s 

mischaracterization of operating expenses as expenses that would not continue in future periods, 

including those described below, violated GAAP, inflated AFFO and misled investors to believe that 

such expenses would not have a negative impact on future profits: 

 General & Administrative Expenses.  ARCP improperly classified $75.7 million of 
general and administrative expenses as “merger-related” in FY13.  ARCP also 
improperly classified $14.5 million of general and administrative expenses as 
“merger-related” in the six months ended June 30, 2014.  The largest component of 
the amount misclassified in FY13 was $59.6 million of equity-based compensation 
expense relating to the OPP. 

 Management Fees.  On multiple occasions, the Company improperly classified 
management fees paid to affiliates as merger-related which masked related-party 
transactions and gave investors the false impression that such expenses were not 
routine in nature.  ARCP identified $13.0 million and $13.9 million of management 
fees that were improperly classified as merger and other non-routine transaction-
related expenses in 1Q13 and 1Q14, respectively. 

 Deferred Financing Costs.  ARCP improperly recorded as merger and other non-
routine transaction-related expenses costs that should have been capitalized as 
deferred financing costs and amortized accordingly in the amount of $1.0 million 
(1Q13), $1.2 million (3Q13), $5.9 million (FY13), $20.6 million (1Q14) and $0.8 
million (2Q14).  As a result of capitalizing these deferred financing costs, additional 
interest expense of $0.6 million (1Q13), $2.3 million (FY13), $8.7 million (1Q14), 
and $1.3 million (2Q14) was recorded. 

ARCP’s Understated Expenses 

177. ARCP understated its net losses by improperly and continually understating expenses 

throughout the Class Period.  GAAP requires expenses to be recorded in the period they are incurred.  
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This concept, that expenses be recorded in the same period in which the corresponding benefit is 

realized, is one of the most basic tenets underlying accrual accounting.  ARCP instead systematically 

engaged in a scheme of improperly timing expense recognition, typically understating its expenses in 

a current period and/or improperly delaying expense recognition for as long as possible. 

178. ARCP achieved this improper timing of expense recognition in at least the following 

ways, detailed below in ¶¶179-183. 

ARCP Deferred Expenses to Later Periods 

179. Defendants understated ARCP’s loss by improperly deferring current period expenses 

to subsequent periods, using a variety of methods, including the following examples: 

 Deferred Merger-Related Expenses.  ARCP failed to record $14.5 million of 
merger and other non-routine transaction-related expenses that were “incorrectly 
excluded” from the 2013 financial statements.  Instead, ARCP delayed recording this 
expense, and the associated increase in net loss, until 1Q14.  ARCP also failed to 
record $1.2 million of merger and other non-routine transaction-related expenses that 
were incorrectly excluded from the 2Q14 financial statements. 

 Deferred Bonus Accruals.  ARCP admittedly failed to record bonus expenses on a 
timely basis.  $1.8 million in bonuses paid in 2014 should have been, but were not, 
recorded as an accrued expense for FY13.  Additionally, annual bonuses of $5.8 
million should have been accrued for and expensed as of and for 2Q14, in 
accordance with ARCP’s accounting policy of accruing estimated bonuses 
throughout the year, but were not. 

 Deferred Merger-Related Transfer Tax Liability.  ARCP recorded transfer tax 
liabilities in incorrect accounting periods.  ARCP improperly understated its loss by 
excluding certain merger and non-routine transaction-related expenses during 2013.  
ARCP should have recorded a controlling interest transfer tax liability upon 
consummation of the ARCT III Merger and ARCP’s merger with CapLease totaling 
$1.1 million and $8.9 million for 1Q13 and FY13, respectively.  These accruals and 
corresponding merger and other non-routine transaction-related expenses were 
improperly excluded from the 2013 financial statements. 

 Deferred Accounting for Stock Awards Granted.  The documentation of awards 
granted to ARCP directors provided for accelerated vesting of shares upon voluntary 
resignation of the directors.  As a result, there was no required service period for the 
vesting of such awards and, thus, GAAP required that the full amount be expensed 
because awards that vest immediately should be recognized at the grant date.  In 
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connection with the Restatement, ARCP corrected this accounting by recording $3.3 
million as a general and administrative expense during 1Q14. 

 Deferred General and Administrative Expenses.  ARCP restated its financial 
statements to reflect general and administrative expenses that were recorded in the 
incorrect period.  This correction required recording additional general and 
administrative expenses of $1.7 million (1Q14) and $0.9 million (2Q14). 

 Deferred Depreciation and Acquisition Related Expenses.  The Restatement 
admits that ARCP’s 1Q14 depreciation expense and acquisition related expenses 
were under-expensed by $2.3 million and $0.6 million, respectively, based on its 
accounting for certain properties acquired in 2013.  ARCP delayed recording these 
amounts until 2Q14 instead of in 1Q14.  ARCP has also admitted that it did not 
properly record $6.0 million of depreciation expense for real estate properties 
acquired during 1Q14, and that this too had been expensed in 2Q14 instead of 1Q14. 

 Deferred Interest Expense.  ARCP admittedly understated interest expense related 
to a swap by $1.4 million in 1Q14. 

ARCP Improperly Capitalized Expenses 

180. ARCP also improperly capitalized non-capitalizable expenses as assets and 

improperly amortized them over time rather than properly expensing them when incurred.  GAAP 

requires that acquisition-related costs be recorded as expenses in the periods in which the costs are 

incurred.  By improperly capitalizing these costs, ARCP recorded assets so that they would slowly 

be depreciated over the estimated life of the asset, rather than expensed immediately as incurred, 

which resulted in an artificial inflation in ARCP’s reported financial performance. 

181. On multiple occasions, ARCP recorded the supposed acquisition of furniture, fixtures 

and equipment (“FF&E”) from other ARCP-related entities when there was “no evidence” to 

substantiate the existence of any such assets.  For example, as admitted in the Restatement, upon 

consummation of the ARCT III Merger in 1Q13, ARCP entered into an agreement with an ARCP 

affiliate to acquire certain FF&E and other assets.  ARCP originally capitalized $4.1 million of 

FF&E costs and expensed $1.7 million of costs in 1Q13.  However, there was no evidence of the 

receipt of any FF&E and ARCP has now acknowledged it could not support the value of the FF&E 
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purportedly acquired.  The same situation occurred in 1Q14 upon consummation of the ARCT IV 

Merger, resulting in the improper capitalization of $2.1 million in that quarter.  As part of the 

Restatement, ARCP expensed the amounts originally capitalized – $4.1 million and $2.1 million – 

and recognized the expenses in merger and other non-routine transaction-related expenses in 1Q13 

and 1Q14, respectively. 

ARCP Failed to Write Down the Value of Impaired Assets 

182. ARCP failed to monitor events and changes in circumstances that could indicate that 

the carrying amount of its real estate and related assets may not be recoverable, in violation of 

GAAP.  ARCP belatedly performed a detailed analysis of the portfolio in connection with the 

Restatement and noted four properties with impairment indicators.  ARCP assessed the 

recoverability of the carrying amounts of such properties as of the date in which such indicators 

existed, and noted two properties with carrying amounts in excess of their expected undiscounted 

cash flows.  As a result, ARCP reduced the carrying amount of the real estate and related net assets 

to their estimated fair values by recognizing an impairment loss of $2.1 million and $3.3 million for 

3Q13 and FY13 in accordance with GAAP, which requires that an impairment loss be measured as 

the amount by which the carrying amount of a long-lived asset exceeds its fair value. 

183. Additionally, ARCP failed to properly classify certain property as held for sale as of 

June 30, 2014.  GAAP requires that a long-lived asset classified as held for sale be measured at the 

lower of its carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell.  In connection with the Restatement, 

ARCP classified the property as held for sale, adjusted the fair value of the property at that date and 

recognized a loss on held for sale assets of $1.8 million for 2Q14. 
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ARCP’s Equity Awards for Defendants Contained Provisions More Favorable than Had 
Been Authorized 

 
184. The ARCP Management Defendants failed to comply with the directives set by the 

Compensation Committee.  As ARCP later admitted, equity awards made to Schorsch and Block in 

connection with ARCP’s transition from external to internal management were altered such that they 

“contained vesting provisions that, as drafted, were more favorable to them than the Compensation 

Committee had authorized.”  In addition, the Compensation Committee approved the OPP that 

contained a maximum award pool opportunity based upon ARCP’s equity market capitalization as of 

the date of the OPP’s approval in October 2013, equaling approximately $120 million.  Yet, the 

ARCP Management Defendants implemented the OPP with a maximum award pool approximately 

$100 million greater, which was derived from a pro forma equity market capitalization as of January 

8, 2014.10  These manipulations resulted in a misstatement of $8.4 million to stock-based 

compensation reported in general and administrative expense for the six months ended June 30, 2014 

– $6.3 million in 1Q14 and $2.2 million in 2Q14. 

ARCP Improperly Accounted for Losses on Disposals and Goodwill 

185. Subsequent to the CapLease Merger in 2013, ARCP disposed of certain properties 

acquired in that transaction.  The disposition of such properties resulted in a net loss on disposition; 

however, ARCP improperly accounted for such losses by adjusting its purchase price allocation to 

increase the amount of goodwill and decrease the associated real estate investments recorded in 

connection with the CapLease Merger by $12 million when it reissued its recast financial statements 

to reflect the common control merger with ARCT IV.  In the Restatement, ARCP reversed the 

                                                 
10 The amended 2Q14 Form 10-Q filed March 2, 2015, states that the maximum award pool as 
altered by ARCP management was $218.1 million, but ARCP had previously claimed in the April 
29, 2014 Proxy Statement that the award pool would be $222.1 million. 
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measurement period adjustments made to goodwill and related assets and liabilities acquired in the 

CapLease Merger and recognized a net loss on the dispositions in 2014 when the dispositions 

occurred. 

186. Similarly, in 1Q14, subsequent to both the CapLease and Cole Mergers, ARCP 

disposed of certain properties acquired in those mergers.  The disposition of such properties resulted 

in a net loss on disposition in 1Q14 and a net gain in 2Q14; however, ARCP incorrectly adjusted its 

purchase price allocation by increasing its goodwill recorded in connection with the mergers by 

$13.6 million in 1Q14 and by $2.6 million in 2Q14.  In the Restatement, ARCP reversed the 

measurement period adjustments made to goodwill and recognized a net loss on dispositions for 

1Q14 and a net gain on disposition for 2Q14. 

187. In addition, ARCP recorded a decrease to goodwill of $0.6 million for FY13 to reflect 

valid measurement period adjustments that were identified subsequent to the initial purchase price 

allocation.  ARCP also identified certain liabilities assumed and subsequent payments of such 

liabilities by the former manager from the CapLease Merger that were not recorded properly.  To 

correct the inaccurate accounting, ARCP increased goodwill by $3.0 million, decreased merger and 

non-routine transaction-related expenses by $0.7 million and increased the equity contributions by 

$2.3 million. 

188. Furthermore, ARCP assigned goodwill associated with certain mergers to ARCP’S 

Real Estate Investment segment.  However, ARCP determined that it did not properly account for 

disposals of real estate because a portion of goodwill was not included in the carrying amount of the 

associated real estate in its determination of the gain or loss on disposition.  To correct the inaccurate 

accounting, ARCP allocated $7.0 million and $2.2 million of goodwill to real estate dispositions in 

1Q14 and 2Q14, respectively, which increased the loss on disposition of properties recognized. 
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ARCP’s AFFO and FFO Were Also Materially False and Misleading 

189. As part of the March 2, 2015 Restatement, ARCP further admitted that it materially 

misstated its FFO and AFFO for each and every year that ARCP has been a public company:  

fiscal years 2011, 2012 and 2013, and interim quarters ended March 31, 2013, June 30, 2013, 

September 30, 2013, December 31, 2013, March 31, 2014 and June 30, 2014, as detailed in the chart 

below: 

 
 

190. The 2013 Amended Form 10-K filed in connection with the Restatement also 

included, in pertinent part, the following admissions with respect to the Company’s previously 

disclosed AFFO: 

The investigation found that Adjusted Funds From Operations (“AFFO”), a non-
GAAP measure presented in the Company’s SEC filings and other financial 
communications, was overstated for fiscal year 2011, fiscal year 2012, fiscal year 
2013 (including each fiscal quarter of 2013) and, as previously disclosed in the 
October 29 8-K, the first two fiscal quarters of 2014.  Senior management 
considered AFFO to be an important metric used by analysts and investors in 
evaluating the Company’s performance and, for the first two quarters of 2014, 
sought to maintain reported AFFO within the 2014 guidance range of $1.13 to 
$1.19 per share announced at the end of 2013.  The overstatements of AFFO were 
due in part to errors in reflecting amounts attributable to the limited partnership 
interests in the Company’s operating partnership, ARC Properties Operating 
Partnership, L.P., held by holders other than the Company (known as non-controlling 
interests or “NCI”).  Prior to the filing of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for 
the first quarter of 2014, some members of senior management were aware of NCI 
errors but allowed the report to be filed without completing an analysis of the 
errors.  In the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the second quarter of 
2014, as previously reported in the October 29 8-K, the NCI errors in the first 
quarter were intentionally not corrected, and other AFFO and financial statement 
errors were intentionally made, resulting in an overstatement of AFFO and an 
understatement of the Company’s net loss for the three and six months ended June 
30, 2014. 

FY11 FY12 1Q13 2Q13 3Q13 4Q13 FY13 1Q14 2Q14

AFFO per share - Reported 0.60$  0.47$  0.20$  0.19$  0.30$  0.38$  1.07$  0.26$  0.24$  

AFFO per share - Restated 0.56$  0.46$  0.10$  0.18$  0.28$  0.29$  0.87$  0.19$  0.21$  

% Overstated 7.1% 2.2% 100.0% 5.6% 7.1% 31.0% 23.0% 36.8% 14.3%

American Realty Capital Properties, Inc.

AFFO Per Share

Misstatements
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191. The amended SEC filings also disclose that the financials defendants reported to 

investors during the Class Period were false because: 

 “The Company failed to implement and maintain an effective internal control 
environment that had appropriate processes to manage the changes in business 
conditions resulting from the volume and complexity of its 2013 and first quarter 
2014 transactions, combined with the pressure of market expectations inherent in 
announcing AFFO per share guidance for 2014”; 

 “[T]he Company has determined that it is appropriate to include certain adjustments 
that were not included in the previously reported AFFO calculation”; and 

 “[T]he Company has determined that it was not appropriate to adjust for operating 
fees incurred to affiliates as these expenses represent operating expenses that are 
typical for the industry.” 

ARCP’s Financial Misstatements Were Material 

192. ARCP restated its financial statements for FY12, FY13, and 1Q13-4Q13, 1Q14 and 

2Q14, due to numerous and varied violations of GAAP and financial reporting improprieties, which 

were material.  For example, these GAAP violations and financial reporting improprieties caused 

operating loss to be understated by as much as 15% and net loss attributable to stockholders to be 

understated as much as 26%; ARCP’s cash flow to be understated by 27.2% and 13.6% in 1Q13 and 

1Q14, respectively.  These misstatements, among others, were quantitatively material. 

193. In addition, ARCP has admitted that its previously issued FFO and AFFO financial 

measures for each of the above periods, as well as for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011, were 

materially misstated, as depicted above in the chart in ¶189.  These AFFO misstatements were 

quantitatively material. 

194. Moreover, even quantitatively small financial misstatements may be material if 

management has intentionally made adjustments to various financial statement items in a manner 

inconsistent with GAAP.  ARCP’s financial misstatements during the Class Period were admittedly 
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caused by “intentional” acts of ARCP’s senior management, and thus were also qualitatively 

material. 

195. Volatility of the price of a registrant’s securities in response to certain types of 

disclosures may provide guidance as to whether investors regard quantitatively small misstatements 

as material.  When ARCP first disclosed its financial misstatements to the market, the price of its 

common stock declined more than 19%, and its market capitalization collapsed by more than $3 

billion.  This also demonstrates the qualitative materiality of ARCP’s misstatements. 

ARCP’s Material Weaknesses in Internal Controls 

196. In each quarter during the Class Period, ARCP’s annual and quarterly SEC filings 

contained certifications signed by Schorsch and Block pursuant to §302 of SOX, attesting that the 

financial information contained in the filing was true, that it did not omit material facts, and that the 

Company’s internal and disclosure controls were effective.  See ¶¶204-284. 

197. The Restatement shows that ARCP’s internal controls over finance reporting were 

materially deficient and were circumvented by defendants.  Among the key controls that were 

improperly designed or implemented are controls: 

 to ensure that the information contained in ARCP’s periodic reports and other SEC 
filings correctly reflected the information contained in ARCP’s accounting records 
and other supporting information and that AFFO per share was correctly calculated; 

 to ensure that its SEC filings were reviewed on a timely basis by senior management 
or that significant changes to amounts or other disclosures contained in a document 
that had previously been reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee were 
brought to the attention of the Audit Committee or its Chair for review and approval 
before the documents were filed with the SEC; and 

 over the formulation of AFFO per share guidance or the periodic re-assessment of 
the Company’s ability to meet its guidance. 

198. As detailed in the Restatement, there were also material weaknesses in ARCP’s 

internal control over financial reporting relating to: 
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 related-party transactions and conflicts of interest; 

 grants of equity-based compensation; 

 business process-level control activities and financial reporting controls; 

 critical accounting estimates and non-routine transactions; 

 cash reconciliations and monitoring; 

 information technology controls; and 

 the control environment. 

199. With regard to the related-party transactions and conflicts of interest, ARCP did not 

maintain appropriate controls to assess, authorize and monitor related-party transactions, validate the 

appropriateness of such transactions or manage the risks arising from contractual relationships with 

affiliates.  Without the appropriate controls, ARCP was able to make certain payments to the ARC 

Advisors and its affiliates that went unchallenged and were not sufficiently documented. 

200. With regard to the failure to maintain appropriate controls over various grants of 

equity-based compensation, in 4Q13, the Company entered into employment agreements with 

Schorsch and Block and also approved the OPP pursuant to which awards were made to them on 

January 8, 2014.  Without the appropriate controls, Schorsch and Block would receive compensation 

that was inconsistent with the terms authorized by the Compensation Committee.  Additionally, 

ARCP did not obtain copies of or administer the equity awards made by means of block grants 

allocated by ARC Advisors and its affiliates, nor did ARCP review the awards for consistency with 

the Compensation Committee’s authorization. 

201. Further, the material weakness resulting from business process-level control activities 

and financial reporting controls affected the accounting close process and critical accounting 

estimates and non-routine transactions.  ARCP did not have consistent policies and procedures 

relating to purchase accounting, accounting for gain or loss on disposition and testing for 
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impairment.  In addition, senior management did not establish clear reporting lines and job 

responsibilities or promote accountability over business process control activities.  ARCP did not 

maintain effective controls or develop standardized policies and procedures for critical accounting 

estimates and non-routine transactions, including management review and approval of the 

accounting treatment of all critical and significant estimates on a periodic basis. 

202. The Restatement confirmed that ARCP also failed to implement procedures 

reasonably designed to prevent accounting irregularities.  For example, ARCP failed to ensure that 

controls were in place to develop necessary accounting policies and procedures, to properly monitor 

related-party transactions, to review equity awards for compliance with authorized terms, and to 

review and approve critical and significant estimates.  It failed to ensure that transactions were 

reported in accordance with its own policies and with GAAP. 

Defendants’ Dissemination of False and Misleading Statements in Furtherance of Their 
Wrongful Course of Business 

ARCP Initial Public Offering 

203. The Class Period begins on September 7, 2011, with the closing of ARCP’s IPO of its 

common stock through a registration statement and prospectus (“IPO Registration Statement”), 

which raised proceeds of $69,750,000.  The IPO Registration Statement stated that ARCP had 

prepared its financial statements “in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 

United States of America [which] requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 

affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 

at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 

reporting period.” 
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Third Quarter 2011 Financial Results 

204. On November 14, 2011, ARCP issued a release announcing its financial results for 

the third quarter, ended September 30, 2011 (“3Q11”).  The Company reported 3Q11 AFFO of 

$287,000, or $0.17 per share, and a net loss of ($634,000) or ($0.42) per share.  That same day, 

ARCP also filed with the SEC its Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2011 (the “3Q11 

Form 10-Q”).  The 3Q11 Form 10-Q was signed by Schorsch and Block and reiterated ARCP’s 

previously reported financial results.  It also represented that these financial results were accurate.  In 

addition, the 3Q11 Form 10-Q (and each of ARCP’s quarterly and annual reports filed with the SEC 

described herein) contained certifications signed by Schorsch and Block identical in all material 

respects to the certification quoted in ¶¶54-55. 

Fourth Quarter 2011 Financial Results 

205. On March 19, 2012, ARCP issued a release announcing its financial results for the 

fourth quarter, ended December 31, 2011 (“4Q11”).  ARCP reported AFFO of $1,491,000, or $0.23 

per share, and a net loss of ($1,117,000), or ($0.17) per share. That same day, ARCP filed with the 

SEC its Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 (the “2011 Form 10-K”).  Schorsch, 

Block, Weil and Rendell signed the 2011 Form 10-K, which reiterated ARCP’s previously reported 

financial results.  It also represented that these financial results were accurate.  The 2011 Form 10-K 

further stated that ARCP’s internal controls were effective and that any material changes to its 

internal controls over financial reporting were disclosed therein.  The Form 10-K included 

certifications by Schorsch and Block pursuant to SOX, which were identical in all material respects 

to the certifications quoted in ¶¶54-55. 
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206. The statements made above in ¶¶203-205 were each false and misleading when made 

in that each omitted and/or misrepresented material facts.  The true facts, which were then known to 

or recklessly disregarded by ARCP, Schorsch and Block, were: 

(a) that as to ¶¶204-205, reported 3Q11 and 4Q11 AFFO of $287,000 and $1.49 

million, respectively, were false and the product of fraudulent accounting manipulations, including 

changes made to accounting entries without evidentiary support; 

(b) that as to ¶¶204-205, the financial statements and/or AFFO calculations in 

ARCP’s 3Q11 Form 10-Q and 2011 Form 10-K were false and misleading, as detailed in ¶¶170-195, 

supra; 

(c) that ARCP lacked the internal controls necessary to ensure that: (i) ARCP’s 

SEC filings were timely reviewed for accuracy, (ii) the estimates used to formulate ARCP’s AFFO 

were reasonable and appropriately calculated; (iii) ARCP’s reported AFFO was accurate; and (iv) 

ARCP was able to assess, authorize and monitor related-party transactions that were generating 

millions of dollars in payments to ARC Advisors and its affiliates – all entities owned and/or 

controlled by Schorsch, Block, Kahane, Budko and Weil – without proper documentation, as 

detailed in ¶¶196-202; 

(d) that Schorsch and Block were aware from their review and evaluation of the 

effectiveness of ARCP’s internal controls and financial reporting processes that ARCP lacked 

reliable internal controls over financial reporting; 

(e) that as a result of (a)-(d), above ARCP, Schorsch and Block had no reasonable 

basis to believe, and in fact did not believe, that ARCP’s financial statements were accurate and free 

from material misstatements. 
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First Quarter 2012 Financial Results 

207. On May 8, 2012, ARCP issued a release announcing its financial results for the first 

quarter, ended March 31, 2012 (“1Q12”).  ARCP reported a 1Q12 AFFO of $1,583,000, or $0.22 per 

share, and a net loss of ($630,000), or ($0.09) per share. 

208. On May 9, 2012, ARCP filed its Form 10-Q for the period ended March 30, 2012 

with the SEC (the “1Q12 Form 10-Q”).  Schorsch and Block signed the 1Q12 Form 10-Q, which 

reiterated ARCP’s previously reported financial results.  It also represented that the financial results 

contained therein were accurate, that ARCP’s internal controls were effective and that any material 

changes to ARCP’s internal controls over financial reporting were disclosed.  The 1Q12 Form 10-Q 

also included Schorsch’s and Block’s certifications pursuant to SOX, identical in all material 

respects to the certification quoted in ¶¶54-55. 

209. On or about June 18, 2012, ARCP raised $30.5 million via the sale of 3.25 million 

newly issued shares of ARCP common stock at $10 per share (the “June 2012 Equity Offering”), 

pursuant to a false registration statement filed May 25, 2012, along with a prospectus filed June 14, 

2012, which was incorporated therein (collectively, the “June 2012 Equity Offering Documents”).  

The June 2012 Equity Offering Documents included ARCP’s 1Q12 financial results, as well as its 

1Q12 AFFO. 

210. The statements detailed above in ¶¶207-209 were each false and misleading when 

made in that each omitted and/or misrepresented material facts.  The true facts, which were then 

known to or recklessly disregarded by ARCP, Schorsch and Block, were: 

(a) that ARCP’s 1Q12 financial statements, including its reported 1Q12 AFFO of 

$1,583,000, were materially false, did not accurately portray ARCP’s financial performance and 

were not prepared in accordance with GAAP, as detailed in ¶¶170-195; 
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(b) that as a result of Schorsch and Block’s review and evaluation of the 

effectiveness of ARCP’s internal controls and financial reporting processes in connection with the 

filing of ARCP’s 1Q12 Form 10-Q, they were aware that ARCP lacked reliable internal financial 

controls, including procedures and controls necessary to allow ARCP to: (i) calculate basic 

performance information, such as the calculation of AFFO – the most fundamental metric to a REIT 

investor; (ii) formulate AFFO guidance or periodically reassess ARCP’s ability to meet its AFFO 

guidance; (iii) ensure that the Audit Committee approved material changes management made to 

ARCP’s SEC filings and public statements before dissemination; (iv) calculate and track 

multimillion dollar grants of equity-based compensation; and (v) undertake basic reconciliation and 

monitoring functions necessary to enable ARCP to timely record and reconcile cash payments 

received by ARCP; and 

(c) that ARCP lacked the controls necessary to assess, authorize or monitor 

related-party transactions that were generating millions of dollars in payments to ARC Advisors and 

its affiliates – all entitied owned and/or controlled by Schorsch, Block, Kahane, Budko and Weil – 

without proper documentation, as detailed in ¶¶196-202. 

Second Quarter 2012 Financial Results 

211. On July 31, 2012, ARCP issued a release announcing its financial results for the 

second quarter, ended June 30, 2012 (“2Q12”), including a net loss of ($2.04 million), or ($0.28) per 

share, and AFFO of $1.9 million, or $0.25 per share. 

212. On August 1, 2012, ARCP filed its Form 10-Q with the SEC for the period ended 

June 30, 2012 (the “2Q12 Form 10-Q”).  The 2Q12 Form 10-Q was signed by Schorsch and Block.  

The 2Q12 Form 10-Q reiterated ARCP’s previously reported financial results and represented that 

those financial results were accurate.  It also represented that ARCP’s internal controls were 
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effective and that any material changes to internal controls over financial reporting were disclosed 

therein.  The 2Q12 Form 10-Q also included Schorsch’s and Block’s certifications pursuant to SOX, 

identical in all material respects to the certification quoted in ¶¶54-55. 

213. The statements referenced above in ¶¶211-212 were each false and misleading when 

made in that each omitted and/or misrepresented material facts.  The true facts, which were then 

known to or recklessly disregarded by ARCP, Schorsch and Block, were: 

(a) that ARCP’s 1Q12 and 2Q12 financial statements, including its 1Q12 AFFO 

and 2Q12 AFFO of $1.583 million and $1.9 million, respectively, were false, did not accurately 

portray ARCP’s financial performance and were not prepared in accordance with GAAP, as detailed 

in ¶¶170-195; 

(b) that ARCP lacked internal financial controls sufficient to enable it to: (i) 

accurately calculate AFFO or future estimates thereof; and (ii) assess, authorize and monitor related-

party transactions that were generating millions of dollars in payments to ARC Advisors and its 

affiliates – all entities owned and/or controlled by Schorsch, Block, Kahane, Budko and Weil – 

without proper documentation, as detailed in ¶¶196-202; and 

(c) that the earnings and AFFO ARCP reported for the last half of 2011 and the 

first half of 2012 were the product of accounting manipulations overseen by Block and Schorsch, as 

detailed in ¶¶170-202. 

Third Quarter 2012 Financial Results 

214. On October 29, 2012, ARCP issued a release announcing its financial results for the 

third quarter, ended September 30, 2012 (“3Q12”).  ARCP reported 3Q12 AFFO of $3.1 million, or 

$0.28 per share, and a net loss of ($804,000), or ($0.09) per share.  Commenting on ARCP’s “core 

earnings,” Block remarked: 
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During the quarter ended September 30, 2012, the Company generated AFFO of 
$3.1 million, or $0.28 per share computed using basic weighted average shares 
outstanding.  This represents a 15.0% increase in AFFO per share compared to the 
second quarter ended June 30, 2012. 

215. Also on October 29, 2012, ARCP filed its Form 10-Q with the SEC for the period 

ended September 30, 2012 (the “3Q12 Form 10-Q”), which was signed by Schorsch and Block, and 

reiterated ARCP’s previously reported financial results, represented that those financial results were 

accurate, represented that ARCP’s internal controls were effective, represented that any material 

changes to internal controls over financial reporting were disclosed, and included Schorsch’s and 

Block’s certifications pursuant to SOX, identical in all material respects to the certification quoted in 

¶¶54-55. 

216. On October 30, 2012, ARCP also held a conference call with analysts and investors to 

discuss ARCP’s 3Q12 financial results.  During the conference call, Block reiterated the 3Q12 

AFFO results disclosed in the October 29, 2012 release, while Schorsch commented that the 3Q12 

results demonstrated that their strategy permitted them to “grow three quarters in a row substantially 

our AFFO, which we believe is our primary measure.” 

217. The statements referenced above in ¶¶214-216 were each false and misleading when 

made in that each omitted and/or they misrepresented material facts.  The true facts, which were then 

known to or recklessly disregarded by ARCP, Schorsch and Block, were: 

(a) that ARCP’s reported 2Q12 AFFO of $1.9 million, as well as ARCP’s 3Q12 

financial results, including its AFFO of $3.1 million, were false and were not prepared in accordance 

with GAAP, as detailed in ¶¶170-195; 

(b) that ARCP had not grown its AFFO “substantially” for three sequential 

quarters but rather ARCP had been able to report purportedly strong and consistent AFFO growth 

only by falsifying its reported financial performance, as detailed in ¶¶170-195; 
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(c) that ARCP’s acquisition program was not designed to bolster ARCP’s “core 

earnings” but rather to generate hundreds of millions in related-party transactional fees and 

compensation payments for ARCP executives and other parties affiliated with Schorsch-controlled 

companies, as detailed in ¶¶133-135, 141-143; 

(d) that ARCP lacked reliable internal financial controls sufficient to enable it to: 

(i) accurately calculate its AFFO and future estimates thereof, or periodically reassess its ability to 

meet existing AFFO guidance; and (ii) assess, authorize and monitor related-party transactions that 

were generating millions of dollars in payments to ARC Advisors and its affiliates – all entities 

owned and/or controlled by Schorsch, Block, Kahane, Budko and Weil – without proper 

documentation, as described in ¶¶196-202; and 

(e) that Schorsch’s and Block’s review and evaluation of the effectiveness of 

ARCP’s internal controls and financial reporting processes had confirmed that ARCP lacked reliable 

internal financial controls. 

ARCT III Merger 

218. On January 22, 2013, ARCP caused a Registration Statement on Form S-4 and Joint 

Proxy Statement/Prospectus (collectively, the “ARCT III Registration Statement/Proxy”) to be filed 

with the SEC.  A copy of the merger agreement for the transaction was attached as Annex A to the 

ARCT III Registration Statement/Proxy and was incorporated by reference therein.  The ARCT III 

Registration Statement/Proxy was signed by Schorsch, Weil, Michelson and Block and incorporated 

by reference in ARCP’s 2011 Form 10-K, 1Q12 Form 10-Q, 2Q12 Form 10-Q and 3Q12 Form 10-

Q, each of which was signed by Schorsch and Block and contained ARCP’s financial results for the 

respective quarter. 

219. Section 5.7(c) of the ARCT III Merger Agreement represented that: 
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(a) ARCP and its subsidiaries “maintain a system of internal accounting 
controls sufficient to provide reasonable assurances regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes 
in accordance with GAAP.” 

(b) the members of the audit committee of ARCP’s Board of Directors 
had been informed of “all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the 
design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting that are reasonably 
likely to adversely affect [ARCP’s] ability to record, process, summarize and report 
financial data.”  

220. 5.7(c) of the ARCT III Merger Agreement further represented that: 

[ARCP] ha[d] established and maintains disclosure controls and procedures (as such 
term is defined in Rule 13a-15 promulgated under the Exchange Act) designed to 
ensure that material information relating to [ARCP] required to be included in reports 
filed under the Exchange Act, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known 
to [ARCP’s] principal executive officer and its principal financial officer by others 
within those entities, particularly during the periods in which the periodic reports 
required under the Exchange Act are being prepared, and, to the knowledge of 
[ARCP], such disclosure controls and procedures are effective in timely alerting 
[ARCP’s] principal executive officer and its principal financial officer to material 
information required to be included in [ARCP’s] periodic reports required under the 
Exchange Act.  

221. The statements referenced above in ¶¶218-219 were each false and misleading when 

made in that each omitted and/or misrepresented material facts.  The true facts, which were then 

known to or recklessly disregarded by ARCP, Schorsch and Block, were: 

(a) that ARCP lacked internal financial controls sufficient to enable it to: (i) 

accurately calculate AFFO and future estimates thereof, and periodically reassess ARCP’s ability to 

meet existing AFFO guidance; and (ii) assess, authorize and monitor related-party transactions that 

were generating millions of dollars in payments to ARC Advisors and its affiliates – all entities 

owned and/or controlled by Schorsch, Block, Kahane, Budko and Weil – without proper 

documentation, as described in ¶¶196-202; 

(b) that ARCP’s FY11, 1Q12, 2Q12 and 3Q12 reported financial results, 

including AFFO, were false and could not be relied upon, as they were the product of improper 
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accounting and inadequate internal controls, as detailed in ¶¶170-202, and, ex post facto, have been 

restated; 

(c) that the ARCT III Merger was designed to generate hundreds of millions in 

related-party transactional fees and compensation payments to ARCP executives and other parties 

affiliated with Schorsch-controlled companies, as detailed in ¶¶133-135, 141-143, including the 

payment of more than $100 million in fees and expenses relating specifically to the ARCT III 

Merger; 

(d) that significant deficiencies and material weaknesses over financial controls 

then existed and were likely to adversely affect ARCP’s ability to accurately report financial data, 

including that ARCP did not maintain disclosure controls and procedures necessary to timely alert its 

principal executive officer and principal financial officer to material information required to be 

included in the Company’s periodic reports; 

(e) that ARCP’s SEC filings did not comply with the requirements of the federal 

securities laws in that the financial statements incorporated therein did not include all adjustments 

necessary for a fair presentation of the Company’s financial information; and 

(f) that the evaluation of the effectiveness of ARCP’s disclosure controls and 

procedures, which Block and Schorsch supervised and participated in, in connection with the 

preparation and dissemination of the Company’s interim 2012 financial statements, confirmed that 

the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were neither adequate nor reliable, as detailed in 

¶¶196-202. 

Fourth Quarter 2012 Financial Results 

222. On February 28, 2013, ARCP issued a release announcing its financial results for the 

fourth quarter of 2012 (“4Q12”) and FY12, including 4Q12 AFFO of $3.4 million, or $0.28 per 
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share, and FY12 AFFO of $10.5 million, or $1.08 per share, a net loss of ($7.3 million), or ($0.84) 

per share.  Schorsch extolled the success and growth ARCP reported during FY12, stating that, 

“[o]ur first full calendar year of operations has seen us exceed our financial projections across the 

board . . . .”  That same day, ARCP filed with the SEC the 2012 Form 10-K, signed by Schorsch and 

Block, that contained the false and misleading statements described in ¶¶53-55. 

223. Later that day, ARCP held a conference call with analysts and investors to discuss the 

Company’s 4Q12 and FY12 financial results.  During the conference call, Block discussed ARCP’s 

4Q12 and FY12 AFFO, and reiterated the 2013 AFFO guidance of $0.91 to $0.95 per share and 

2014 AFFO guidance of $1.06 to $1.10 per share. Block emphasized that the Company expected to 

see a “16% AFFO growth year over year.” 

224. The statements referenced above in ¶¶222-223 were each false and misleading when 

made in that each omitted and/or misrepresented material facts.  The true facts, which were then 

known to or recklessly disregarded by ARCP, Schorsch and Block, were: 

(a) that ARCP’s 4Q12 and FY12 financial statements were false, did not 

accurately portray ARCP’s financial performance during those periods and were not prepared in 

accordance with GAAP, as detailed in ¶¶170-195; 

(b) that ARCP had not exceeded its FY12 financial projections, as its reported 

FY12 financial performance and AFFO were the product of financial engineering, as detailed in 

¶¶170-195; 

(c) that ARCP lacked reliable internal financial controls sufficient to enable it to: 

(i) accurately calculate AFFO and future estimates thereof, or periodically reassess its ability to meet 

existing AFFO guidance; and (ii) assess, authorize and monitor related-party transactions that were 

generating millions of dollars in payments to ARC Advisors and its affiliates – all entities owned 
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and/or controlled by Schorsch, Block, Kahane, Budko and Weil – without proper documentation, as 

detailed in ¶¶196-202; 

(d) that Schorsch’s and Block’s review of the Company’s internal controls and 

financial reporting processes in connection with filing the 2012 Form 10-K confirmed that ARCP 

lacked reliable internal financial controls; 

(e) that in issuing guidance of 16% AFFO growth for 2014, Block and Schorsch 

assumed their ability to continue to (i) manipulate ARCP’s financial statements by misclassifying 

ordinary general and administrative expenses as extraordinary merger and other non-routine 

transaction-related expenses; and (ii) conceal the ongoing transfer of assets to ARC Advisors and 

other entities affiliated with Schorsch and Block under the guise of acquisition related costs; 

(f) that as a result of (a)-(e), above, ARCP, Schorsch and Block had no 

reasonable basis to believe, and in fact did not believe, ARCP’s financial statements did not contain 

material misstatements; and 

(g) that as a result of (a)-(f), above, ARCP, Schorsch and Block had no reasonable 

basis to believe, and in fact did not believe, their 2013 and 2014 AFFO guidance of $0.91-$0.95 per 

share and $1.06-$1.10 per share, respectively, was achievable. 

225. On March 14, 2013, ARCP filed the 2013 Shelf Registration Statement with the SEC.  

The 2013 Shelf Registration Statement incorporated by reference certain documents to be filed with 

the SEC, including reports on Form 10-K and 10-Q.  Schorsch, Weil, Block, Jones, Kahane, Rendell, 

Michelson and Bowman signed the 2013 Shelf Registration Statement. 

First Quarter 2013 Financial Results 

226. On May 6, 2013, ARCP issued a release announcing its financial results for 1Q13.  

ARCP reported 1Q13 AFFO of $30.8 million, or $0.20 per fully diluted share, compared to AFFO of 
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$3.4 million during the fourth quarter of 2012.  ARCP further reported a net loss of ($137.9 million), 

or ($0.90) per share.  That same day, ARCP also filed with the SEC the 1Q13 Form 10-Q, signed by 

Schorsch and Block, that contained the false and misleading statements described in ¶¶54-56. 

227. The statements referenced above in ¶226 were each false and misleading when made 

in that each omitted and/or misrepresented material facts.  The true facts, which were then known to 

or recklessly disregarded by ARCP, Schorsch and Block, were: 

(a) that ARCP’s reported AFFO of $0.20 per share represented an overstatement 

of 100% and as such did not accurately reflect ARCP’S actual performance, as detailed in ¶¶170-

195; 

(b) that ARCP’s 1Q13 financial statements were materially false and misleading, 

did not accurately portray ARCP’s financial performance and were not prepared in accordance with 

GAAP, as detailed in ¶¶170-195; 

(c) that ARCP lacked adequate internal controls, which prevented it from 

accurately computing its reported AFFO and net earnings/losses, including: (i) basic systems to 

reconcile cash accounts; and (ii) a process by which senior management approved critical accounting 

estimates and non-routine transactions and/or provided for audit committee review of the same; and 

(d) that ARCP lacked the internal controls to assess, calculate and account for 

payments made to ARC Advisors, ARCP’s external manager, and its affiliates and/or provide for 

review and approval of equity awards allocated to ARC Advisors’ employees responsible for 

ARCP’s operations. 

ARCT IV Merger Announcement 

228. On July 2, 2013, ARCP issued a release announcing that it had entered into a 

definitive merger agreement to acquire the outstanding shares of ARCT IV – a publicly registered, 
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non-traded REIT controlled by Schorsch.  Block commented on the proposed merger, stating in 

pertinent part, “[d]ue to the relative value of our stock offer versus cash consideration, we reasonably 

expect the acquisition of ARCT IV will be completed primarily through the issuance of ARCP 

common stock.” 

July 2013 Offering 

229. On July 23, 2013, ARCP announced a $300 million offering of 3.0% Convertible 

Senior Notes due August 1, 2018.  The July 2013 Offering was conducted pursuant to the 2013 Shelf 

Registration Statement, a Pricing Term Sheet dated July 23, 2013, Free Writing Prospectuses dated 

July 23 and filed on July 24, 2013, and Prospectus Supplements dated July 23 and 25, 2013.  The 

July 2013 Offering Materials, signed by Schorsch and Block, specifically incorporated by reference 

the 2012 Form 10-K and 1Q13 Form 10-Q. 

Second Quarter 2013 Financial Results 

230. On August 6, 2013, ARCP issued a release announcing “[r]ecord” results for 2Q13.  

For the quarter, ARCP reported AFFO of $32.8 million, or $0.19 per share, and a net loss of ($51.7 

million), or ($0.32) per share.  That same day, ARCP also filed with the SEC the 2Q13 Form 10-Q, 

signed by Schorsch and Block, that contained the false and misleading statements described in ¶¶54-

56. 

231. The statements referenced above in ¶¶229-230 were each false and misleading when 

made in that each omitted and/or misrepresented material facts.  The true facts, which were then 

known to or recklessly disregarded by ARCP, Schorsch and Block, were: 

(a) that ARCP’s FY12, 1Q13 and 2Q13 financial statements and reported AFFO 

were materially false and misleading, did not accurately portray ARCP’s financial performance and 

were not prepared in accordance with GAAP, as detailed in ¶¶170-195; 
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(b) that ARCP lacked adequate internal controls in several respects, as detailed in 

¶¶196-202, including controls necessary to (i) enable ARCP to ensure that its 2Q13 SEC filings were 

reviewed timely; (ii) formulate AFFO guidance and/or periodically reassess ARCP’s ability to meet 

that guidance; and (iii) assess, authorize and monitor related-party transactions that were resulting in 

payments to ARCP’s external manager and its affiliates – all entities controlled by Schorsch – that 

were not sufficiently documented or otherwise warrant scrutiny; and 

(c) that as a result of (a)-(b), above, ARCP, Schorsch and Block had no 

reasonable basis to believe, and in fact did not believe, ARCP’s financial statements did not contain 

material misstatements. 

Cole Merger Announcement 

232. On or about October 22, 2013, ARCP and Cole Inc. entered into the Cole Merger 

Agreement whereby Cole Inc. shareholders were to receive, at their election, 1.0929 shares of ARCP 

common stock or $13.82 in cash per Cole Inc. share. 

233. The following day, on October 23, 2013, ARCP and Cole Inc. issued a joint release 

concerning the proposed $11.2 billion merger, which, if consummated, would create the country’s 

largest net REIT.  In connection with the proposed merger, ARCP issued “updated 2014 AFFO 

guidance of $1.13 to $1.19 per share, an increase of approximately 25% over . . . 2013 AFFO per 

share guidance of $0.91 to $0.95.”  Schorsch commented on the proposed Cole Merger, in pertinent 

part, “[b]oth companies share the same vision, namely to drive value for stockholders by placing 

their interests ahead of our own, aligning pay with performance, and reporting fully and 

transparently.” 

234. Later that day, ARCP held a conference call with analysts and investors.  During the 

conference call, Schorsch extolled the benefits of the proposed Cole Merger: 
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This is an epic transaction.  Great companies combining in a win-win to the 
shareholders, the employees and the broker-dealer systems that we work with. 

The portfolios just fit.  They fit very, very well.  We’re a much stronger company.  
We . . . have both proven ourselves.  And if you look back at the last six months, as 
we’ve gone through this transaction, we as a company have improved at ARCP – 
we’ve become investment-grade rated; we’ve managed our balance sheet and a 
number of other mergers to build a larger company of over $10 billion on a pro 
forma basis. . . . And today, we have created, with this merger, the largest net lease 
company on the globe. 

Third Quarter 2013 Financial Results 

235. On November 7, 2013, ARCP issued a release announcing its financial results for 

3Q13.  For the quarter, ARCP reported AFFO of $46.7 million, or $0.21 per share, representing a 

quarter-to-quarter increase of over 42%.  Schorsch commented on ARCP’s financial results, stating 

in pertinent part: 

We have continued to build enterprise value during this third quarter, and for now 
are intently focused on execution . . . .  In this regard, we have identified several 
near-term key objectives: completing the announced ARCT IV and Cole 
transactions; becoming self-managed and significantly broadening our intellectual 
capital by continuing to attract the best and brightest managers in the industry; 
deleveraging and terming out our balance sheet utilizing long-term, fixed rate debt; 
and effectively and seamlessly integrating Cole organization. 

* * * 

We are fully committed to becoming self-managed, as promised . . . . In fact, it is a 
closing condition for our merger with Cole.  We will announce the President of 
ARCP before year-end.  We have already moved to bolster our team with several key 
hires.  Brian Block, our CFO, will now be focused exclusively on ARCP.  Lisa 
Beeson joins us as COO after 25 years as an investment banker with tremendous 
M&A and capital markets expertise.  Lisa Pavelka McAlister is our new CAO with 
25 years’ experience in senior financial roles versed in all aspects of financial and 
accounting operations. 

236. On November 7, 2013, ARCP also filed with the SEC the 3Q13 Form 10-Q, signed 

by Schorsch and Block, that contained the false and misleading statements described in ¶¶54-56. 
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237. The statements referenced above in ¶¶233-236 were each false and misleading when 

made in that each omitted and/or misrepresented material facts.  The true facts, which were then 

known to or recklessly disregarded by ARCP, Schorsch and Block, were: 

(a) that ARCP’s 3Q13 financial statements were false, did not accurately portray 

ARCP’s financial performance during those periods and were not prepared in accordance with 

GAAP, as detailed in ¶¶170-195; 

(b) that ARCP, Schorsch and Block’s representations in ARCP’s 3Q13 SEC 

filings with respect to internal controls and financial reporting processes were false and misleading, 

as detailed in ¶¶196-202, in that ARCP lacked adequate internal controls to: (i) ensure that its SEC 

filings were reviewed timely; (ii) formulate AFFO guidance and periodically reassess ARCP’s 

ability to meet AFFO guidance; and (iii) assess, authorize and monitor millions of dollars of related-

party payments to ARCP’s external manager and its affiliates – all entities owned and/or controlled 

by Schorsch, Block, Kahane, Budko and Weil; 

(c) that the Cole Merger was designed to and did permit the payment of $37 

million in related-party transactional fees and compensation payments to ARCP insiders and other 

parties affiliated with Schorsch;  

(d) that as a result of (a)-(c) above, ARCP, Schorsch and Block had no reasonable 

basis to believe, and in fact did not believe, that ARCP’s financial statements did not contain 

material misstatements; and 

(e) that as a result of (a)-(d) above, ARCP, Schorsch and Block had no reasonable 

basis to believe, and in fact did not believe, their 2014 AFFO guidance of $1.13 to $1.19 per share. 
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ARCT IV Merger 

238. On December 3, 2013, a Registration Statement and Joint Proxy 

Statement/Prospectus relating to the ARCT IV merger (collectively, the “ARCT IV Registration 

Statement/Proxy”) was filed with the SEC.  A copy of the merger agreement for the transaction was 

attached as Annex A and was incorporated by reference therein.  The ARCT IV Registration 

Statement/Proxy was reviewed and signed by Schorsch, Weil, Kahane, Michelson, Rendell, 

Bowman, Budko, Block, Beeson and Stanley. 

239. ARCP’s 2012 Form 10-K, 1Q13 Form 10-Q, 2Q13 Form 10-Q and 3Q13 Form 10-Q, 

which Schorsch and Block signed, were each incorporated by reference in the ARCT IV Registration 

Statement/Proxy, which itself assured investors that: 

[W]e, under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer 
and Chief Financial Officer, carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of our 
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of 
the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q and determined that the disclosure controls and procedures are effective. 

240. The ARCT IV Merger Agreement repeated in all material respects the same 

representations concerning ARCP’s internal controls, disclosures and SEC filings quoted in ¶¶219-

220 from the ARCT III Merger Agreement. 

241. On December 3, 2013, the ARCT IV Registration Statement/Proxy was disseminated 

to shareholders and, among other things, presented ARCP’s audited FY12 financial data and 

unaudited financial data for the first nine months of 2013, ended September 30, 2013, and 

represented that “[i]n ARCP’s opinion, such unaudited financial statements include all adjustments 

(consisting of normal recurring adjustments) necessary for a fair presentation of the interim 

September 30, 2013 financial information.”  All of these financial statements have been restated. 
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242. The statements referenced above in ¶¶238-241 were each false and misleading when 

made in that each omitted and/or misrepresented material facts.  The true facts, which were then 

known to or recklessly disregarded by ARCP, Schorsch and Block, were: 

(a) that ARCP’s financial statements for FY12, 1Q 2013, 2Q13, and 3Q13 were 

false, did not accurately portray ARCP’s financial performance for those periods and were not 

prepared in accordance with GAAP, as detailed in ¶¶170-195; 

(b) that ARCP, Schorsch and Block’s representations with respect to internal 

controls and financial reporting processes were false and misleading, as detailed in ¶¶196-202, in 

that ARCP lacked adequate internal controls to: (i) ensure that its SEC filings were reviewed timely; 

(ii) formulate AFFO guidance and periodically reassess ARCP’s ability to meet AFFO guidance; and 

(iii) assess, authorize and monitor millions of dollars of related-party payments to ARCP’s external 

manager and its affiliates; and 

(c) that as a result of (a)-(b) above, ARCP, Schorsch and Block had no reasonable 

basis to believe, and in fact did not believe, that ARCP’s financial statements did not contain 

material misstatements. 

December 2013 Debt Offerings 

243. On December 4, 2013, ARCP announced the December 2013 Reopening.  The 

December 2013 Reopening was conducted pursuant to the 2013 Shelf Registration Statement, which 

incorporated a Pricing Term Sheet and Free Writing Prospectuses dated December 5, 2013, and 

Prospectus Supplements dated December 5, 6, and 9, 2013; an offering of 3.75% Convertible Senior 

Notes due December 15, 2020, which were ultimately priced at $402.5 million.  The December 2013 

Offering was conducted pursuant to the 2013 Shelf Registration Statement, which incorporated a 

Pricing Term Sheet dated December 5, 2013, and Prospectus Supplements dated December 5, 6 and 
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9, 2013; and the December 2013 Reopening Materials and the December 2013 Offering Materials 

were signed by Schorsch and Block and specifically incorporated by reference ARCP’s 2012 Form 

10-K, 1Q13 Form 10-Q, 2Q13 Form 10-Q, and 3Q13 Form 10-Q. 

244. The statements referenced above in ¶243 were each false and misleading when made 

in that each omitted and/or misrepresented material facts.  The true facts, which were then known to 

or recklessly disregarded by ARCP, Schorsch and Block, were: 

(a) that ARCP’s financial statements for FY12, 1Q13, 2Q13, and 3Q13 were 

false, did not accurately portray ARCP’s financial performance for those periods and were not 

prepared in accordance with GAAP, as detailed in ¶¶170-195; 

(b) that ARCP, Schorsch and Block’s representations with respect to internal 

controls and financial reporting processes were false and misleading, as detailed in ¶¶196-202, in 

that ARCP lacked adequate internal controls to: (i) ensure that its SEC filings were reviewed timely; 

(ii) formulate AFFO guidance and periodically reassess ARCP’s ability to meet AFFO guidance; and 

(iii) assess, authorize and monitor millions of dollars of related-party payments to ARCP’s external 

manager and its affiliates; and 

(c) that as a result of (a)-(b) above, ARCP, Schorsch and Block had no reasonable 

basis to believe, and in fact did not believe, that ARCP’s financial statements did not contain 

material misstatements. 

Cole Merger 

245. On or about December 23, 2013, ARCP filed a Registration Statement on Form S-4, 

which incorporated a Joint Proxy Statement/Prospectus in connection with the proposed merger 

(collectively, the “Cole Registration Statement/Proxy”).  The Cole Registration Statement/Proxy, 
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which Schorsch and Block signed,  attached a copy of the Cole Merger Agreement, which was 

incorporated therein. 

246. ARCP’s 2012 Form 10-K, 1Q13 Form 10-Q, 2Q13 Form 10-Q and 3Q13 Form 10-Q, 

each were incorporated by reference into the Cole Registration Statement/Proxy, which itself assured 

investors that: 

[W]e, under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer 
and Chief Financial Officer, carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of our 
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of 
the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q and determined that the disclosure controls and procedures are effective. 

247. The Cole Merger Agreement repeated in all material respects the same 

representations concerning ARCP’s internal controls, disclosures and SEC filings quoted in ¶¶219-

220 of the ARCT III Merger Agreement. 

248. On December 23, 2013, the Cole Registration Statement/Proxy was disseminated to 

Cole Inc. and ARCP shareholders and, among other things, presented ARCP’s audited FY12 

financial data and unaudited financial data for the first nine months of 2013, ended September 30, 

2013, and represented that “[i]n ARCP’s opinion, such unaudited financial statements include all 

adjustments (consisting of normal recurring adjustments) necessary for a fair presentation of the 

interim September 30, 2013 financial information.”  All of these financial statements have been 

restated. 

249. The statements referenced above in ¶¶245-248 were each materially false and 

misleading when made in that it omitted and/or misrepresented material facts.  The true facts, which 

were then known to or recklessly disregarded by ARCP, Schorsch and Block, were: 

(a) that ARCP’s reported financial results for FY12, 1Q13, 2Q13 and 3Q13, 

including ARCP’s reported AFFO and net loss, were false and the product of improper accounting 
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and inadequate internal controls.  Indeed, as detailed in ¶¶170-195, ARCP since has restated its 2012 

and 2013 financial statements and 2012 and 2013 AFFO; 

(b) that ARCP did not maintain a system of internal controls sufficient to provide 

reasonable assurances regarding the reliability of its financial reporting, or to formulate or evaluate 

ARCP’s ability to meet its AFFO guidance, as described in ¶¶196-202; 

(c) that ARCP, Schorsch and Block failed to disclose material weaknesses that 

they were aware had been and would continue to adversely affect ARCP’s ability to accurately 

report financial data, including the fact that ARCP lacked disclosure controls and procedures 

necessary to timely alert its principal executive officer and principal financial officer to material 

information required to be included in ARCP’s periodic reports; 

(d) that ARCP’s filings with the SEC did not comply with the federal securities 

laws, as its financial statements failed to include all adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of 

ARCP’s financial information; 

(e) that ARCP was in the midst of an acquisition campaign designed to generate 

hundreds of millions in transactional fees and compensation payments for Schorsch and ARCP 

insiders, as well as other ARCP-affiliated entities, without regard to the fairness or merits of the 

underlying transaction; 

(f) that the evaluation of the effectiveness of ARCP’s disclosure controls and 

procedures, which Block and Schorsch supervised and participated in relating to the preparation and 

dissemination of ARCP’s interim 2013 financial statements and its 2012 Form 10-K, confirmed that 

ARCP’s disclosure controls and procedures were inadequate in several regards, as detailed in ¶¶196-

202; and 
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(g) that as a result of (a)-(f), above, ARCP, Schorsch and Block had no reasonable 

basis to believe, and did not in fact believe, their statements detailed herein about ARCP, its 

financial performance or its AFFO estimates. 

February 2014 Notes Offering 

250. On February 6, 2014, ARCP completed a $2.55 billion February Notes Offering of 

2.0% Senior Notes due February 6, 2017, 3.0% Senior Notes due February 6, 2019, and 4.6% Senior 

Notes due February 6, 2024 (the “Senior Notes”) (the “February Notes Offering”).  The February 

Notes Offering was conducted by way of an Offering Memorandum pursuant to Securities Act Rule 

144A, by which the initial purchasers purchase the securities from the issuers and resell them 

pursuant to an SEC regulation providing for re-sales of unregistered securities to “Qualified 

Institutional Buyers.”11 

251. TIAA-CREF, National Pension Fund and other members of the Class purchased the 

Senior Notes sold by ARC Properties with the understanding and expectation that the Senior Notes 

would later be exchanged for freely tradable registered bonds in the second step Exxon Capital 

Exchange Offer. 

252. TIAA-CREF, National Pension Fund and other members of the Class purchased the 

unregistered Senior Notes based upon the statements contained in the Prospectus.  The Prospectus 

stated that ARCP and ARC Properties “furnished the information contained or incorporated by 

reference in this offering memorandum” and set forth ARCP’s reported financial and operating 

                                                 
11 The February Notes Offering was the first step in a two-step process known as an “Exxon 
Capital Exchange.”  The second step, the “Exxon Capital Exchange Offer,” is the means by which 
the 144A notes are converted into registered, freely tradable securities.  In practice, the Rule 
144A/Exxon Capital framework does not differ from registration.  Issuers and their underwriters 
prepare the offering memoranda for Rule 144A offerings in contemplation of the Exxon Capital 
Exchange Offer and, accordingly, prepare such documents to conform in all material respects to a 
registered offering. 
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results, including AFFO, for FY12 and the nine-months ended September 30, 2013, while 

incorporating by reference ARCP’s 2012 Form 10-K, 1Q13 Form 10-Q, 2Q13 Form 10-Q and 3Q13 

Form 10-Q, each signed by Schorsch and Block. The Offering Memorandum also ensured investors 

that: 

[W]e, under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer 
and Chief Financial Officer, carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of our 
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of 
the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q and determined that the disclosure controls and procedures are effective. 

253. The Offering Memorandum also represented that ARCP’s January 8, 2014 transition 

to internal management “has eliminated conflicts of interests associated with an external advisor.” 

254. The statements referenced above in ¶¶250-253 were each false and misleading when 

made in that each omitted and/or misrepresented material facts.  The true facts, which were then 

known to or recklessly disregarded by ARCP, Schorsch and Block, were: 

(a) that ARCP’s financial statements for FY12, 1Q13, 2Q13, and 3Q13 were 

false, did not accurately portray ARCP’s financial performance for those periods and were not 

prepared in accordance with GAAP, as detailed in ¶¶170-195; 

(b) that ARCP, Schorsch and Block’s representations with respect to internal 

controls and financial reporting processes were false and misleading, as detailed in ¶¶196-202, in 

that ARCP lacked adequate internal controls to: (i) ensure that its SEC filings were reviewed timely; 

(ii) formulate AFFO guidance and periodically reassess ARCP’s ability to meet AFFO guidance; and 

(iii) assess, authorize and monitor millions of dollars of related-party payments to ARCP’s external 

manager and its affiliates; and 
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(c) that as a result of (a)-(b) above, ARCP, Schorsch and Block had no reasonable 

basis to believe, and in fact did not believe, that ARCP’s financial statements did not contain 

material misstatements. 

Fourth Quarter 2013 Financial Results 

255. On February 27, 2014, ARCP issued a release announcing its financial results for 

4Q13 and FY13.  The release emphasized that ARCP generated “record operating results for the full 

year ended December 31, 2013[.]”  For 4Q13, ARCP reported AFFO of $55.8 million, a year-over-

year increase of 153%, or $0.25 per share, a year-over-year increase of 108% and a net loss of 

($157.8 million), or ($0.85) per share.  For FY13, ARCP reported AFFO of $163.9 million, an 

increase of 240% from 2012, or $0.86 per share, an increase of over 80% from 2012 and a net loss of 

($406.5 million), or ($2.36) per share. 

256. On February 27, 2014, ARCP also filed the 2013 Form 10-K that contained the false 

and misleading statements described in ¶¶54-55, 57.  The 2013 Form 10-K was signed by Schorsch, 

Beeson, Block, Kay and McAlister. 

257. Later that day, ARCP held a conference call with analysts and investors to discuss 

ARCP’s 4Q13 and FY13 financial results.  During the conference call, Schorsch confirmed that 

“[o]ur earnings guidance is solid,” and even “with room for upside[.]”  Block likewise stated in 

pertinent part: 

Based on the strength of our acquisitions, success in our private capital management 
business, strategic execution of our balance sheet initiatives, and the continued 
savings in G&A costs, we comfortably affirm our 2014 AFFO guidance of $1.13 to 
$1.19 per share. 

* * * 

We currently have today 812.5 million shares and share equivalents outstanding on a 
fully diluted basis.  The end result of all these numbers I just mentioned is a run 
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rate of around $1.11 to $1.13 per share AFFO.  Again, this number is a run rate 
through what we know today. 

If we didn’t do anything else as of April 1, we would achieve this roughly $1.12 per 
share for the prospective 12 months.  We of course will continue to acquire more 
than the $1 billion we’ve discussed over the next nine months, and therefore 
achieve higher results. 

258. During the conference call, Block responded to an analyst’s question about ARCP’s 

full year 2014 AFFO per share guidance, stating in pertinent part: 

Chris Lucas – Capital One Securities – Analyst: 

Okay.  And then, again related to guidance, Brian, just in terms of getting to the low 
end of the numbers we should just assume that $1.13 at the low end is reflective of 
just essentially what you talked about before, which is what’s done and nothing 
more?  Is that effectively how we should be thinking about the low end? 

Defendant Block: 

That’s correct.  To repeat Chris, if we didn’t do anything past March 31, we would 
be at the low end of the range, notwithstanding the fact that we have a lot more 
acquisition potential for the duration of the year. 

259. Also during the call, Beeson highlighted ARCP’s “acquisition machine” as the 

mechanism driving ARCP’s strong performance.  Beeson stated in pertinent part: 

Josh Patinkin – BMO Capital Markets – Analyst: 

Okay.  And is that, you think, what enabled you such an attractive initial yield, going 
into smaller deal size? 

Defendant Beeson: 

Absolutely.  That is how we distinguish ourselves.  No other company has the 
acquisition machine that we have built here, that enables us to cost effectively do 
smaller one-off transactions, and that’s how we’re able to get the pricing 
differential. 

We can buy three assets at a 7.75% or an 8% cap that another competitor buys in a 
portfolio at a 6, 7% cap.  That’s a significant spread differential, and we do that 
because we’re able to, and we’ll do granular level acquisitions. 
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260. The statements referenced above in ¶¶255-259 were each false and misleading when 

made in that each omitted and/or misrepresented material facts.  The true facts, which were then 

known to or recklessly disregarded by ARCP, Schorsch, Block, Beeson, Kay and McAlister, were: 

(a) that ARCP’s reported 4Q13 AFFO was overstated by 31%, while its FY13 

AFFO was overstated by 23%, as detailed in ¶¶170-195; 

(b) that ARCP’s 4Q13 and FY13 financial statements were false, did not 

accurately portray ARCP’s financial performance and were not prepared in accordance with GAAP, 

as detailed in ¶¶170-195; 

(c) that ARCP, Schorsch, Block, Beeson, Kay and McAlister were aware that the 

AFFO reported by ARCP was false because McAlister had repeatedly informed Schorsch, Kay, 

Block and other members of senior management, including Beeson, by at least February 2014 that 

ARCP’s AFFO calculations improperly accounted for costs attributed to non-controlling interests in 

ARC Properties, thus falsifying the AFFO numbers disseminated by ARCP; 

(d) that the AFFO provided to investors remained inflated as a result of Kay’s 

instruction to Block and McAlister not to correct ARCP’s fraudulent reports, thereby avoiding public 

disclosure of ARCP’s faltering financial performance; 

(e) that ARCP lacked adequate internal controls to: (i) ensure that its SEC filings 

were timely reviewed; (ii) ensure that grants of equity-based compensation were consistent with 

those approved by the Board; (iii) formulate AFFO guidance and periodically reassess the 

Company’s ability to meet its AFFO guidance; and (iv) assess, authorize and monitor improperly 

documented related-party transactions that resulted in payments to ARCP’s external manager and its 

affiliates – all entities controlled by Schorsch and other ARCP insiders; 

Case 1:15-mc-00040-AKH   Document 312   Filed 09/30/16   Page 104 of 240



 

- 100 - 
1186483_1 

(f) that the “acquisition machine” that Beeson contended was driving ARCP’s 

performance was predicated on Block, Beeson, Kay, Schorsch and McAlister’s falsification of 

ARCP’s financial results; and 

(g) that the ARCP “acquisition machine” was designed to generate nearly $200 

million in compensation payments and fees for Schorsch-controlled entities in 2013; and 

(h) that as a result of (a)-(g), above, ARCP, Schorsch and Block had no 

reasonable basis to believe, and in fact did not believe, their 2014 AFFO guidance of $1.13-$1.19 

per share or that their AFFO guidance had “room for upside.” 

First Quarter 2014 Financial Results 

261. On May 8, 2014, ARCP issued a release announcing its financial results for 1Q14.  

The release emphasized that ARCP had achieved “Record First Quarter 2014 Operating Results.”  

ARCP reported AFFO available to common stockholders of $147.4 million, or $0.26 per share, 

representing a year-over-year increase of 334.6%. Kay commented on ARCP’s financial results, 

stating in pertinent part: 

With our acquisitions team firing on all cylinders, every aspect of our business is 
exceeding our expectations . . . .  With strong earnings, our acquisition volume is 
outpacing our guidance, our cap rates surpass all industry peers, Cole Capital 
launched two new products, and we successfully integrated our management and 
systems, all of which is allowing us to execute with a disciplined intensity.  The $1.7 
billion of acquisitions we have closed or placed under contract were at a 7.92% cash 
cap rate or 8.26% GAAP cap rate.  These 150 self-originated transactions are 
indicative of the scale and expertise of our platform, providing a significant 
competitive advantage. 

262. Beeson further noted that ARCP’s “improved operational and financial efficiencies” 

had positioned ARCP “well to drive meaningful growth.” 

263. On May 8, 2014, ARCP also filed with the SEC the 1Q14 Form 10-Q, signed by 

Schorsch and Block, that contained the false and misleading statements described in ¶¶54-55, 58. 
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264. Later that day, ARCP held a conference call with analysts and investors to discuss 

ARCP’s 1Q14 financial results.  During the conference call, Beeson discussed various aspects of the 

Company’s operations and net lease portfolio, noting how ARCP had “successfully integrated over 

300 individuals from the multiple entities into one cohesive enterprise,” and confirming that the 

respective accounting systems had likewise been “fully integrated as well.” 

265. When Schorsch, Kay, Block and Beeson completed their prepared remarks, the call 

was opened up for questions.  In response to questions from one analyst, Schorsch emphasized that 

investors should be buyers of ARCP stock as “we’re way undervalued,” noting that “our stock is 

cheap.” 

266. The statements referenced above in ¶¶261-265 were each false and misleading when 

made in that each omitted and/or misrepresented material facts.  The true facts, which were then 

known to or recklessly disregarded by ARCP, Schorsch, Block, Beeson and Kay, were: 

(a) that ARCP’s reported 1Q14 AFFO of $147 million, or $0.26 per share, 

represented overstatements of 35% and 37% respectively, as detailed in ¶¶170-195; 

(b) that ARCP was not experiencing “improved operational efficiencies” nor was 

it positioned for meaningful growth, as ARCP lacked reliable financial controls and, as a result, was 

issuing false financial reports, including inflated AFFO, to the market; 

(c) that ARCP, Schorsch, Block, Kay and Beeson were aware that the 1Q14 Form 

10-Q was false as McAlister had “repeatedly” informed Schorsch, Kay, Block and other members of 

senior management, including Beeson, that ARCP’s AFFO calculation improperly accounted for 

costs that should have been attributed to non-controlling interests in ARC Properties; 
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(d) that ARCP provided false AFFO to investors for 1Q14 upon Kay’s instruction 

to Block and McAlister not to change or correct the fraudulent reports, in an effort to conceal 

ARCP’s faltering financial performance; 

(e) that ARCP’s 1Q14 financial statements were false, did not accurately portray 

ARCP’s financial performance and were not prepared in accordance with GAAP, as detailed in 

¶¶170-195; 

(f) that, as detailed in ¶¶196-202, ARCP lacked adequate internal controls, 

including controls to ensure, among other things, that ARCP’s Code of Conduct was adhered to and 

that employees would not be pressured to make inappropriate decisions concerning the formulation 

of ARCP’s financial statements or calculation of AFFO; 

(g) that ARCP had not successfully integrated its financial systems or operations 

“into one cohesive enterprise,” as it lacked even the most basic accounting functions, including a 

standardized internal accounting close and cash reconciliation process; and 

(h) that ARCP was not generating “strong earnings” nor was its stock cheap nor 

undervalued, as its financial results for FY13 and 1Q14 were the product of fraudulent 

manipulations, as detailed in ¶¶159-163, including its AFFO per share, which was overstated by 

23% and 37%, respectively. 

May 21, 2014 Secondary Offering 

267. On May 21, 2014, ARCP entered into the May 21 Equity Offering, raising $1.65 

billion from investors pursuant to the false and misleading 2013 Shelf Registration Statement, which 

incorporated a preliminary Prospectus Supplement filed May 21, 2014 and a Prospectus Supplement 

filed May 23, 2014.  The May 21 Equity Offering Materials were signed by ARCP, Schorsch and 

Block. 
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268. The May 21 Equity Offering Materials incorporated by reference ARCP’s 2012 Form 

10-K, 2013 Form 10-K and its 1Q14 Form 10-Q, each of which represented that: (i) the financial 

results contained therein were accurate and presented in accordance with GAAP; and (ii) ARCP’s 

internal controls were effective and any material changes to internal controls over financial reporting 

had been disclosed.  Each of the 2012 Form 10-K, 2013 Form 10-K and 1Q14 Form 10-Q also 

included false and misleading certifications Schorsch and Block executed and filed pursuant to SOX. 

269. The statements referenced above in ¶¶267-268 were each false and misleading when 

made in that each omitted and/or misrepresented material facts.  The true facts, which were then 

known to or recklessly disregarded by ARCP, Schorsch and Block, were: 

(a) that ARCP’s financial statements for FY12, FY13 and 1Q14, which were 

incorporated into the May 21 Equity Offering Materials, were false, did not accurately portray 

ARCP’s financial performance and were not prepared in accordance with GAAP, as detailed in 

¶¶170-195; 

(b) that ARCP, Schorsch and Block were aware that the financial statements for 

FY13 and 1Q14 were false as McAlister had “repeatedly” informed Schorsch, Kay, Block and other 

members of senior management, including Beeson, that ARCP’s AFFO calculation improperly 

accounted for costs that should have been attributed to non-controlling interests in ARC Properties; 

(c) that ARCP provided false AFFO to investors for FY13 and 1Q14 upon Kay’s 

instruction to Block and McAlister not to change or correct the fraudulent reports, in an effort to 

conceal ARCP’s faltering financial performance; and 

(d) that, as detailed in ¶¶196-202, ARCP lacked adequate internal controls, 

including controls to ensure, among other things, that ARCP’s Code of Conduct was adhered to and 
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that employees would not be pressured to make inappropriate decisions concerning the formulation 

of ARCP’s financial statements or calculation of AFFO. 

Second Quarter 2014 Financial Results 

270. On July 29, 2014, ARCP issued a release announcing its financial results for 2Q14.  

For the quarter, ARCP reported AFFO of $205.3 million, representing a year-over-year increase of 

429.0%, or $0.24 per fully diluted share, representing a year-over-year increase of 26%.  ARCP also 

reported a net loss of ($40.3 million), or ($0.08) per share. 

271. Noting that ARCP’s use of AFFO was designed to “provide a more complete 

understanding of our performance relative to our peers and a more informed and appropriate basis on 

which to make decisions involving operating, financing and investing activities,” Kay and Schorsch 

commented on ARCP’s financial results, stating in pertinent part: 

Defendant Kay: 

Our second quarter results and accomplishments are indicative of our focus on 
driving long-term value by delivering on our commitments . . . . we are positioned 
for long-term success. 

Defendant Schorsch: 

. . . I have continued to focus my attention on improving corporate governance . . . .  
With the support of our Board of Directors, we are improving our practices by 
eliminating related-party transactions, enhancing disclosures, evaluating executive 
compensation, opting out of the MUTA to assure our stockholders’ right to elect the 
entire Board at each annual meeting, and implementing other policies designed to 
improve our reporting and transparency, further align interest with our stockholders, 
and eliminate potential conflicts of interest. Our goal is to constantly improve our 
corporate governance, which we expect will ultimately be reflected in our corporate 
governance scores.  All of these efforts are taken with a view toward creating long-
term value for stockholders. 

272. On July 29, 2014, ARCP also filed with the SEC the 2Q14 Form 10-Q, signed by 

Schorsch, Block and McAlister, that contained the false and misleading statements described in 

¶¶54-55, 58. 
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273. Later that day, ARCP held a conference call with analysts and investors to discuss 

ARCP’s 2Q14 financial results.  During the conference call, Kay and Block stated in pertinent part: 

Defendant Kay: 

. . . From afar, it may appear at times our rapid growth is hard to understand.  I can 
assure you, however, that everything we do is directed towards a singular objective: 
to create value for our shareholders. . . . 

* * * 

Defendant Block: 

Our second-quarter results are in line with our expectations. . . . AFFO was $198.6 
million, or $0.24 per fully diluted share, which represents a 26% increase from this 
period last year. . . .  

* * * 

Additionally, our internal operations continues to strengthen.  The synergy created 
by the integration of the Cole team and the adoption of new technology has 
allowed us to be more timely and efficient in our financial reporting.  In fact, this 
enhanced scale allowed us to move up the timing of our 10-Q filing and earnings call 
as a result of these improvements by roughly a week. 

274. The statements referenced above in ¶¶270-273 were each false and misleading when 

made in that each omitted and/or misrepresented material facts.  The true facts, which were then 

known to or recklessly disregarded by ARCP, Schorsch, Block, Kay and McAlister, were: 

(a) that ARCP’s reported financial results for 2Q14 were false, including its 

reported AFFO of $0.24 per share, which represented an overstatement of more than 14%, and its 

reported net loss of $40.3 million which represented an overstatement of more than 26%. 

(b) that ARCP’s 2Q14 financial statements were false, did not accurately portray 

ARCP’s financial performance and were not prepared in accordance with GAAP, as detailed in 

¶¶170-195; 

(c) that, as described in ¶¶196-202, ARCP lacked appropriate controls to ensure, 

among other things, that ARCP’s Code of Conduct was adhered to and that employees would not be 
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pressured to make inappropriate decisions concerning the formulation of ARCP’s financial 

statements or calculation of AFFO; 

(d) that ARCP was not improving its governance practices, reporting practices, 

transparency or practices concerning related-party transactions, as during the very quarter Schorsch, 

Kay and Block made these representations, these defendants had actively falsified ARCP’s reported 

AFFO by tens of millions of dollars and its AFFO per share by more than 14%; 

(e) that ARCP, Schorsch, Block, Kay and McAlister knew that ARCP’s AFFO as 

reported was false because McAlister had repeatedly informed Schorsch, Kay, Block and other 

members of senior management that ARCP’s AFFO calculation improperly accounted for costs 

attributed to non-controlling interests in ARC Properties; 

(f) that ARCP’s 2Q14 AFFO reported to investors and incorporated in ARCP’s 

2Q14 Form 10-Q was inflated based upon Kay’s instruction to Block and McAlister not to change or 

correct ARCP’s fraudulent financial statements and AFFO, thus concealing ARCP’s faltering 

financial performance; 

(g) that on July 28, 2014, Schorsch instructed Block to falsify ARCP’s 2Q14 

AFFO by shifting numbers in ARCP’s 2Q14 Form 10-Q in an effort to conceal ARCP’s previous 

improper reporting; 

(h) that Schorsch and Kay directed Block to take steps in formulating ARCP’s 

2014 financial statements to make it more difficult for stockholders to discover the fraudulent 

changes regarding add-backs of non-recurring transaction and deferred financing costs; 

(i) that the Schorsch, Kay and Block had did not have a singular objective of 

creating value for ARCP shareholders, but rather their conduct was designed to ensure their primary 

objective of facilitating rapid growth in ARCP’s asset base to generate higher executive 
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compensation payments and payments to affiliated parties controlled by ARCP insiders and their 

affiliates, which totaled more than $475 million in 2013 alone; 

(j) that ARCP’s internal operations did not “continue to strengthen,” but rather 

were riddled with no fewer than three dozen different accounting manipulations as ARCP itself 

acknowledged just three months later; 

(k) that ARCP’s financial reporting was neither “timely” nor “efficient,” but 

rather was grossly inadequate and the product of fraudulent manipulation, as detailed in ¶¶170-202, 

159-167; and 

(l) that ARCP’s 2Q14 results had not positioned ARCP for “long term success,” 

nor were they the product of defendants’ focus on driving long term value for ARCP shareholders, 

but were the result of the systematic manipulation by defendants Schorsch, Block, Kay and 

McAlister of ARCP’s financial results, including its AFFO, as detailed in ¶¶159-167. 

Exchange Pursuant to September 12, 2014 Senior Notes Offering 

275. On September 12, 2014, ARCP and ARC Properties registered the $2.55 billion of 

Senior Notes previously issued in the February 2014 Notes Offering (discussed above in ¶¶250-253) 

via an Exchange Offer. 

276. The Exchange Offer was conducted pursuant to the 2013 Shelf Registration Statement 

and a Prospectus dated September 12, 2014 (the “Senior Notes Registration Statement”).  The Senior 

Notes Registration Statement contained untrue statements of material fact and failed to disclose 

material information required to be disclosed therein pursuant to the regulations governing its 

preparation. 

277. Specifically, the Senior Notes Registration Statement incorporated by reference 

ARCP’s: (i) 2012 Form 10-K; (ii) 2013 Form 10-K; (iii) 1Q14 Form 10-Q; and (iv) 2Q14 Form 10-
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Q, each of which contained ARCP’s financial statements for those periods, which ARCP now admits 

were materially inaccurate and have been restated.  The Senior Notes Registration Statement also 

incorporated by reference the materially false and misleading internal control disclosures and SOX 

certifications contained in those filings. 

278. The Senior Notes Registration Statement contained the following false and 

misleading statements: (i) pro-forma financial information; (ii) AFFO financial measures; (iii) risk 

disclosures; and (iv) representations about ARCP’s internal controls.  ARCP now admits that all of 

these financial statements violated GAAP, largely due to the understatement and misclassification of 

numerous expenses, as described in ¶¶170-202 herein.  Such GAAP violations caused the reported 

net loss attributable to ARCP to be understated by approximately 3.4% for the year ended December 

31, 2013, and 26.3% for 2Q14. 

279. The Senior Notes Registration Statement also contained pro-forma financial 

statements based upon ARCP’s false 2Q14 financial statements.  Accordingly, the pro-forma 

financial statements included in the Senior Notes Registration Statement, including the unaudited 

selected pro-forma consolidated operating data for the six months ended June 30, 2014 and the 

disclosures related thereto, were materially false. 

280. The Senior Notes Registration Statement was also false and misleading because it 

contained ARCP’s false AFFO for 2012, 2013, 1Q14 and 2Q14, contained in the 2013 Form 10-K, 

1Q14 Form 10-Q and 2Q14 Form 10-Q, which were each incorporated by reference into the 

September 12, 2014 Prospectus Supplement.  AFFO per share was overstated by 2.2% for 2012, 

23% for 2013, 36.8% for 1Q14, and 14.3% for 2Q14. 

281. Additionally, the 1Q14 Form 10-Q and the 2Q14 Form 10-Q incorporated by 

reference in the Senior Notes Registration Statement contained materially inaccurate disclosures in 
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the MD&A (Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 

Operations under Regulation S-K [17 C.F.R. §229.303]).  The disclosures in the MD&A were 

materially false and misleading because they were based, in part, upon ARCP’s admittedly misstated 

AFFO for 1Q14, 2Q14 and the six months ended June 30, 2014. 

282. Additionally, Item 3 of Form S-4 required that the Senior Notes Registration 

Statement furnish the information, including, among other things, a “discussion of the most 

significant factors that make the offering risky or speculative.”  The risk disclosures in the Senior 

Notes Registration Statement were materially inaccurate because they failed to advise investors 

about significant, then-existing factors that made the offering speculative or risky, including ARCP’s 

management’s ongoing effort to intentionally inflate ARCP’s reported operating performance and 

intentionally file unreliable and material misstated financial statements with the SEC. 

283. Finally, the Senior Notes Registration Statement represented that ARCP was 

implementing “additional enhancements to its corporate governance practices as it remains focused 

on ‘best practices[.]’” 

284. The statements referenced above in ¶¶275-283 were false and misleading in that they 

failed to disclose and/or misrepresented that ARCP lacked the necessary internal controls over its 

accounting systems to prepare reliable financial statements, and accordingly, was not enhancing its 

corporate governance practices or focusing on best practices.  And just weeks after the September 

2014 offering, ARCP admitted that the 1Q14 financial statements incorporated into the Senior Note 

Registration Statement contained errors that had been “identified but intentionally not corrected,” 

and that the 2Q14 financial statements incorporated into the Senior Note Registration Statement 

contained errors that were “intentionally made[.]” 
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APPLICABILITY OF PRESUMPTION OF RELIANCE: FRAUD ON THE MARKET 
DOCTRINE 

285. At all relevant times, the markets for ARCP securities were efficient for the following 

reasons, among others: 

(a) ARCP stock met the requirements for listing, and was listed and actively 

traded on the NASDAQ, a highly efficient and automated market; 

(b) as a regulated issuer, ARCP filed periodic public reports with the SEC and the 

NASDAQ; 

(c) ARCP regularly communicated with public investors via established market 

communication mechanisms, including through regular disseminations of press releases on the 

national circuits of major newswire services and through other wide-ranging public disclosures, such 

as communications with the financial press and other similar reporting services; and 

(d) ARCP was followed by several securities analysts employed by major 

brokerage firms who wrote reports that were distributed to the sales force and certain customers of 

their respective brokerage firms.  Each of these reports was publicly available and entered the public 

marketplace. 

286. As a result of the foregoing, the markets for ARCP securities promptly digested 

current information regarding ARCP from all publicly available sources and reflected such 

information in the prices of ARCP’s securities.  Under these circumstances, all purchasers of ARCP 

securities during the Class Period suffered similar injury through their purchase of ARCP securities 

at artificially inflated prices and a presumption of reliance applies. 

287. A class-wide presumption of reliance is also appropriate in this action under the 

Supreme Court’s holding in Affiliated Ute Citizens of Utah v. U.S., 406 U.S. 128 (1972), because the 

Class’s claims are grounded on defendants’ material omissions.  Because this action involves 
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defendants’ failure to disclose material adverse information regarding ARCP’s business operations 

and financial prospects – information that defendants were obligated to disclose – positive proof of 

reliance is not a prerequisite to recovery.  All that is necessary is that the facts withheld be material 

in the sense that a reasonable investor might have considered them important in making investment 

decisions.  Given the importance of the Class Period material misstatements and omissions set forth 

above, that requirement is satisfied here. 

Additional Averments Regarding the February 2014 Notes Offering 

288. As alleged here, in connection with the offering and sale of the Senior Notes pursuant 

to the February 2014 Notes Offering, defendants employed devices, schemes and artifices to 

defraud, and engaged in acts, practices and a course of business, which would and did operate as a 

fraud and deceit upon certain plaintiffs and other members of the Class.  This scheme included the 

offering and sale of the Senior Notes based on materially false and misleading information, and 

without disclosing material facts. 

289. Named plaintiffs and members of the Class need not prove individualized reliance, or 

may prove reliance through common evidence, when, as here, uniform written representations form 

the basis of their claims.  Because named plaintiffs can show that uniform and material written 

representations were communicated to the Class as a whole, a presumption of class-wide reliance is 

proper. 

290. Defendants’ scheme included the dissemination of written offering materials that 

contained material misrepresentations and omissions.  These misrepresentations and omissions were 

made to all potential investors, and included: (a) ARCP’s false 2012, 2013 and 2014 financial 

results; (b) misrepresentations about the effectiveness of ARCP’s internal controls over financial 

reporting; and (c) overstated 2014 AFFO guidance.  The alleged misrepresentations and omissions 
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here were so fundamental to the value of the notes that it is impossible to imagine any market 

existing for the Senior Notes, or any reasonable investor purchasing them, if the offering materials 

had revealed their true nature. 

291. As detailed herein, defendants’ sale of Senior Notes was completed via fraudulent 

conduct involving uniform misrepresentations and omissions made to plaintiffs and the other 

members of the Class.  And, since the material misrepresentations and omissions in connection with 

the sale of the Senior Notes were perpetrated through uniform Offering Materials, plaintiffs and the 

other members of the Class are entitled to a presumption of reliance. 

LOSS CAUSATION/ECONOMIC LOSS 

292. During the Class Period, as detailed herein, defendants engaged in a scheme and 

wrongful course of business that artificially inflated the price of ARCP securities by making false 

and misleading statements, and omitting material information, about ARCP’s operations and 

financial results.  As defendants’ false and misleading statements and omissions became apparent to 

the market, beginning on October 29, 2014, the price of ARCP securities fell, as the prior artificial 

inflation came out.  As a result of their acquisitions of ARCP securities during the Class Period, 

plaintiffs and other members of the Class suffered economic loss. 

293. In direct response to the October 29, 2014 disclosure, ARCP common stock 

plummeted, trading as low as $7.85 per share on October 29, 2014, on an extremely heavy trading 

volume.  Before the market closed on October 29, 2014, ARCP held a conference call, which over 

1,000 analysts and investors listened to telephonically.  During the call, Kay characterized the fraud 

as “a one-quarter adjustment,” implying that culpability was limited to two Company executives, and 

emphasizing that ARCP’s “controls and processes [had] continued to improve” over the last ten 

months.  Following Kay’s reassurances, the price of ARCP common stock rebounded slightly, 
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closing at $10 per share on October 29, 2014, a decline of more than 19% from the prior day’s 

closing price, with over 230 million shares traded, 50 times the average daily trading volume during 

the Class Period. 

294. Analysts reacted negatively to ARCP’s October 29, 2014 disclosures.  For example, 

Wells Fargo Securities noted, “we believe this morning’s announcement will be a significant setback 

for the company in terms of earning or maintaining investor trust, credibility, and allaying investor 

skepticism.” 

295. Credit rating agencies likewise reacted negatively.  On October 29 and October 30, 

2014, S&P and Moody’s, respectively, placed the corporate debt ratings of ARCP under review for 

possible downgrade as the markets digested the revelations about ARCP. 

296. The price of ARCP’s common stock continued to decline on October 30, 2014, 

closing at $9.42 per share as the market absorbed the import of the October 29, 2014 announcements 

and analysts issued reports downgrading and lowering their estimates.  ARCP’s common stock price 

ultimately tumbled to a closing price of $7.85 per share on November 3, 2014, after investors learned 

that RCAP was terminating its $700 million agreement to purchase Cole Capital from ARCP, citing 

the October 29, 2014 disclosures as the reason for the termination of the agreement. 

297. As depicted in the below chart, the price of ARCP’s debt securities also declined as a 

result of its October 29, 2014 corrective disclosure, and continued to decline through November 3, 

2014, as news of the corrective disclosure penetrated the market. 

   2.00%  3.00%  4.60%  3.00%  3.75% 
   due 2/6/17  due 2/6/19  due 2/6/24  due 8/1/18  due 12/15/20 

10/28/2014  $1,004.65  $1,007.24 $1,038.72 $995.00  $1,000.55

10/29/2014  $986.86  $976.97 $965.18 $942.50  $957.50

$ Change  ‐$17.79  ‐$30.27 ‐$73.54 ‐$52.50  ‐$43.05
% Change  ‐1.8%  ‐3.0% ‐7.1% ‐5.3%  ‐4.3%

 

Case 1:15-mc-00040-AKH   Document 312   Filed 09/30/16   Page 118 of 240



 

- 114 - 
1186483_1 

298. ARCP Series F Preferred stock also experienced a substantial decline in price as a 

result of the corrective disclosures announced on October 29, 2014.  On October 28, 2014, the 

closing price of ARCP Series F Preferred stock was $23.53 per share; on October 29, 2014, the price 

of ARCP Series F Preferred stock declined to $22.12 per share on usually heavy trading volume.  As 

the news of ARCP’s corrective disclosures penetrated the market, the price of ARCP Series F 

Preferred stock continued to decline.  On November 3, 2014, the closing price of ARCP Series F 

Preferred stock was $20.91 per share. 

299. The declines in the price of ARCP securities pled herein were a direct result of the 

nature, extent and impact of defendants’ prior false and misleading statements and omissions being 

revealed to investors and the market.  The timing and magnitude of the price declines of ARCP 

securities negates any inference that the loss suffered by plaintiffs and other Class members was 

caused by changed market conditions, macroeconomic or industry factors, or Company-specific 

factors unrelated to defendants’ wrongful conduct. 

300. The following charts demonstrate the clear divergence of ARCP’s common stock 

prices from its peer index, and the divergence of the prices of ARCP debt securities from the 

FINRA-BLP Active Investment Grade U.S. Corporate Bond Index (“NBBIPR”), as the truth became 

known to the market: 
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301. The economic loss suffered by plaintiffs and other members of the Class was a direct 

result of defendants’ wrongful conduct, which inflated the prices of ARCP securities and resulted in 

the subsequent decline in the value of those securities when defendants’ prior false and misleading 

statements and omissions were revealed. 

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

302. Plaintiffs bring this action as a class action pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil 

Procedure 23(a) and (b)(3) on behalf of the Class.  The Class is defined as: 

All persons or entities who purchased or otherwise acquired ARCP securities, 
including ARCP common stock, preferred stock and debt securities, as well as those 
who traded in option contracts on ARCP stock, between September 7, 2011 and 
October 29, 2014 (the “Class” and the “Class Period”), and who were damaged 
thereby. 
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Excluded from the Class are defendants herein, members of the immediate families of each of the 

defendants, any person, firm, trust, corporation, officer, director, or other individual or entity in 

which any defendant has a controlling interest or which is related to or affiliated with any defendant, 

and the legal representatives, agents, affiliates, heirs, successors-in-interest or assigns of any such 

excluded party. 

303. The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all members is 

impracticable.  ARCP securities were extensively traded during the Class Period.  As of March 27, 

2015, ARCP had more than 905 million shares of common stock issued and outstanding that were 

actively traded on the NASDAQ and other exchanges, over 42 million shares of preferred stock, and 

more than $3.5 billion in face value of outstanding debt.  The precise number of Class members is 

unknown to plaintiffs at this time but is at least in the thousands.  In addition, the names and 

addresses of the Class members can be ascertained from the books and records of ARCP or its 

transfer agent.  Notice can be provided to such record owners by a combination of published notice 

and first-class mail, using techniques and a form of notice similar to those customarily used in class 

actions arising under the federal securities laws. 

304. Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately represent and protect the interests of the members 

of the Class.  Plaintiffs have retained competent counsel experienced in class action litigation under 

the federal securities laws to further ensure such protection and intend to prosecute this action 

vigorously. 

305. Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the claims of the other members of the Class because 

plaintiffs’ and all the Class members’ damages arise from and were caused by the same false and 

misleading representations and omissions made by or chargeable to defendants.  Plaintiffs do not 

have any interests antagonistic to, or in conflict with, the Class. 
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306. A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient 

adjudication of this controversy.  Since the damages suffered by individual Class members may be 

relatively small, the expense and burden of individual litigation make it virtually impossible for the 

Class members to seek redress for the wrongful conduct alleged.  Plaintiffs know of no difficulty that 

will be encountered in the management of this litigation that would preclude its maintenance as a 

class action. 

307. Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Class and 

predominate over any questions solely affecting individual members of the Class.  Among the 

questions of law and fact common to the Class are: 

(a) whether the federal securities laws were violated by defendants’ acts as 

alleged herein; 

(b) whether statements made by defendants during the Class Period 

misrepresented and/or omitted material facts about ARCP and its business; 

(c) whether the price of ARCP securities was artificially inflated during the Class 

Period; and 

(d) the extent of injuries sustained by members of the Class and the appropriate 

measure of damages. 

COUNT IX - Violation of §10(b) of the 1934 Act 

308. Plaintiffs incorporate ¶¶1-19, 24-26, 30-31, 132-307 as though fully set forth herein. 
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309. This Claim is brought by persons who purchased and/or acquired ARCP common 

stock, preferred shares and debt as well as transacted in options contracts during the Class Period 

against defendants ARCP, ARC Properties, Schorsch, Block, Beeson, Kay12 and McAlister. 

310. During the Class Period, the defendants named herein disseminated or approved the 

materially false and misleading statements specified above, which they knew or recklessly 

disregarded were misleading in that they misrepresented and/or omitted material facts necessary in 

order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not 

misleading. 

311. Defendants violated §10(b) of the 1934 Act, 15 U.S.C. §78j(b), and Rule 10b-5, 17 

C.F.R. §240.10b-5, in that they: 

(a) employed devices, schemes and artifices to defraud; 

(b) made untrue statements of material facts or omitted to state material facts 

necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were 

made, not misleading; or 

(c) engaged in acts, practices and a course of business that operated as a fraud or 

deceit upon the purchasers and/or acquirers of ARCP common stock, preferred stock and/or debt 

securities as well as those who transacted in options contracts during the Class Period. 

312. Plaintiffs and the Class have suffered damages in that, in reliance on the integrity of 

the market, they paid artificially inflated prices for ARCP securities.  Plaintiffs and the Class would 

not have purchased and/or acquired ARCP securities at the prices they paid, or at all, if they had 

                                                 
12 Plaintiffs’ claim for §10(b) set forth in Count IX of the Third Amended Complaint is limited 
with respect to defendant Kay to the alleged false and misleading statements or omissions Kay made 
on or after February 27, 2014. 
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been aware that the prices those ARCP securities were trading at or were offered at had been inflated 

by defendants’ misleading statements and/or omissions. 

313. As a direct and proximate cause of defendants’ wrongful conduct, plaintiffs and other 

members of the Class suffered damages in connection with their purchases and/or acquisition of 

ARCP securities during the Class Period. 

COUNT X - Violation of §20(a) of the 1934 Act 

314. This claim is brought against defendants ARC Advisors and AR Capital. 

315. Schorsch, Kahane, Weil, Budko and Block operated a series of interrelated companies 

out of their offices at 405 Park Avenue in New York.  ARCP, ARC Advisors and AR Capital all 

shared that address.  ARCP paid in excess of $900 million to ARC Advisors and these other entities 

in a series of related-party transactions, at times without any supporting documentation. 

316. Schorsch, Kahane, Weil, Budko and Block held executive and director positions 

and/or were beneficial owners at each of these companies and at ARCP, as follows: 

 ARCP ARC 
Advisors 

RCS Capital 
(aka RCAP 

Holdings, LLC) 

AR Capital RCAP 

Schorsch CEO: 
Dec. 2010 – Oct. 1, 
2014;  
Chairman: 
Dec. 2010 – Dec. 15, 
2014 
Beneficial owner 

Chairman/CEO:
Nov. 2010 – at 
least Jan. 2014 

CEO/Chairman 
Beneficial owner  

CEO/Chairman: 
Dec. 2012 – 
Present 
Beneficial 
owner 

Chairman: 
Feb. 2013 – Dec. 
2014 
Beneficial owner 
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 ARCP ARC 
Advisors 

RCS Capital 
(aka RCAP 

Holdings, LLC) 

AR Capital RCAP 

Kahane Director: 
Dec. 2010 – Mar. 
2012; Feb. 2013 – 
June 24, 2014 
Beneficial owner 

President/COO: 
Nov. 2010 – 
Mar. 2012 

President/COO: 
Beneficial owner 

Beneficial 
owner  

CEO: 
Feb. 2013 – Sept. 
2014;  
Director: 
Feb. 2013 – Dec. 
2014 
Beneficial owner 

Weil President/Treasurer/ 
Secretary: 
Dec. 2010 – Jan. 
2014;  
Director: 
Mar. 2012 – June 
2014 

EVP: 
Nov. 2010 – at 
least Jan. 2014 

EVP 
Beneficial owner 

President/COO: 
Dec. 2012 – 
Present 
Beneficial 
owner 

President: 
Feb. 2013 – Sept. 
2014 
CEO: 
Sept. 2014 – Nov. 
2015 
Director: 
Feb. 2013 – Present 
Beneficial owner 

Block CFO/EVP: 
Dec. 2010 – Oct. 28, 
2014 
Beneficial owner 

CFO/EVP: 
Nov. 2010 – at 
least Jan. 2014 

CFO/EVP  
Beneficial owner 

CFO/EVP: 
Dec. 2012 – 
Nov. 2013 
Beneficial 
owner  

CFO/EVP/Director: 
Feb. 2013 – July 
2014 
Beneficial owner 

Budko CIO/EVP: 
Dec. 2010 – 2014 
Beneficial owner 

CIO/EVP: 
Nov. 2010 – at 
least Jan. 2014 

CIO/EVP 
Beneficial owner 

CIO/EVP: 
Dec. 2012 – 
Present 
Beneficial 
owner 

CIO/EVP/Director: 
Feb. 2013 – Aug. 
2015 
Beneficial owner 

317. ARC Advisors and AR Capital possessed the power to control, and did control, 

directly and/or indirectly, the actions of ARCP during the Class Period.  ARCP did not have any 

employees at the time of its IPO in September 2011 and continued to have no employees until 

sometime in 2014.  Instead, ARCP was externally managed by ARC Advisors.  ARC Advisors 

managed ARCP’s activities on a day-to-day basis, provided ARCP with its management team and 

support personnel and employed ARCP’s CEO, President, CIO and other executive officers.  ARC 

Advisors also supplied the compensation for ARCP’s executive officers.  ARCP consistently stated 

in SEC filings that it was “completely reliant” on ARC Advisors and its parent companies (RCS 

Capital, LLC until December 27, 2012 and AR Capital, LLC thereafter), which had “the power to 

direct the activities of [ARCP] through advisory/management agreements.”  ARC Advisors, through 
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this management relationship, controlled the actions of ARCP, thereby reaping over $900 million, 

with its “affiliates,”  in fees during the Class Period – fees that ARCP has now acknowledged 

included transactions for which there is no confirming documentation or otherwise warranted 

scrutiny. 

318. The two parent entities that owned ARC Advisors – RCS Capital LLC and AR 

Capital, LLC – trace their origins to 2007, when Schorsch and Kahane founded American Realty 

Capital II, LLC.  Over the next five years, American Realty Capital II, LLC would change its name 

no fewer than three times.  American Realty Capital II, LLC amended its name in January 2012 to 

AR Capital, LLC (not the current defendant entity of the same name) (hereinafter, “Old AR 

Capital”).  It changed its name again in December 2012 to RCS Capital, LLC.  Three short months 

later, RCS Capital, LLC changed its name yet again for the third time to RCAP Holdings, LLC (RCS 

Capital, LLC is still currently known as RCAP Holdings). 

319. On December 27, 2012, RCS Capital, LLC (Old AR Capital, LLC) went through a 

corporate reorganization (“December 2012 Reorganization”).  At that time, Schorsch and Kahane 

created an additional entity and branded it with the recycled name of AR Capital, LLC – the entity 

sued herein (also referred to herein as “New AR Capital”).  As part of this restructuring, Schorsch 

and Kahane transferred control over the entity that managed and controlled ARCP – ARC Advisors 

– from RCS Capital, LLC (Old AR Capital) to New AR Capital.  New AR Capital is wholly owned 

by Schorsch, Kahane, Weil, Budko and Block.  From the December 2012 Reorganization until the 

end of the Class Period, New AR Capital owned and possessed the power to control, and did control, 

directly and/or indirectly the actions of ARC Advisors, which continued to be the external manager 

of ARCP and exerted day-to-day control over ARCP’s affairs. 
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320. According to ARCP, ARC Advisors and its parent companies (Old AR Capital until 

the December Reorganization and New AR Capital, LLC thereafter) have “the power to direct the 

activities of [ARCP] through advisory/management agreements.”  The resources of ARC Advisors’ 

parent companies was vital to the implementation and execution of ARCP’s business and growth 

strategies, including the acquisition of ARCP’s numerous properties.  After the December 

Reorganization, New AR Capital possessed the power to control, and did control, ARCP through 

ARC Advisors.  New AR Capital was wholly-owned by Schorsch, Kahane, Weil, Budko and Block. 

321. Paragraph removed to conform to the Court’s September 8, 2016 Order (Dkt. No. 

299). 

322. The corporate relationship among the four entities and ARCP is depicted in the 

following chart: 
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323. Paragraph removed to conform to the Court’s September 8, 2016 Order (Dkt. 

No. 299). 

324. ARC Advisors and AR Capital exercised control directly and indirectly over the 

actions of ARCP in connection with its violations of §10(b) of the 1934 Act and SEC Rule 10b-5 

promulgated thereunder.  By reason of such conduct, these defendants are liable pursuant to §20(a) 

of the 1934 Act. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, plaintiffs pray for judgment as follows: 

A. Declaring this action to be a class action properly maintained pursuant to Rule 23(a) 

and (b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and certifying plaintiffs as Class Representatives 

and Robbins Geller Rudman & Dowd LLP as Class Counsel; 

B. Awarding compensatory damages in favor of plaintiffs and other members of the 

Class against all defendants jointly and generally for all damages sustained as a result of defendants’ 

wrongdoing in an amount to be proven at trial, together with interest thereon; 

C. Paragraph removed to conform to the Court’s September 8, 2016 Order (Dkt. 

No. 299); 

D. Awarding plaintiffs and other members of the Class their costs and expenses of this 

litigation, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, accountants’ fees, and experts’ fees, and other costs 

and disbursements; and 

E. Awarding plaintiffs and other members of the Class injunctive and other equitable 

relief, including rescission, as appropriate, in addition to any other relief that is just and proper under 

the circumstances. 
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JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiffs hereby demand a trial by jury. 

DATED:  September 30, 2016 ROBBINS GELLER RUDMAN  
 & DOWD LLP 
DARREN J. ROBBINS 
MICHAEL J. DOWD 
DANIEL S. DROSMAN 
DEBRA J. WYMAN 
JESSICA T. SHINNEFIELD 
ASHLEY M. PRICE 
JENNIFER N. CARINGAL 
ANGEL P. LAU  

 

s/ DARREN J. ROBBINS 

 DARREN J. ROBBINS 
 

655 West Broadway, Suite 1900 
San Diego, CA  92101-8498 
Telephone:  619/231-1058 
619/231-7423 (fax) 
darrenr@rgrdlaw.com 
miked@rgrdlaw.com 
dand@rgrdlaw.com 
debraw@rgrdlaw.com 
jshinnefield@rgrdlaw.com 
aprice@rgrdlaw.com 
jcaringal@rgrdlaw.com 
alau@rgrdlaw.com  

 
ROBBINS GELLER RUDMAN 
 & DOWD LLP 
SAMUEL H. RUDMAN 
ROBERT M. ROTHMAN 
MARK T. MILLKEY 
58 South Service Road, Suite 200 
Melville, NY  11747 
Telephone:  631/367-7100 
631/367-1173 (fax) 
srudman@rgrdlaw.com 
rrothman@rgrdlaw.com 
mmillkey@rgrdlaw.com 
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Lead Counsel for Lead Plaintiff TIAA-CREF and 

the Class 
 

MOTLEY RICE LLC  
WILLIAM H. NARWOLD (WN-1713) 
One Corporate Center 
20 Church Street, 17th Floor 
Hartford, CT  06103 
Telephone:  860/822-1681 
860/882-1682 (fax)  
bnarwold@motleyrice.com 

 
MOTLEY RICE LLC 
DONALD A. MIGLIORI (DM-1098)  
600 Third Avenue, Suite 2101 
New York, NY  10016 
Telephone:  401/457-7709 
401/457-7708 (fax)  
dmigliori@motleyrice.com 

 
Counsel for Sheet Metal Workers’ National 

Pension Fund, Union Asset Management Holding 

AG, and KBC Asset Management NV 

 
LOWEY DANNENBERG COHEN  
   & HART, P.C.  
BARBARA J. HART 
One North Broadway, Suite 509 
White Plains, NY  10601 
Telephone: 914/997-0500 
914/997-0035 (fax)  
bhart@lowey.com 

 
Counsel for Corsair Select 100 L.P., Corsair Select 

MF Ltd., Corsair Capital Partners L.P., Corsair 

Select L.P., Corsair Capital Partners 100 L.P., and 

Corsair Capital Investors, Ltd. 
 

COHEN MILSTEIN SELLERS & TOLL PLLC 
STEVEN J. TOLL 
1100 New York Avenue, N.W. 
Suite 500, West Tower 
Washington, D.C.  20005 
Telephone: 202/408-4600 
202/408-4699 (fax) 
stoll@cohenmilstein.com 
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Counsel for New York City Employees’ Retirement 

System, the New York City Police Pension Fund, 

the New York City Police Officers’ Variable 

Supplements Fund, the Board of Education 

Retirement System of the City of New York, the 

Teachers’ Retirement System of the City of New 

York and the Teachers’ Retirement System of the 

City of New York Variable A, the New York City 

Fire Department Pension Fund, the New York City 

Fire Officers’ Variable Supplements Fund and the 

New York City Fire Fighters’ Variable Supplements 

Fund 

 
STULL, STULL & BRODY 
HOWARD T. LONGMAN 
6 East 45th Street 
New York, NY  10017 
Telephone: 212/687-7230 
212/490-2022 (fax)  
hlongman@ssbny.com 

 Counsel for Noah Bender and IRA FBO John 

Esposito 

 
LEVI & KORSINSKY LLP 
NICHOLAS I. PORRITT 
30 Broad Street 
24th Floor 
New York, NY  10004 
Telephone: 212/363-7500 
866/367-6510 (fax)  
nporritt@zlk.com 

 
Counsel for Mitchell and Bonnie Ellis 

 
WEISSLAW LLP 
JOSEPH H. WEISS 
1500 Broadway, 16th Floor 
New York, NY  10036 
Telephone: 212/682-3025 
212/682-3010 (fax) 
jweiss@weisslawllp.com 

 
Counsel for Simon Abadi 

Case 1:15-mc-00040-AKH   Document 312   Filed 09/30/16   Page 133 of 240



 

- 129 - 
1186483_1 

 
MORGAN & MORGAN, P.C. 
PETER SAFIRSTEIN 
28 W. 44th St., Suite 2001 
New York, NY  10036 
Telephone:  212/564-1637 
212/564-1807 (fax) 
psafirstein@MorganSecuritiesLaw.com 

 
Counsel for The City of Tampa General Employees 

Retirement Fund 

 
JOHNSON & WEAVER, LLP 
W. SCOTT HOLLEMAN  
99 Madison Avenue, 5th Floor 
New York, NY  10016 
Telephone:  212/802-1486 
212/602-1592 (fax) 
scotth@johnsonandweaver.com 

 
Counsel for Paul Matten 
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The Teachers’ Retirement System of the City of New York 

Schedule of Transactions

CUSIP Trade Date Transaction Type  Shares  Share Price 

02917T104 5/7/2013 Purchase 5,505               17.040$       

02917T104 6/4/2013 Sale 5,505               15.950$       

02917T104 6/28/2013 Purchase 4,654               15.260$       

02917T104 6/28/2013 Purchase 68,333             15.250$       

02917T104 6/28/2013 Purchase 71,100             15.250$       

02917T104 7/19/2013 Purchase 128                  14.760$       

02917T104 8/30/2013 Purchase 584                  13.410$       

02917T104 9/30/2013 Purchase 981                  12.190$       

02917T104 10/31/2013 Purchase 460                  13.270$       

02917T104 10/31/2013 Purchase 944                  13.270$       

02917T104 11/5/2013 Sale 2,083               13.150$       

02917T104 11/5/2013 Sale 13,298             13.150$       

02917T104 12/20/2013 Purchase 57                    12.605$       

02917T104 12/20/2013 Purchase 1,103               12.610$       

02917T104 1/22/2014 Purchase 2,189.08          13.950$       

02917T104 1/31/2014 Purchase 103                  13.832$       

02917T104 1/31/2014 Purchase 377                  13.840$       

02917T104 1/31/2014 Purchase 426                  13.832$       

02917T104 1/31/2014 Purchase 1,560               13.840$       

02917T104 2/19/2014 Sale 0.08                 13.924$       

02917T104 2/28/2014 Purchase 19,227             14.686$       

02917T104 2/28/2014 Purchase 98,630             14.686$       

02917T104 2/28/2014 Purchase 136,900           14.687$       

02917T104 3/26/2014 Sale 10,249             13.915$       

02917T104 3/27/2014 Sale 360                  13.800$       

02917T104 3/31/2014 Sale 479                  14.020$       

02917T104 4/30/2014 Purchase 300                  13.082$       

02917T104 4/30/2014 Purchase 397                  13.082$       

02917T104 5/21/2014 Purchase 2,400               12.300$       

02917T104 5/21/2014 Purchase 16,620             12.351$       

02917T104 5/21/2014 Purchase 38,790             12.228$       

02917T104 5/21/2014 Purchase 55,910             12.297$       

02917T104 5/21/2014 Purchase (Offering) 67,930             12.000$       

02917T104 5/22/2014 Sale 22,600             12.382$       

02917T104 5/22/2014 Sale 45,330             12.301$       

02917T104 5/30/2014 Purchase 24                    12.410$       

02917T104 5/30/2014 Purchase 357                  12.410$       

02917T104 5/30/2014 Purchase 900                  12.407$       

02917T104 5/30/2014 Purchase 1,935               12.400$       

02917T104 5/30/2014 Purchase 28,872             12.400$       

02917T104 5/30/2014 Sale 113,720           12.262$       

02917T104 6/27/2014 Purchase 189,500           12.498$       

02917T104 6/27/2014 Purchase 441,937           12.500$       

Equity
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The Teachers’ Retirement System of the City of New York 

Schedule of Transactions

CUSIP Trade Date Transaction Type  Shares  Share Price 

02917T104 6/27/2014 Sale 9,702               12.500$       

02917T104 6/27/2014 Sale 12,994             12.500$       

02917T104 6/27/2014 Sale 77,066             12.500$       

02917T104 6/27/2014 Sale 103,221           12.500$       

02917T104 7/29/2014 Sale 29,425             13.230$       

02917T104 10/22/2014 Sale 56,300             12.070$       

CUSIP Trade Date Transaction Type Units Unit Price

02917TAA2 7/24/2013 Purchase 68,000             0.9942         

02917TAA2 7/24/2013 Purchase 262,000           0.9948         

02917TAA2 7/25/2013 Purchase 90,000             0.9926         

02917TAA2 7/25/2013 Purchase 240,000           0.9926         

02917TAA2 10/28/2014 Purchase 450,000           0.9988         

03879QAA2 2/4/2014 Purchase 3,830,000        0.9997         

03879QAA2 2/4/2014 Sale 2,685,000        1.0007         

03879QAA2 2/5/2014 Sale 1,145,000        1.0020         

03879QAA2 6/5/2014 Purchase 2,625,000        1.0065         

03879QAA2 6/27/2014 Purchase 1,790,000        1.0040         

03879QAA2 10/16/2014 Sale 4,415,000        1.0054         

03879QAB0 10/16/2014 Purchase 4,415,000        1.0054         

03879QAE4 4/3/2014 Purchase 620,000           1.0023         

03879QAE4 4/7/2014 Purchase 1,577,000        1.0072         

03879QAE4 10/16/2014 Sale 2,197,000        1.0058         

03879QAF1 10/16/2014 Purchase 2,197,000        1.0058         

Fixed Income
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New York City Employees’ Retirement System

Schedule of Transactions

CUSIP Trade Date Transaction Type  Shares  Share Price 

02917T104 5/7/2013 Purchase 3,774         17.040$       

02917T104 6/4/2013 Sale 3,774         15.950$       

02917T104 6/20/2013 Purchase 16,100       14.210$       

02917T104 6/21/2013 Purchase 24,600       14.200$       

02917T104 6/24/2013 Purchase 24,070       14.250$       

02917T104 6/24/2013 Purchase 30,239       14.270$       

02917T104 6/28/2013 Purchase 1,139         15.260$       

02917T104 6/28/2013 Purchase 2,389         15.260$       

02917T104 6/28/2013 Purchase 16,731       15.240$       

02917T104 6/28/2013 Purchase 17,700       15.250$       

02917T104 6/28/2013 Purchase 35,072       15.250$       

02917T104 7/5/2013 Purchase 6,048         14.200$       

02917T104 7/5/2013 Purchase 18,143       14.220$       

02917T104 7/10/2013 Purchase 9,061         14.470$       

02917T104 7/10/2013 Purchase 11,839       14.450$       

02917T104 7/24/2013 Purchase 1,453         14.510$       

02917T104 7/24/2013 Purchase 2,838         14.550$       

02917T104 7/24/2013 Purchase 6,909         14.520$       

02917T104 7/26/2013 Purchase 9,057         14.670$       

02917T104 7/26/2013 Purchase 10,143       14.650$       

02917T104 7/30/2013 Purchase 1,600         14.860$       

02917T104 7/31/2013 Purchase 3,789         14.610$       

02917T104 7/31/2013 Purchase 8,411         14.630$       

02917T104 8/1/2013 Purchase 1,933         14.170$       

02917T104 8/1/2013 Purchase 4,567         14.200$       

02917T104 8/30/2013 Purchase 238            13.410$       

02917T104 10/16/2013 Sale 6,974         12.710$       

02917T104 10/16/2013 Sale 297            12.710$       

02917T104 11/26/2013 Sale 383            13.280$       

02917T104 11/26/2013 Sale 2,757         13.280$       

02917T104 12/20/2013 Sale 201            12.610$       

02917T104 12/20/2013 Sale 406            12.610$       

02917T104 1/7/2014 Sale 1,606         12.876$       

02917T104 1/7/2014 Sale 3,211         12.870$       

02917T104 1/7/2014 Sale 6,159         12.860$       

02917T104 1/7/2014 Sale 11,824       12.864$       

02917T104 1/8/2014 Sale 1,711         12.699$       

02917T104 1/8/2014 Sale 4,667         12.707$       

02917T104 1/8/2014 Sale 6,339         12.712$       

02917T104 1/8/2014 Sale 27,383       12.690$       

02917T104 1/9/2014 Sale 21,000       12.646$       

02917T104 1/10/2014 Sale 796            12.715$       

02917T104 1/10/2014 Sale 3,995         12.720$       

Equity
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New York City Employees’ Retirement System

Schedule of Transactions

CUSIP Trade Date Transaction Type  Shares  Share Price 

02917T104 1/10/2014 Sale 5,718         12.819$       

02917T104 1/10/2014 Sale 7,750         12.985$       

02917T104 1/10/2014 Sale 15,882       12.798$       

02917T104 1/10/2014 Sale 15,900       12.971$       

02917T104 1/10/2014 Sale 17,109       12.711$       

02917T104 1/10/2014 Sale 39,750       12.970$       

02917T104 1/22/2014 Purchase 1,092.9      13.950$       

02917T104 1/28/2014 Sale 7,200         14.170$       

02917T104 1/31/2014 Purchase 30              13.832$       

02917T104 1/31/2014 Purchase 112            13.840$       

02917T104 1/31/2014 Purchase 466            13.832$       

02917T104 1/31/2014 Purchase 1,709         13.840$       

02917T104 2/14/2014 Purchase 600            13.868$       

02917T104 2/19/2014 Sale 0.9             13.933$       

02917T104 2/28/2014 Purchase 13,942       14.686$       

02917T104 2/28/2014 Purchase 25,900       14.769$       

02917T104 2/28/2014 Purchase 72,831       14.686$       

02917T104 3/26/2014 Sale 47,340       13.915$       

02917T104 3/27/2014 Sale 293            13.800$       

02917T104 3/31/2014 Sale 188            14.020$       

02917T104 3/31/2014 Sale 496            14.020$       

02917T104 4/30/2014 Purchase 314            13.082$       

02917T104 5/30/2014 Purchase 25              12.410$       

02917T104 5/30/2014 Purchase 145            12.410$       

02917T104 5/30/2014 Purchase 2,045         12.400$       

02917T104 5/30/2014 Purchase 11,853       12.400$       

02917T104 6/27/2014 Purchase 39,900       12.498$       

02917T104 6/27/2014 Purchase 228,540     12.500$       

02917T104 6/27/2014 Sale 10,573       12.500$       

02917T104 6/27/2014 Sale 14,161       12.500$       

02917T104 6/27/2014 Sale 32,048       12.500$       

02917T104 6/27/2014 Sale 42,924       12.500$       

02917T104 7/17/2014 Purchase 300            12.890$       
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New York City Employees’ Retirement System

Schedule of Transactions

CUSIP Trade Date Transaction Type Units Unit Price

03879QAA2 2/4/2014 Purchase 6,005,000  0.9997     

03879QAA2 2/4/2014 Sale 4,200,000  1.0007     

03879QAA2 2/5/2014 Sale 1,805,000  1.0020     

03879QAA2 6/5/2014 Purchase 3,975,000  1.0065     

03879QAA2 6/27/2014 Purchase 2,710,000  1.0040     

03879QAA2 10/16/2014 Sale 6,685,000  1.0054     

03879QAB0 10/16/2014 Purchase 6,685,000  1.0054     

03879QAE4 4/3/2014 Purchase 310,000     1.0023     

03879QAE4 4/7/2014 Purchase 810,000     1.0072     

03879QAE4 10/16/2014 Sale 1,120,000  1.0058     

03879QAF1 10/16/2014 Purchase 1,120,000  1.0058     

Fixed Income
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The New York City Police Pension Fund

Schedule of Transactions

CUSIP Trade Date Transaction Type  Shares  Share Price 

02917T104 5/7/2013 Purchase 2,099           17.040$       

02917T104 6/4/2013 Sale 2,099           15.950$       

02917T104 6/20/2013 Purchase 6,100           14.210$       

02917T104 6/21/2013 Purchase 9,300           14.200$       

02917T104 6/24/2013 Purchase 9,107           14.250$       

02917T104 6/24/2013 Purchase 11,440         14.270$       

02917T104 6/28/2013 Purchase 2,621           15.260$       

02917T104 6/28/2013 Purchase 27,700         15.250$       

02917T104 6/28/2013 Purchase 38,488         15.250$       

02917T104 7/5/2013 Purchase 2,288           14.200$       

02917T104 7/5/2013 Purchase 6,865           14.220$       

02917T104 7/10/2013 Purchase 3,425           14.470$       

02917T104 7/10/2013 Purchase 4,475           14.450$       

02917T104 7/19/2013 Purchase 69                14.760$       

02917T104 7/24/2013 Purchase 545              14.510$       

02917T104 7/24/2013 Purchase 1,064           14.550$       

02917T104 7/24/2013 Purchase 2,591           14.520$       

02917T104 7/26/2013 Purchase 3,443           14.670$       

02917T104 7/26/2013 Purchase 3,857           14.650$       

02917T104 7/30/2013 Purchase 600              14.860$       

02917T104 7/31/2013 Purchase 1,429           14.610$       

02917T104 7/31/2013 Purchase 3,171           14.630$       

02917T104 8/1/2013 Purchase 743              14.170$       

02917T104 8/1/2013 Purchase 1,757           14.200$       

02917T104 8/30/2013 Purchase 266              13.410$       

02917T104 9/20/2013 Purchase 30,300         12.677$       

02917T104 10/16/2013 Sale 1,626           12.710$       

02917T104 10/16/2013 Sale 473              12.710$       

02917T104 11/26/2013 Sale 1,503           13.280$       

02917T104 12/10/2013 Sale 925              12.770$       

02917T104 12/10/2013 Sale 3,452           12.770$       

02917T104 12/20/2013 Sale 256              12.610$       

02917T104 1/7/2014 Sale 606              12.876$       

02917T104 1/7/2014 Sale 1,211           12.870$       

02917T104 1/7/2014 Sale 2,323           12.860$       

02917T104 1/7/2014 Sale 4,460           12.864$       

02917T104 1/8/2014 Sale 649              12.699$       

02917T104 1/8/2014 Sale 1,769           12.707$       

02917T104 1/8/2014 Sale 2,403           12.712$       

02917T104 1/8/2014 Sale 10,379         12.690$       

02917T104 1/9/2014 Sale 8,000           12.646$       

02917T104 1/10/2014 Sale 298              12.715$       

02917T104 1/10/2014 Sale 1,496           12.720$       

Equity
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The New York City Police Pension Fund

Schedule of Transactions

CUSIP Trade Date Transaction Type  Shares  Share Price 

02917T104 1/10/2014 Sale 2,171           12.819$       

02917T104 1/10/2014 Sale 2,934           12.985$       

02917T104 1/10/2014 Sale 6,019           12.971$       

02917T104 1/10/2014 Sale 6,029           12.798$       

02917T104 1/10/2014 Sale 6,406           12.711$       

02917T104 1/10/2014 Sale 15,047         12.970$       

02917T104 1/14/2014 Purchase 1,300           13.180$       

02917T104 1/21/2014 Purchase 8,700           13.988$       

02917T104 1/28/2014 Sale 234              14.170$       

02917T104 1/31/2014 Purchase 205              13.832$       

02917T104 1/31/2014 Purchase 751              13.840$       

02917T104 2/7/2014 Purchase (Merger) 86,994.84    13.990$       

02917T104 2/19/2014 Sale 0.84             13.929$       

02917T104 2/28/2014 Purchase 12,858         14.686$       

02917T104 2/28/2014 Purchase 48,700         14.687$       

02917T104 2/28/2014 Purchase 61,057         14.686$       

02917T104 3/21/2014 Sale 900              14.270$       

02917T104 3/21/2014 Sale 1,800           14.270$       

02917T104 3/26/2014 Sale 15,740         13.915$       

02917T104 3/31/2014 Purchase 100              14.020$       

02917T104 3/31/2014 Sale 997              14.020$       

02917T104 3/31/2014 Sale 247              14.020$       

02917T104 4/7/2014 Sale 343              13.790$       

02917T104 4/30/2014 Purchase 295              13.082$       

02917T104 5/21/2014 Purchase 1,900           12.260$       

02917T104 5/28/2014 Sale 3,047           12.410$       

02917T104 5/30/2014 Purchase 40                12.410$       

02917T104 5/30/2014 Purchase 154              12.410$       

02917T104 5/30/2014 Purchase 3,336           12.400$       

02917T104 5/30/2014 Purchase 12,533         12.400$       

02917T104 6/3/2014 Purchase 25,500         12.726$       

02917T104 6/20/2014 Sale 2,700           12.590$       

02917T104 6/27/2014 Purchase 86,700         12.498$       

02917T104 6/27/2014 Purchase 241,632       12.500$       

02917T104 6/27/2014 Sale 12,290         12.500$       

02917T104 6/27/2014 Sale 9,176           12.500$       

02917T104 6/27/2014 Sale 33,328         12.500$       

02917T104 6/27/2014 Sale 44,639         12.500$       

02917T104 7/31/2014 Purchase 1,304           13.108$       
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The New York City Police Pension Fund

Schedule of Transactions

CUSIP Trade Date Transaction Type Units Unit Price

03879QAE4 4/3/2014 Purchase 260,000  1.0023     

03879QAE4 4/7/2014 Purchase 680,000  1.0072     

03879QAE4 10/16/2014 Sale 940,000  1.0058     

03879QAF1 10/16/2014 Purchase 940,000 1.0058   

Fixed Income
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The New York City Fire Department Pension Fund

Schedule of Transactions

CUSIP Trade Date Transaction Type  Shares Share Price

02917T104 6/20/2013 Purchase 4,400      14.210$      

02917T104 6/21/2013 Purchase 6,700      14.200$      

02917T104 6/24/2013 Purchase 6,623      14.250$      

02917T104 6/24/2013 Purchase 8,321      14.270$      

02917T104 6/28/2013 Purchase 737         15.260$      

02917T104 6/28/2013 Purchase 8,300      15.250$      

02917T104 6/28/2013 Purchase 10,826    15.250$      

02917T104 7/5/2013 Purchase 1,664      14.200$      

02917T104 7/5/2013 Purchase 4,992      14.220$      

02917T104 7/10/2013 Purchase 2,514      14.470$      

02917T104 7/10/2013 Purchase 3,286      14.450$      

02917T104 7/24/2013 Purchase 389         14.510$      

02917T104 7/24/2013 Purchase 760         14.550$      

02917T104 7/24/2013 Purchase 1,851      14.520$      

02917T104 7/26/2013 Purchase 2,500      14.670$      

02917T104 7/26/2013 Purchase 2,800      14.650$      

02917T104 7/30/2013 Purchase 500         14.860$      

02917T104 7/31/2013 Purchase 1,025      14.610$      

02917T104 7/31/2013 Purchase 2,275      14.630$      

02917T104 8/1/2013 Purchase 535         14.170$      

02917T104 8/1/2013 Purchase 1,265      14.200$      

02917T104 10/16/2013 Sale 458         12.710$      

02917T104 10/16/2013 Sale 133         12.710$      

02917T104 11/26/2013 Sale 250         13.280$      

02917T104 12/10/2013 Sale 149         12.770$      

02917T104 12/10/2013 Sale 575         12.770$      

02917T104 12/20/2013 Sale 42           12.610$      

02917T104 1/7/2014 Sale 437         12.876$      

02917T104 1/7/2014 Sale 873         12.870$      

02917T104 1/7/2014 Sale 1,675      12.860$      

02917T104 1/7/2014 Sale 3,215      12.864$      

02917T104 1/8/2014 Sale 469         12.699$      

02917T104 1/8/2014 Sale 1,280      12.707$      

02917T104 1/8/2014 Sale 1,739      12.712$      

02917T104 1/8/2014 Sale 7,512      12.690$      

02917T104 1/9/2014 Sale 5,800      12.646$      

02917T104 1/10/2014 Sale 218         12.715$      

02917T104 1/10/2014 Sale 1,094      12.720$      

02917T104 1/10/2014 Sale 1,588      12.819$      

02917T104 1/10/2014 Sale 2,127      12.985$      

02917T104 1/10/2014 Sale 4,364      12.971$      

02917T104 1/10/2014 Sale 4,412      12.798$      

02917T104 1/10/2014 Sale 4,688      12.711$      

Equity
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The New York City Fire Department Pension Fund

Schedule of Transactions

CUSIP Trade Date Transaction Type  Shares Share Price

02917T104 1/10/2014 Sale 10,909    12.970$      

02917T104 1/28/2014 Sale 30           14.170$      

02917T104 1/31/2014 Purchase 27           13.832$      

02917T104 1/31/2014 Purchase 98           13.840$      

02917T104 2/28/2014 Purchase 1,557      14.686$      

02917T104 2/28/2014 Purchase 7,934      14.686$      

02917T104 2/28/2014 Purchase 14,200    14.687$      

02917T104 3/26/2014 Sale 2,045      13.915$      

02917T104 3/31/2014 Sale 121         14.020$      

02917T104 3/31/2014 Sale 32           14.020$      

02917T104 4/7/2014 Sale 60           13.790$      

02917T104 4/30/2014 Purchase 31           13.082$      

02917T104 5/28/2014 Sale 533         12.410$      

02917T104 5/30/2014 Purchase 5             12.410$      

02917T104 5/30/2014 Purchase 27           12.410$      

02917T104 5/30/2014 Purchase 404         12.400$      

02917T104 5/30/2014 Purchase 2,193      12.400$      

02917T104 5/30/2014 Purchase 7,000      12.407$      

02917T104 6/27/2014 Purchase 70,055    12.500$      

02917T104 6/27/2014 Purchase 15,400    12.498$      

02917T104 6/27/2014 Sale 1,488      12.500$      

02917T104 6/27/2014 Sale 1,111      12.500$      

02917T104 6/27/2014 Sale 5,831      12.500$      

02917T104 6/27/2014 Sale 7,811      12.500$      

02917T104 7/31/2014 Purchase 378         13.108$      

02917T104 10/22/2014 Sale 4,900      12.070$      

CUSIP Trade Date Transaction Type Units Unit Price

03879QAE4 4/3/2014 Purchase 60,000    1.0023        

03879QAE4 4/7/2014 Purchase 160,000  1.0072        

03879QAE4 10/16/2014 Sale 220,000  1.0058        

03879QAF1 10/16/2014 Purchase 220,000  1.0058        

Fixed Income
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The New York City Fire Officers' Variable Supplements Fund

Schedule of Transactions

CUSIP Trade Date Transaction Type Shares Share Price

02917T104 6/28/2013 Purchase 83       15.260$      

02917T104 6/28/2013 Purchase 1,219  15.250$      

02917T104 10/16/2013 Sale 15       12.710$      

02917T104 10/16/2013 Sale 51       12.710$      

02917T104 11/26/2013 Sale 47       13.280$      

02917T104 12/10/2013 Sale 29       12.770$      

02917T104 12/10/2013 Sale 108     12.770$      

02917T104 12/20/2013 Sale 8         12.610$      

02917T104 1/28/2014 Sale 8         14.170$      

02917T104 1/31/2014 Purchase 27       13.840$      

02917T104 1/31/2014 Purchase 7         13.832$      

02917T104 2/28/2014 Purchase 239     14.686$      

02917T104 2/28/2014 Purchase 1,063  14.686$      

02917T104 3/26/2014 Sale 274     13.915$      

02917T104 3/31/2014 Sale 19       14.020$      

02917T104 3/31/2014 Sale 4         14.020$      

02917T104 4/7/2014 Sale 8         13.790$      

02917T104 4/30/2014 Purchase 7         13.082$      

02917T104 5/28/2014 Sale 71       12.410$      

02917T104 5/30/2014 Purchase 62       12.400$      

02917T104 5/30/2014 Purchase 1         12.410$      

02917T104 5/30/2014 Purchase 294     12.400$      

02917T104 5/30/2014 Purchase 3         12.410$      

02917T104 6/27/2014 Sale 171     12.500$      

02917T104 6/27/2014 Sale 228     12.500$      

02917T104 6/27/2014 Sale 1,047  12.500$      

02917T104 6/27/2014 Sale 782     12.500$      

02917T104 6/27/2014 Purchase 7,005  12.500$      

02917T104 7/31/2014 Purchase 38       13.108$      

Equity
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The New York City Fire Fighters' Variable Supplements Fund

Schedule of Transactions

CUSIP Trade Date Transaction Type Shares Share Price

02917T104 6/28/2013 Purchase 123     15.260$      

02917T104 6/28/2013 Purchase 1,812  15.250$      

02917T104 10/16/2013 Sale 76       12.710$      

02917T104 10/16/2013 Sale 22       12.710$      

02917T104 11/26/2013 Sale 71       13.280$      

02917T104 12/10/2013 Sale 43       12.770$      

02917T104 12/10/2013 Sale 162     12.770$      

02917T104 12/20/2013 Sale 12       12.610$      

02917T104 1/28/2014 Sale 11       14.170$      

02917T104 1/31/2014 Purchase 10       13.832$      

02917T104 1/31/2014 Purchase 35       13.840$      

02917T104 2/28/2014 Purchase 594     14.686$      

02917T104 2/28/2014 Purchase 2,833  14.686$      

02917T104 3/26/2014 Sale 730     13.915$      

02917T104 3/31/2014 Sale 46       14.020$      

02917T104 3/31/2014 Sale 12       14.020$      

02917T104 4/7/2014 Sale 21       13.790$      

02917T104 4/30/2014 Purchase 18       13.082$      

02917T104 5/28/2014 Sale 190     12.410$      

02917T104 5/30/2014 Purchase 2         12.410$      

02917T104 5/30/2014 Purchase 10       12.410$      

02917T104 5/30/2014 Purchase 154     12.400$      

02917T104 5/30/2014 Purchase 783     12.400$      

02917T104 6/27/2014 Purchase 9,208  12.500$      

02917T104 6/27/2014 Sale 568     12.500$      

02917T104 6/27/2014 Sale 424     12.500$      

02917T104 6/27/2014 Sale 2,083  12.500$      

02917T104 6/27/2014 Sale 2,789  12.500$      

02917T104 7/31/2014 Purchase 50       13.108$      

Equity
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The Board of Education Retirement System of the City of New York

Schedule of Transactions

CUSIP Trade Date Transaction Type Shares Share Price

02917T104 5/7/2013 Purchase 2,727    17.040$      

02917T104 6/4/2013 Sale 2,727    15.950$      

02917T104 6/28/2013 Purchase 612       15.260$      

02917T104 6/28/2013 Purchase 8,982    15.250$      

02917T104 10/16/2013 Sale 375       12.710$      

02917T104 10/16/2013 Sale 108       12.710$      

02917T104 11/26/2013 Sale 346       13.280$      

02917T104 12/10/2013 Sale 212       12.770$      

02917T104 12/10/2013 Sale 796       12.770$      

02917T104 12/20/2013 Sale 59         12.610$      

02917T104 1/28/2014 Sale 63         14.170$      

02917T104 1/31/2014 Purchase 55         13.832$      

02917T104 1/31/2014 Purchase 202       13.840$      

02917T104 2/28/2014 Purchase 3,409    14.686$      

02917T104 2/28/2014 Purchase 16,386  14.686$      

02917T104 3/26/2014 Sale 4,224    13.915$      

02917T104 3/31/2014 Sale 264       14.020$      

02917T104 3/31/2014 Sale 66         14.020$      

02917T104 4/7/2014 Sale 124       13.790$      

02917T104 4/30/2014 Purchase 106       13.082$      

02917T104 5/28/2014 Sale 1,101    12.410$      

02917T104 5/30/2014 Purchase 11         12.410$      

02917T104 5/30/2014 Purchase 56         12.410$      

02917T104 5/30/2014 Purchase 884       12.400$      

02917T104 5/30/2014 Purchase 4,529    12.400$      

02917T104 6/27/2014 Purchase 57,191  12.500$      

02917T104 6/27/2014 Sale 3,258    12.500$      

02917T104 6/27/2014 Sale 2,432    12.500$      

02917T104 6/27/2014 Sale 12,044  12.500$      

02917T104 6/27/2014 Sale 16,132  12.500$      

02917T104 7/31/2014 Purchase 309       13.108$      

Equity
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The New York City Police Officers' Variable Supplements Fund

Schedule of Transactions

CUSIP Trade Date Transaction Type Shares Share Price

02917T104 6/28/2013 Purchase 183         15.260$      

02917T104 6/28/2013 Purchase 2,694      15.250$      

02917T104 8/30/2013 Purchase 39           13.410$      

02917T104 10/16/2013 Sale 113         12.710$      

02917T104 10/16/2013 Sale 33           12.710$      

02917T104 11/26/2013 Sale 105         13.280$      

02917T104 12/10/2013 Sale 64           12.770$      

02917T104 12/10/2013 Sale 240         12.770$      

02917T104 12/20/2013 Sale 18           12.610$      

02917T104 1/28/2014 Sale 13           14.170$      

02917T104 1/31/2014 Purchase 11           13.832$      

02917T104 1/31/2014 Purchase 40           13.840$      

02917T104 2/28/2014 Purchase 629         14.686$      

02917T104 2/28/2014 Purchase 3,270      14.686$      

02917T104 3/26/2014 Sale 843         13.915$      

02917T104 3/31/2014 Sale 49           14.020$      

02917T104 3/31/2014 Sale 13           14.020$      

02917T104 4/7/2014 Sale 25           13.790$      

02917T104 4/30/2014 Purchase 21           13.082$      

02917T104 5/28/2014 Sale 220         12.410$      

02917T104 5/30/2014 Purchase 2             12.410$      

02917T104 5/30/2014 Purchase 11           12.410$      

02917T104 5/30/2014 Purchase 163         12.400$      

02917T104 5/30/2014 Purchase 904         12.400$      

02917T104 6/27/2014 Purchase 10,804    12.500$      

02917T104 6/27/2014 Sale 602         12.500$      

02917T104 6/27/2014 Sale 449         12.500$      

02917T104 6/27/2014 Sale 2,404      12.500$      

02917T104 6/27/2014 Sale 3,219      12.500$      

02917T104 7/31/2014 Purchase 58           13.108$      

Equity
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The Teachers’ Retirement System of the City of New York Variable A

Schedule of Transactions

CUSIP Trade Date Transaction Type Shares Share Price

02917T104 6/28/2013 Purchase 39,239    15.255$      

02917T104 2/28/2014 Purchase 62,147    14.686$      

02917T104 3/31/2014 Purchase 19,184    14.016$      

02917T104 5/30/2014 Purchase 22,439    12.406$      

02917T104 6/27/2014 Purchase 26,584    12.497$      

02917T104 6/27/2014 Purchase 57,700    12.500$      

02917T104 8/14/2014 Sale 2,900      13.020$      

02917T104 9/15/2014 Sale 1,200      12.430$      

02917T104 10/21/2014 Sale 2,200      12.080$      

Equity
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